
Page 1 of 3 

 

City Council Meeting and Workshop         

January 21, 2014 

Agenda 
                                    
 
 
                                                                             
 

5:30 P.M.  Workshop  

A. Comprehensive Plan amendment to prioritize the Downtown Passenger Rail – Eric Cousens (15 

minutes)  

B. Transfer of land (143 Hampshire Street and 61 Webster Street) – Reine Mynahan (10 minutes) 

C. Solid Waste and Recycling Committee Recommendations – Denis D’Auteuil (45 minutes) 

D. Proposal to repeal an Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 2 Section 2-514) – Clint Deschene 

(5 minutes). 

 

7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting 

 

Pledge of Allegiance   

I. Consent Items – All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered as routine and will be approved in one motion.   

There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Councilor or citizen so requests.  If requested, the item 

will be removed from the consent agenda and considered in the order it appears on the agenda.   

 

II.    Minutes   

 January 13, 2014 Regular Council Meeting (meeting was postponed from January 6, 2014) 

 

III.   Reports  

Mayor’s Report  

             City Councilors’ Reports   

 City Manager Report 

 Revenue Sharing Impacts Memo 

 2014 State Revenue Sharing (2013 Resolve attached as a reference) 

 

            Finance Director, Jill Eastman  

 December 2013 Monthly Finance Report 

 

IV.    Communications, Presentations and Recognitions   

 Stormwater – Dan Goyette 

 

V.     Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                              City business which is not on this agenda.  Time limit for open sessions, by ordinance, is 45 minutes.    

                                        

VI.    Unfinished Business - None 

 

VII.    New Business  

 

1. Order 04-01212014   

 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 January 21, 2014 

 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 Approving a new Liquor License (Food Service Class I - Spirituous, Vinous, Malt) 

application for Xinglong Corporation, DBA: Lotus Restaurant located at 279 Center 

Street. 

 

2. Order 05-01212014   

Authorizing  the Finance Director to extend the contract for Audit Services for 3 years, 

(FY14, FY15 and FY16) with Runyon Kersteen Ouellette, the City’s current auditor. 
 

3. Order 06-01212014   

Setting the date for a Special Municipal Election to elect three members of a Joint 

Charter Commission for the proposed consolidation of the Cities of Auburn and 

Lewiston to be held on Tuesday, June 10, 2014. 

 

4. Order 07-01212014   

Approving the establishment of a Charter Commission for the purpose of revising the 

City of Auburn Charter. 

 

5. Order 08-01212014   

Submitting the question, for the establishment of a Charter Commission to revise the 

City of Auburn Charter, to the voters at a Special Election to be held on June 10, 2014. 

 

6. Order 09-01212014   

Setting the date for a Special Muncipal Election to elect the members of the City of 

Auburn Charter Commission for June 10, 2014. 

 

7. Order 10-01212014   
Authorizing the City Manager to execute the collective bargaining agreement with I.A.F.F. 

(International Association of Firefighters) Local 797. 

 

VIII. Executive Session - None 

  

IX.      Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                               City business which is not on this agenda. 

 

X. Adjournment 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive session 

are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 January 21, 2014 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to 

real property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature 

disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that 

body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 

30-A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when 

the consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject:  Amending language in 2010 Comprehensive Plan to ensure that any plans for locating passenger rail 

service in Auburn prioritize Downtown Auburn over any previous locations.  

 

Information:   The 2010 Comprehensive Plan continued a long standing policy on recommending passenger rail 

service be directed to the Lewiston-Auburn Airport.  At the time, it was felt that location would be the optimum 

place to coordinate the inter-modal qualities of the airport (Passenger Air and Cargo, Passenger Rail and Freight 

and Interstate Trucking).  Since the 2010 Comprehensive Plan was completed, there is now  interest in making 

passenger rail part of a new Downtown revitalization effort.  A draft amendment to the 2010 Comprehensive 

Plan has been prepared with all references to the location of passenger rail changed to Downtown.  

 

 

Financial: None at this time.  The Council may consider funding a feasibility study in the future to evaluate the 

merits and cost/benefits of establishing passenger rail in Downtown Auburn. 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting:  Confirm that the Staff has captured the City Council's intent and then send 

the amendment to the Planning Board for their consideration and recommendation at a public hearing.  The 

Planning Board's recommendation would then go back to the City Council for a public hearing and final votel 

on the amendments to the 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 

Previous Meetings and History:  The Auburn City Council, at its May 20, 2013 meeting, resolved to "direct the 

staff to align work planning and policies of the city and partnering agencies (including LATC, AVCOG, and 

ATRC) to ensure that any plans for passenger rail involve locating in Auburn's downtown as a priority over any 

previous or alternative plan." (Resolve 03-05202013) 

 

 

Attachments:  The following attachments are enclosed with this Workshop Information Sheet. 

1.   Cover Memo from City Planner Doug Greene. 

2.   Resolve # 03-05202014 

3.   2010 Comprehensive Plan revised language related to recommending passenger rail be directed to 

downtown Auburn   

4.   Portland Press Herald article on Passeger Rail in Brunswick (Nov. 14, 2013) 

Council Workshop Date:  January 21, 2014 Item  A 

Author:   Douglas M. Greene, AICP, City Planner 













































City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Sale of 61 Webster Street, 325 Turner Streeet, and Sale of a Portion of 143 Hampshire Street 

 

Information:   Through the Community Development Block Grant Program 5 buildings were demolished in 

2013.  There has been interest from owners of abutting properties to purchase a portion of 143 Hampshire 

Street,  and the entire  lots at 61 Webster Street and 325 Turner Street.   

 

Marc D'Agostino of 65 Webster Street is interested in purchasing the entire 61 Webster Street lot, 40' x 100'.   

This is a buildable lot for a single family dwelling; however, Mr. D'Agostino has indicated he wishes to own the 

land as open space to be used by the building occupants. 

 

Nuria Koss owns a rental property adjacent to 325 Turner Street and  is also interested in purchasing the entire 

lot, 50' x 100'.   This is also a buildable lot for a single family dwelling, but Ms. Koss intends to own the land as 

open space to be used by tenants of her building.   

 

The offer from Donald Tardiff of 86 Webster Street is for a lot that is approximately 50' x 90' x 70' x 65', a 

portion of 143 Hampshire Street.  Mr. Tardiff intends to utilize the extra land for gardening and open space. 

 

 

Financial:   The offers are  $7,500 for 61 Webster Street, $5,000 for 325 Turner Street, and $2,000 for 143 

Hampshire Street.. 

 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Consideration for sale 
 

 

Previous Meetings and History: none 

 

 

Attachments:  

                  Offers by Marc D'Agostino, Nuria Koss, and  Donald Tardif 

                  Maps of land area to be sold, 143 Hampshire Street highlighted in green. 

Council Workshop Date:  January 21, 2014 Item  B 

Author:   Reine Mynahan, Community Development Director 















City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Solid Waste and Recycling Committee Recommendation 

 

Information: In November the Solid Waste and Recycling Committee began reviewing various options for an 

improved Solid Waste and Recycling program.  Staff and Committee members will update the City Council on 

the process that the committee undertook to review multiple options and provide the Committees 

recommendation. 

 

 

Financial:       

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: none 
 

 

Previous Meetings and History:       

 

 

 

Attachments:   Solid Waste and Recycling Committees Recommnendation, and supporting data that was used to 

analyse the options. 

Council Workshop Date:  January 21, 2014 Item  C 

Author:   Denis D'Auteuil, Public Services Director 



Recycle Waste Collection Costs

116,841.00$                           430,291.00$                  547,132.00$        

119,762.03$                           441,048.28$                  560,810.30$        

122,756.08$                           452,074.48$                  574,830.558$      

125,824.98$                           463,376.34$                  589,201.321$      

128,970.60$                           474,960.75$                  603,931.354$      

132,194.87$                           486,834.77$                  619,029.638$      

135,499.74$                           499,005.64$                  634,505.379$      

138,887.23$                           511,480.78$                  650,368.014$      

142,359.41$                           524,267.80$                  666,627.214$      

145,918.40$                           537,374.50$                  683,292.894$      

Recycle Waste Collection Costs

226,681.00$                           430,291.00$                  656,972.00$        

232,348.03$                           441,048.28$                  673,396.30$        

238,156.73$                           452,074.48$                  690,231.208$      

244,110.64$                           463,376.34$                  707,486.988$      

250,213.41$                           474,960.75$                  725,174.162$      

256,468.75$                           486,834.77$                  743,303.516$      

262,880.46$                           499,005.64$                  761,886.104$      

269,452.48$                           511,480.78$                  780,933.257$      

276,188.79$                           524,267.80$                  800,456.588$      

283,093.51$                           537,374.50$                  820,468.003$      

Bi-Monthly Recyle and Weekly Waste

Waste & Recycling Collection Costs

Weekly Recyle and Weekly Waste

Waste & Recycling Collection Costs



Solid Waste and Recyclable Options Bi-Monthly Weekly

Total Cost Total Cost

$746,627.01

2012/2013

Recycleable Collection CostsBi-monthly Weekly

Labor (Wages & Benefits) 54,928.56$                         109,857.12$              

Equipment 40,000.00$                         80,000.00$                 

Vehicle Maintenance 7,000.00$                            7,000.00$                   

Vehicle Insurance 1,200.00$                            2,400.00$                   

Fuel 13,712.00$                         27,424.00$                 

116,840.56$                       226,681.12$              

Tons Rate/ton

Bi Monthly

Recyclable Disposal Costs/Revenue Avoidance

Curbside 584.5 $29.00 $16,950.50

Res Drop Off $29.00 $0.00

School 18 $29.00 $522.00

Municipal $29.00 $0.00

$17,472.50

Solid Waste Collection Costs Fee

Curbside 6859.28 $61.20 $419,796.00

Res Drop Off 759.84 $0.00 $0.00

School 219.71 $0.00 $0.00

Municipal 4.72 $0.00 $0.00

$419,796.00

Solid Waste Disposal Costs Cost

Curbside 6859.28 $29.00 $198,919.12

Res Drop Off 759.84 $29.00 $22,035.36

School 219.71 $29.00 $6,371.59

Municipal 4.72 $29.00 $136.88

$227,462.95



Total 

Waste & 

Recycle 

(tons) Tipping Fee's Percent Waste Est Waste tons

Waste Disposal 

Cost

Est. 

Recycling 

Rate

8446 $35.00 92% 7770.32 $271,961.20 8%

8446 $40.00 92% 7770.32 $310,812.80 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

8446 $55.00 92% 7770.32 $427,367.60 8%

Total 

Waste & 

Recycle 

(tons) Tipping Fee's Percent Waste Est Waste tons

Waste Disposal 

Cost

Est. 

Recycling 

Rate

8446 $35.00 84% 7094.64 $248,312.40 16%

8446 $40.00 84% 7094.64 $283,785.60 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

8446 $55.00 84% 7094.64 $390,205.20 16%

Waste Disposal Costs Recycling Avoidance (Savings)

Waste Disposal Costs Recycling Avoidance (Savings)





Est. 

Recycle 

tons

Tipping 

Fee's Avoidance 

Total Waste and 

Recycle collections and 

disposal costs

675.68 $35.00 $23,648.80 $795,444.40

675.68 $40.00 $27,027.20 $844,595.90

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $965,035.76

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $979,406.52

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $994,136.55

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $1,009,234.84

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $1,024,710.58

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $1,040,573.21

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $1,056,832.41

675.68 $55.00 $37,162.40 $1,073,498.09

Est. 

Recycle 

tons

Tipping 

Fee's Avoidance 

Total Waste and 

Recycle collections and 

disposal costs

1351.36 $35.00 $47,297.60 $857,986.80

1351.36 $40.00 $54,054.40 $903,127.50

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,006,111.61

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,023,367.39

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,041,054.56

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,059,183.92

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,077,766.50

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,096,813.66

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,116,336.99

1351.36 $55.00 $74,324.80 $1,136,348.40

Recycling Avoidance (Savings)

Recycling Avoidance (Savings)



To:  Auburn City Councilors  

From:  Mayor’s Committee on Solid Waste Management 

Subject:  Solid Waste and Recycling Recommendation for Upcoming Fiscal Year(s) 

Date:  January 15, 2014 

 

The members of the Mayor’s Committee on Solid Waste Management are pleased to present a 

recommendation to the City Council for the upcoming fiscal year(s) based on our analysis of the solid 

waste and recycling (SW&R) management options for Auburn.   We have been meeting weekly or semi-

weekly since October to assess the current and future management of SW&R for our city with a 

particular eye towards the most economically feasible and citizen based solution to our SW&R 

collection.  Our research has consisted of extensive information gathering from MMWAC, Auburn Public 

Works, other Maine cities’ public works, and SW&R articles.  We have also received and reviewed 2 full 

SW&R private contractor proposals (Pine Tree Waste and Waste Zero) and 1 letter of interest (Almighty 

Waste).  This report will provide you first with the recommendation, followed by the process by which 

we came to this decision. 

Recommendation 

The committee’s recommendation to the City Council is to negotiate a combined SW&R contract with 

Pine Tree Waste that will be for an automated, weekly pick-up system of curbside solid waste and single 

stream recycling.  (An automated system uses specialized trucks to mechanically pick-up a particular 

type of bin.)  The collection contract should include the current residences and ten Auburn school 

facilities.  Adding the schools to the current city SW&R collection system will eliminate current costs to 

the schools, and will only minimally increase costs to the Pine Tree Waste proposal since the school 

facilities are located on current collection routes and their tonnage is small in comparison to the 

residences as a whole.  Each residential unit will be supplied one recycling bin and one solid waste bin, 

each large enough to meet an average household’s weekly SW&R needs.  The SW&R management 

system we are recommending to you has several advantages:  (1) Other towns using this automated, 

curbside SW&R system have increased their recycling rate to 25-35% within a matter of months to a 

couple of years.  [Putting it into perspective, Auburn’s current recycling rate is only 8.5%]   (2) With the 

increase in recycling, the SW tonnage decreases leading to a reduction in disposal costs for the city.  (3)  

The automated system eliminates the need for a person to handle the recycling and solid waste bins 

reducing the chances for work-related injuries.  (4) Contracting with a private contractor for SW&R 

collection is less expensive than continuing with the current city recycling collection program coupled 

with a private SW contractor.  

The key ingredients to any successful SW&R management system are an easy, efficient system for the 

citizens and effective, continuous public education.  The committee believes the recommended SW&R 

system is user friendly by utilizing single stream recycling and providing each residential unit with 



uniform recycling and trash bins. Single stream recycling allows more types of materials to be collected 

and all of them to be thrown into one recycling bin.  There is no longer a need to sort the recycled 

materials.  In addition, supplying each residence with one solid waste bin eliminates the problems 

presently associated with leaking and torn garbage bags on the sidewalks/streets.  If an additional 

recycling or solid waste bin is requested, we recommend that: (1) the city supply the extra recycling bin 

at cost with no additional fee charged for utilizing it, and (2) the city supply the additional solid waste 

bin at cost and charge a set monthly fee to cover the extra solid waste disposal costs.  This monthly fee 

could be collected at the same time as the property tax.  This fee would incentivize recycling materials in 

lieu of throwing them away resulting in lower SW disposal costs.  As is presently the case, all citizens will 

continue to have the option of taking any trash to MMWAC for free.  The second ingredient for a 

successful SW&R management system is public education.  The committee recognizes that a very robust 

educational campaign is necessary to increase citizen understanding and participation in recycling, as 

well as any new SW&R system.  The committee members are prepared to work with the City and the 

SW&R contractor on developing educational materials and presentations for public distribution.  The 

long term success of any SW&R system will rely on City personnel maintaining an effective educational 

program throughout the years.  Engaging our schools in the new SW&R system will also have the 

advantage of the children learning about the importance of proper trash and recycling separation and 

bringing that message home to their families.  

Process and Analysis 

 In determining the best SW&R management practice for Auburn, we developed 4 different scenarios for 

an economic analysis.  All of the scenarios assume single stream, curbside collection of recyclables and a 

2.5% annual increase in cost. (The 2.5% increase was the percentage proposed by Pine Tree Waste and 

is used for illustrative purposes.) 

Scenario 1: BAU bi-weekly [Business As Usual with bi-weekly recycling collection] 

For this SW&R option, the city retains the curbside bi-weekly recycling collection while a private 

contractor collects the solid waste.  The Public Works Director Denis D’Auteuil, a member of our 

committee, indicated that for this option to be operationally feasible there would have to be investment 

in at least one new recycling truck and potentially additional labor costs.  The recycling rate is assumed 

to remain at the current level of 8.5%. 

Scenario 2:  BAU weekly [Business As Usual with weekly recycling collection] 

This SW&R option is identical to the BAU bi-weekly scenario except for increasing the frequency of 

recycling collection to weekly. This increase in frequency would necessitate the purchase of an 

additional recycling truck and hiring more personnel over and beyond that required for a bi-weekly 

collection.  The recycling rate is assumed to double to 16%. 

Scenario 3 Stop Gap [2-year recycling contract then combined automated SW&R collection] 



This Stop Gap scenario was developed to address the need for a separate recycling contract over the 

next 2 years while the current solid waste contract with Pine Tree Waste is operational.  Costing for this 

SW&R option assumes a private contract for weekly recycling collection of $225,000/year, comparable 

to Lewiston, and an increase in the recycling rate to 16%. The 2-year private recycling contract would be 

for weekly curbside collection with bins and handling comparable to our current program.  After the 

second year, a combined SW&R automated collection contract would be negotiated (competitively bid) 

for the remaining 8 years.  We assumed a 10% reduction in costs below the currently proposed 10-year 

plan from Pine Tree Waste for these 8 years. This assumption is based upon the ability to openly bid the 

waste collection combined with the recycling collection once the current waste collection contract has 

expired.   In this scenario, the recycling rate after year 2 would increase to 25% with the combined 

automated SW&R collection and then increase 5% each subsequent year until a recycling rate of 35% is 

attained.  

Scenario 4: SW&R auto [10 year combined SW&R collection] 

This SW&R auto option reflects the current proposal from Pine Tree Waste for a 10-year combined 

SW&R automated collection program.  Pine Tree’s costs include purchasing 3 new automated, dual 

compartment, trash and recycling trucks, providing 2 uniquely tagged bins to each residence, automated 

weekly collection, and tonnage data by residence. The recycling rate over 10 years is identical to 

Scenario 3. 

Additional SW&R collection options were discussed, in particular Pay As You Throw (PAYT) and Drop Off 

Recycling in Dumpsters.  Pay As You Throw is a term used to describe a system that charges for the bags 

used to dispose of waste.  Towns that utilize PAYT systems report some of the highest recycling rates.  

One contractor, Waste Zero, provided a proposal for the PAYT scenario.   After careful discussion of the 

PAYT proposal, it was eliminated from further consideration because of perceived citizen objection to 

paying a fee for their SW collection.  The Drop Off Recycling in Dumpsters scenario was also removed 

from consideration.  This approach relies on placing special dumpsters in public locations and allows 

citizens to transport their own recycling materials to the dumpster.  The municipal cost is only periodic 

collection of material at the dumpster.  This option was eliminated after we determined that towns who 

had tried this alternative had experienced multiple problems including dumping, vandalism, and 

unsanitary conditions.  In addition, the recycling rate for this option was very low.  

Improving Auburn’s 8.5% recycling rate will serve to reduce the budgetary impact that will result from 

the increased MMWAC tipping fees for SW in the coming years.     Although MMWAC was not able to 

provide us a specific tipping fee/ton for the next fiscal year, the MMWAC Director and Councilor LeRoy 

Walker indicated that an increase from $29/ton will occur, and our committee believes the tipping fee 

will likely reach the market rate within 3 years to $55/ton.   Therefore to lessen this SW disposal cost 

increase, Auburn should strive to reduce its SW tonnage through recycling and consumer education.  

The cost saving achieved through recycling is actually cost avoidance.  As citizens recycle more materials, 

with a disposal recycling fee of $0 per ton, there is a corresponding reduction in SW tonnage and 

avoidance of its associated disposal costs.   As is common in other Maine cities, a recycling rate of 25% 



to 45% is attainable within a short period of time with an improved recycling management system and 

continuous public education. 

We developed an Excel workbook with spreadsheets analyzing current and future costs over 10 years for 

each of the 4 scenarios.    A ten year time frame was chosen for this analysis because: (1) we felt that 

taking a long range view of our SW&R management costs was prudent because of the increase in SW 

tipping fees at MMWAC and (2) Pine Tree Waste’s proposal was for 10 years.  The assumptions we made 

in our cost analysis were based on: 

 Experience from other cities in terms of recycling rates for various collection options 

  The Pine Tree Waste proposal for annual cost increases (2.5%) 

  Information received from MMWAC regarding disposal tipping fees 

  Auburn Public Works 

The results of the economic analysis of the 4 SW&R scenarios are presented in the following graph and 

table.   

.  

 

BAU bi-weekly $9,783,468 

BAU weekly $10,318,097 

Stop Gap $7,991,144 

SW&R auto $8,787,921 

 

$0 

$2,000,000 

$4,000,000 

$6,000,000 

$8,000,000 

$10,000,000 

$12,000,000 

BAU bi-weekly BAU weekly Stop Gap SW&R auto 

Projected Total Cost for SW&R Over 10 Years 

Total Cost 



As is evident, continuing with the current Business As Usual SW&R management system is the most 

expensive option and has been very difficult for the Public Works Department to maintain.  The current 

recycling system has lost favor with the citizens of Auburn as is demonstrated by the very low recycling 

rate and high SW tonnage per person. This combination of factors leads to increasing SW&R expenses 

for taxpayers.   

The benefit of moving to an automated, combined SW&R collection system can be seen in the 2 lowest 

cost scenarios.  The reduction in expenses is directly tied to increased cost avoidance through higher 

recycling rates and reduced SW tonnage, as is evident in the following table. 

 

Scenario Collection Disposal Avoidance 

BAU bi-weekly $6,129,729 $4,001,715 -$347,975 

BAU weekly $7,360,308 $3,653,740 -$695,950 

Stop Gap $6,306,167 $3,017,334 -$1,332,357 

SW&R auto $7,102,944 $3,017,334 -$1,332,357 

 

The committee has recommended the SW&R auto scenario over the Stop Gap scenario for several 

reasons.  The cost difference between the Stop Gap and the SW&R auto scenario, $ 796,777, is based on 

an assumption that a 10% reduction in costs from the current proposal from Pine Tree Waste can be 

attained for years 3-10 in the Stop Gap scenario.  Whether this assumption is valid will not be tested for 

another 2 years.  Rather than select the Stop Gap scenario based on this assumption, the committee 

recommends that the City negotiate with Pine Tree Waste to reduce its current proposal (SW&R auto) to 

meet or exceed the Stop Gap scenario.  If successful this path would lead to reduced recycling collection 

costs over the next 2 years compared to the Stop Gap scenario and expedite the city’s move to a 

combined automatic SW&R system with all its advantages.   Additionally by converting the city’s 

collections over to a two bin system, Auburn will be better positioned towards the future direction of 

the solid waste collection industry.   Indications lead the committee to believe that this industry is 

gearing itself towards a wet waste, dry waste collection process and the two bin automated system 

better prepares Auburn for tha transition. 

Under the automated SW&R collection system proposal, the committee expects that the council might 

hear concerns that a single trash container is not adequate for certain homeowners.  These concerns 

can be addressed in a few ways: 

1. Citizens could be directed to MMWAC where they may drop any excess waste into a dumpster 

at no charge. 

2. The City could provide a second waste bin for such residents at no charge. 

3. The City could provide a second waste bin for such residents at cost. 

4. The City could provide a second waste bin for such residents at cost, and also add a monthly 

cost to reflect the increased disposal costs associated with the extra solid waste. 



5. The City could encourage greater recycling by offering to provide a second recycling bin for free 

to encourage these residents to reduce their waste through greater recycling.  

After careful discussion of these options, the committee members agreed to recommend option 4 with 

the understanding that citizens will still be able to take any excess waste to MMWAC for no additional 

charge.  We recommended this option because it reduces costs to the city and places the onus on the 

residents for controlling their amount of solid waste for curbside pickup. 

Clearly any of these scenarios increases the annual cost for the city’s SW&R budget.  There is no way to 

retain the current SW&R system at the present cost in the coming year(s) because of the absence of any 

working recycling trucks and the increase in tipping fees at MMWAC.  A cost increase for SW&R is 

therefore inevitable for Auburn unless the city decides to eliminate all recycling (with its cost avoidance 

savings) and charge for solid waste disposal fees (based on increased MMWAC tipping fees).   If this 

were the decision by the City Council, then this committee would recommend reconsidering the Pay As 

You Throw (PAYT) proposal from Waste Zero.   The PAYT approach would charge each consumer a cost 

that is in line with the amount of waste they produce.  PAYT has resulted in the reduction of disposal 

fees of up to 50%.  However, PAYT is commonly coupled with a recycling collection system as a way for 

the citizens to reduce their SW costs.  Regardless of the SW&R management system selected, other than 

PAYT, we recommend that the council consider allocating some of the money that will become available 

when the MMWAC bond payments end in the fall of 2014 to this budget item. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Proposal to repeal an Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 2 Section 2-514) 

 

Information:  We are proposing to repeal the section of  Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 2 (under Capital 

Improvement Program) as it conflicts with Section 8.10 (Action on Capital Program) in our City Charter. Please 

see attached.   

 

The simple summary is that the Ordinance requires notice between 7 and 15 days of the public hearing.  The 

charter requires not less than two weeks.  In order to comply with both the notice of hearing must be 14 to 15 

days.  The easiest solution to make this workable is to repeal the ordinance. 

  
  
Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Discussion  

 

Previous Meetings and History: N/A 

 

Attachments:  

Capital Program - Charter Sec. 8.10 

Capital Program Ordinance Sec 2-514 

Council Workshop Date:  January 21, 2014 Item  D 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



Sec. 8.9. Capital program. 

A. Submission. The city manager and superintendent of schools shall jointly prepare and submit to a 
joint meeting of the city council and school committee a multi-year capital program no later than one 
month before the final date for submission of the budget.  

B. Contents. The capital program shall include:  

1. A clear general summary of its contents; 

2. Identification of the long-term goals of the community; 

3. A list of all capital improvements and other capital expenditures which are proposed to be 
undertaken during the fiscal years next ensuing, with appropriate supporting information as to 
the necessity for each;  

4. Cost estimates and recommended time schedules for each improvement or other capital 
expenditures;  

5. Method of financing upon which each capital expenditure is to be reliant; 

6. The estimated annual cost of operating and maintaining the facilities to be constructed or 
acquired;  

7. A commentary on how the plan addresses the sustainability of the community and the region of 
which it is a part; and  

8. Methods to measure outcomes and performance of the capital plan related to the long-term 
goals of the community.  

The above shall be revised and extended each year with regard to capital improvements still pending or 
in process of construction or acquisition.  

Sec. 8.10. Action on capital program. 

A. Notice and hearing. The city council and school committee shall publish the general summary of the 
capital program and a notice stating:  

1. The times and places where copies of the capital program are available for inspection by the 
public; and  

2. The time and place, not less than two weeks after such publication, for joint public hearing(s) on 
the capital program.  

B. Adoption. The city council by resolution shall adopt the capital program with or without amendment 
after the public hearing and on or before the last day of the last month of the current fiscal year.  

 



Sec. 2-514. Public notice and hearing. 

The council shall publish its capital improvements program on its website and make it available for 
inspection in the office of the city clerk. Notice of public hearing on the capital improvements program 
shall be given not less than seven nor more than 15 calendar days prior to the date of hearing.  

 









City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Finance Department 

60 Court Street  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

 

 

 
To: Clinton Deschene, City Manager 
From: Jill M. Eastman, Finance Director 
Date: January 14, 2014 
 
RE:  Proposed Reduction in State Revenue Sharing 
 
 
Clint, 
 
I have reviewed the proposed reduction in State Revenue Sharing and here are my conclusions. 
 
If the City of Auburn losses the proposed $1,139,927 in Revenue Sharing and everything else remained the same 
this would be a $0.57 (2.8%) increase in the property tax rate from $20.43 to $21.00. The only way to avoid the 
tax increase would be to either find other revenue sources to help make up the loss or to make cuts to 
expenditures. Below are examples of the type of cuts that would be necessary to maintain the tax rate at the 
FY14 level. 
 
Cut 23 of the 61 firefighters 
Cut the entire Parks and Recreation and Planning budgets 
Cut 27 of 48 sworn police officers  
Cut all equipment operators (no summer or winter road maintenance) 
Cut all Library funding and Legal 
Cut 5% of all operating department budgets 
 
If you need more information, please let me know. 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

RESOLVE 03-05132013 

  
Expressing the Opposition of the City Council of the City of Auburn to Proposals to Shift the Burden off 

Funding State Government to the Property Tax and Property Tax Payer. 

 

WHEREAS, the State Administration has submitted a proposed budget for the coming biennium that will shift 

the funding state government to the property tax by eliminating or significantly modifying longstanding revenue 

sharing and property tax relief programs; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposal to suspend municipal revenue sharing would result in a $2.4 million revenue loss to 

the City of Auburn and, representing 6.4% of the City’s general fund operating budget and $1.19 on the 

property tax rate; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposal to redirect the excise tax on tractor trailers, despite the presence of Maine’s largest 

dry goods port within our City limits, is estimated to reduce City revenue available for road construction by an 

additional $300,000 or $0.14 cents on the tax rate; and  

 

WHEREAS, eliminating the homestead exemption in FY 15 for those under 65 will increase taxes for no 

longer qualifying residents by $196 on the net median home value in that year if the City’s tax rate remains 

unchanged, representing a tax increase of over 6.67% for most of those losing the exemption; and  

 

WHEREAS, low and moderate income residents under the age of 65 who now qualify for the state property tax 

circuit breaker program will no longer qualify for it in the coming budget year; and  

 

WHEREAS, starting in the second year of the biennium, the business equipment tax reimbursement program 

(BETR), under which businesses are fully reimbursed for property taxes paid on certain business equipment, 

will be eliminated with most qualifying property transferred to the business equipment tax exemption program 

(BETE). Under this program, the City will be reimbursed by the State for 60% of the taxes due; and  

 

WHEREAS, the elimination of the business equipment tax reimbursement (BETR) and the modification to the 

business equipment tax exemption (BETE) will have a significant impact on the City’s commercial taxpayers, 

many of whom make-up the economic engine for the State of Maine, providing jobs and good paying salaries 

and benefits. The elimination of the BETR program will adversely impact the retail sector, a sector who will not 

qualify under the BETE program. Additionally, all businesses within the BETR program will experience an 18 

month void in State reimbursement until those businesses qualify for BETE program funds; and  

 

WHEREAS, further staffing and expenditure reductions of the magnitude to remove or mitigate these losses, 

without financial support to implement shared service or consolidation efforts, would undermine the City’s 

ability to provide local public services;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUBURN, that 

the City Council hereby expresses its strong opposition to provisions included in the recently proposed state 



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

budget that would shift the burden of funding state government to the property tax and property taxpayer. These 

proposals, even if consolidation efforts were pursued, would lead to an increase in property taxes in Auburn, 

taxes which often are unrelated to the ability of property owners to pay, or require further service reductions. 

And while consolidation efforts, even if fully implemented at the start of the new fiscal year, would not be 

sufficient to replace revenue sharing, the City Council does stand ready to discuss how state incentives could 

advance those opportunities; 

  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk is directed to provide copies of this RESOLVE to the 

members of the Legislature representing the City of Auburn, members of the Appropriations and Taxation 

Committees, the Governor, the Speaker of the House, the President of the Senate and the Legislative leadership. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Passage on 5/13/2013, 6-0-1 (Councilor Crowley  

was out of the room during the vote). 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
 
 
 
TO:    Clinton Deschene, City Manager 

FROM:   Jill Eastman, Finance Director 

REF:    December 2013 Financial Report 

DATE:  January 14, 2014 
 
The following is a discussion regarding the significant variances found in the City’s December financial 
report. Please note that although the monthly financial report contains amounts reported by the 
School Department, this discussion is limited to the City’s financial results and does not attempt to 
explain any variances for the School Department. 
 

The City has completed its sixth month of the current fiscal year. As a guideline for tracking purposes, 
revenues and expenditures should amount to approximately 50.0% of the annual budget.  However, 
not all costs and revenues are distributed evenly throughout the year; individual line items can vary 
based upon cyclical activity.    
 

Revenues 
 

Revenues collected through December 31st, including the school department were $36,054,643, or 
49.8%, of the budget. The municipal revenues including property taxes were $28,249,029, or 54.07% 
of the budget which is more than the same period last year by 0.63%. The accounts listed below are 
noteworthy. 

 

A. The current year tax revenue is at 54.41% as compared to 53.21% last year.  
 

B. Excise tax for the month of December is at 54.085%. This is an $101,817 increase from 
FY 13. Our excise revenues for FY14 are 4.08% above projections as of December 31, 
2013.  

 

C. State Revenue Sharing at the end of December is 49.11% or $810,067. The city received 
$129,338 this month compared to $165,545 FY 13, $185,368 FY12, $194,429 FY11, and 
$238,299 FY10. This is 21.9% decrease this year from last December.  
 
 

 



 2 

Expenditures 
 
City expenditures through December 2013 were $19,593,909 or 54.22%, of the budget. This is 6.18% 
less than the same period last year. Noteworthy variances are: 
 

A. The operating departments are all in line with where they should be at this time. Several line 
items are paid quarterly, semi-annually or annually thus creating the appearance of being over 
budget. I have and will continue to monitor each department’s expenditures throughout the 
fiscal year. 

B. The TIF transfer has not been made yet this year which is the major variance compared to last 
year at this time. 

 
Investments  
 
This section contains an investment schedule as of December 31st.  Currently the City’s funds are 
earning an average interest rate of .22%. 
 
 
 
         
        Respectfully submitted, 

        
          

Jill M. Eastman 
 Finance Director 



 UNAUDITED UNAUDITED AUDITED
Dec 31 Nov 30 Increase JUNE 30
2013 2013 (Decrease) 2013

ASSETS

CASH 9,886,084$           11,234,319$       (1,348,236)$          11,268,551$       
RECEIVABLES -                        
  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 758,244                852,101              (93,857)                 1,178,345           
  TAXES RECEIVABLE-CURRENT 19,098,386           19,421,462         (323,076)               89,723                
  DELINQUENT TAXES 548,004                554,453              (6,450)                   543,772              
  TAX LIENS 677,344                867,312              (189,968)               1,267,670           
  NET DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS 4,980,663             5,354,105           (373,441)               1,602,354           

 
TOTAL ASSETS 35,948,725$         38,283,752$       (2,335,028)$          15,950,415$       

 
 

LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES  
 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (140,531)$             (1,140,466)$        999,935$              (536,867)$           
PAYROLL LIABILITIES 10,830                  14,849                (4,019)                   (93,082)               
ACCRUED PAYROLL (4,655)                   (4,655)                 -                        (1,066,178)          
STATE FEES PAYABLE (56,991)                 (22,503)               (34,488)                 -                      
ESCROWED AMOUNTS (41,865)                 (41,865)               -                        (41,865)               
DEFERRED REVENUE (20,196,140)          (20,715,625)        519,485                (1,832,681)          

 
     TOTAL LIABILITIES (20,429,353)$        (21,910,266)$      1,480,913$           (3,570,673)$        

 
FUND BALANCE - UNASSIGNED (14,653,539)$        (15,507,654)$      854,114$              (8,775,150)$        
FUND BALANCE - RESTRICTED FOR  
     WORKERS COMP & UNEMPLOYMENT 1,001,137             1,001,137           -                        (2,450,020)          

FUND BALANCE - ASSIGNED (1,866,970)            (1,866,970)          -                        (1,154,572)          
 

     TOTAL FUND BALANCE (15,519,372)$        (16,373,486)$      854,114$              (12,379,742)$      
 

  
     TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (35,948,725)$        (38,283,752)$      2,335,028$           (15,950,415)$      

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
 BALANCE SHEET - CITY GENERAL FUND, WC AND UNEMPLOYMENT FUND 

AS of December 2013, November 2013,  and June 2013 (audited)



REVENUES - GENERAL FUND COMPARATIVE
THROUGH December 31, 2013 VS December 31, 2012 

ACTUAL ACTUAL
FY 2014 REVENUES % OF FY 2013 REVENUES % OF  

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU DEC 2013 BUDGET BUDGET THRU DEC 2012 BUDGET VARIANCE
TAXES
  PROPERTY TAX REVENUE- 42,844,641$           23,312,585$      54.41% 42,121,141$     22,413,318$      53.21% 899,267$          
  PRIOR YEAR REVENUE -$                        653,399$            -$                 732,367  (78,968)$          
  HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION REIMBURSEMENT 482,575$                371,573$           77.00% 514,584$          377,161$           73.29% (5,588)$            
  ALLOWANCE FOR ABATEMENT -$                        -$                    -$                 -$                        -$                 
  ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE TAXES -$                        -$                    -$                 -$                        -$                 
  EXCISE 3,068,500$             1,659,322$        54.08% 3,018,500$       1,557,505$        51.60% 101,817$          
  PENALTIES & INTEREST 140,000$                62,987$             44.99% 140,000$          76,896$             54.93% (13,909)$          

     TOTAL TAXES 46,535,716$           26,059,866$      56.00% 45,794,225$     25,157,247$      54.94% 902,619$          
  

LICENSES AND PERMITS   
  BUSINESS 47,300$                  26,109$             55.20% 39,900$            33,360$             83.61% (7,251)$            
  NON-BUSINESS 338,300$                179,792$           53.15% 260,700$          190,629$           73.12% (10,837)$          

     TOTAL LICENSES 385,600$                205,901$           53.40% 300,600$          223,989$           74.51% (18,088)$          
  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE   
  STATE-LOCAL ROAD ASSISTANCE 440,000$                473,451$           107.60% 378,000$          228,022$           60.32% 245,429$          
  STATE REVENUE SHARING 1,649,470$             810,067$           49.11% 2,400,000$       1,170,275$        48.76% (360,208)$        
  WELFARE REIMBURSEMENT 53,000$                  29,234$             55.16% 53,083$            22,555$             42.49% 6,679$              
  OTHER STATE AID 22,000$                  -$                   0.00% 21,000$            18,054$             85.97% (18,054)$          
  CITY OF LEWISTON 155,000$                -$                   0.00% 158,362$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
     TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE 2,319,470$             1,312,752$        56.60% 3,010,445$       1,438,906$        47.80% (126,154)$        

  
CHARGE FOR SERVICES   
  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 140,240$                74,900$             53.41% 130,955$          83,609$             63.85% (8,709)$            
  PUBLIC SAFETY 366,152$                144,612$           39.50% 263,102$          63,961$             24.31% 80,651$            
  EMS AGREEMENT 100,000$                50,000$             50.00% 100,000$          41,667$             41.67% 8,333$              

     TOTAL CHARGE FOR SERVICES 606,392$                269,511$           44.45% 494,057$          189,237$           38.30% 80,274$            
  

FINES   
  PARKING TICKETS & MISC FINES 40,000$                  11,356$             28.39% 45,000$            10,592$             23.54% 764$                 

   
MISCELLANEOUS    
  INVESTMENT INCOME 20,000$                  138,753$           693.76% 30,000$            13,725$             45.75% 125,028$          
  INTEREST-BOND PROCEEDS 2,000$                    -$                   0.00% 2,000$              -$                       0.00% -$                 
  RENTS 122,000$                -$                   0.00% 122,000$          121,827$           99.86% (121,827)$        
  UNCLASSIFIED 17,500$                  46,471$             265.55% 5,150$              31,022$             602.37% 15,449$            
  SALE OF RECYCLABLES 4,800$                    -$                   0.00% -$                 -$                        -$                 
  COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE FEES -$                        30,935$              -$                 31,940$              (1,005)$            
  SALE OF PROPERTY 20,000$                  60,131$             300.65% 20,000$            16,694$             83.47% 43,437$            
  RECREATION PROGRAMS/ARENA -$                        -$                    43,275$            -$                       0.00% -$                 
  MMWAC HOST FEES 204,000$                102,896$           50.44% 197,400$          100,953$           51.14% 1,943$              
  9-1-1 DEBT SERVICE REIMBURSEMENT -$                        -$                    -$                 (20)$                   0.00% 20$                   
  TRANSFER IN: TIF 520,000$                -$                   0.00% 324,212$          324,212$           100.00% (324,212)$        
  ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2,000$                    279$                  13.96% 2,000$              858$                  42.90% (579)$               
  CDBG 58,000$                  -$                   0.00% 8,000$              1,334$               16.68% (1,334)$            
  UTILITY REIMBURSEMENT 37,500$                  10,177$             27.14% 37,500$            13,728$             36.61% (3,551)$            
  CITY FUND BALANCE CONTRIBUTION 1,350,000$             -$                   0.00% 1,350,000$       -$                       0.00% -$                 

     TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS 2,357,800$             389,642$           16.53% 2,141,537$       656,273$           30.64% (266,631)$        
-$                       

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES 52,244,978$           28,249,029$      54.07% 51,785,864$     27,676,244$      53.44% 572,785$          

SCHOOL REVENUES
  EDUCATION SUBSIDY 17,942,071$           7,545,375$        42.05% 17,942,071$     8,376,360$        46.69% (830,985)$        
  EDUCATION 1,358,724$             260,240$           19.15% 1,358,724$       221,762$           16.32% 38,478$            
  SCHOOL FUND BALANCE CONTRIBUTION 855,251$                -$                   0.00% 855,251$          -$                       0.00% -$                 

TOTAL SCHOOL 20,156,046$           7,805,614$        38.73% 20,156,046$     8,598,122$        42.66% (792,508)$        

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES 72,401,024$           36,054,643$      49.80% 71,941,910$     36,274,366$      50.42% (219,723)$        

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



Unaudited  Unaudited  
FY 2014 EXP % OF FY 2013 EXP % OF

DEPARTMENT BUDGET THRU DEC 2013 BUDGET BUDGET THRU DEC 2012 BUDGET VARIANCE
ADMINISTRATION  
   MAYOR AND COUNCIL 71,079$                34,857$              49.04% 99,690$          61,678$              61.87% (26,821)$       
   CITY MANAGER 238,903$              120,073$            50.26% 343,296$        125,825$            36.65% (5,752)$         
   ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 318,933$              130,879$            41.04% -$                   -$                         130,879$      
   ASSESSING SERVICES 172,277$              84,246$              48.90% 183,801$        80,298$              43.69% 3,948$          
   CITY CLERK 162,045$              83,809$              51.72% 150,676$        70,180$              46.58% 13,629$        
   FINANCIAL SERVICES 405,976$              194,557$            47.92% 419,539$        202,232$            48.20% (7,675)$         
   HUMAN RESOURCES 139,566$              62,621$              44.87% 137,836$        62,747$              45.52% (126)$            
   INFORMATION COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY 395,350$              245,308$            62.05% 386,632$        212,457$            54.95% 32,851$        
   LEGAL SERVICES 100,000$              29,291$              29.29% 85,000$          14,249$              16.76% 15,042$        

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 2,004,129$           985,641$            49.18% 1,806,470$     829,666$            45.93% 155,975$      

COMMUNITY SERVICES
ENGINEERING 280,188$              124,998$            44.61% 320,370$        147,988$            46.19% (22,990)$       

   COMMUNITY PROGRAMS -$                          -$                         14,050$          10,500$              74.73% (10,500)$       
   PLANNING & PERMITTING 775,230$              375,931$            48.49% 776,532$        337,614$            43.48% 38,317$        
   PARKS AND RECREATION 567,334$              253,682$            44.71% 602,191$        277,152$            46.02% (23,470)$       
   HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES 189,539$              110,794$            58.45% 176,567$        110,196$            62.41% 598$             
   PUBLIC LIBRARY 946,737$              541,888$            57.24% 968,292$        484,146$            50.00% 57,742$        

TOTAL COMMUNITY SERVICES 2,759,028$           1,407,293$         51.01% 2,858,002$     1,367,596$         47.85% 39,697$        
 

FISCAL SERVICES
   DEBT SERVICE 6,321,584$           5,801,562$         91.77% 6,682,797$     6,083,464$         91.03% (281,902)$     
   PROPERTY 715,667$              400,604$            55.98% 699,114$        448,643$            64.17% (48,039)$       
   WORKERS COMPENSATION 431,446$              -$                        0.00% 415,000$        -$                        0.00% -$                  
   WAGES & BENEFITS 4,397,585$           2,262,067$         51.44% 4,602,545$     2,087,279$         45.35% 174,788$      
   EMERGENCY RESERVE (10108062-670000) 375,289$              -$                        0.00% 333,818$        -$                        0.00% -$                  

TOTAL FISCAL SERVICES 12,241,571$         8,464,233$         69.14% 12,733,274$   8,619,386$         67.69% (155,153)$     

PUBLIC SAFETY
   FIRE DEPARTMENT 4,024,789$           1,950,320$         48.46% 3,904,344$     1,864,029$         47.74% 86,291$        
   POLICE DEPARTMENT 3,589,583$           1,665,365$         46.39% 3,439,583$     1,620,600$         47.12% 44,765$        

TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY 7,614,372$           3,615,685$         47.49% 7,343,927$     3,484,629$         47.45% 131,056$      

PUBLIC WORKS
   PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 4,730,432$           2,019,334$         42.69% 4,617,744$     1,988,251$         43.06% 31,083$        
   WATER AND SEWER 558,835$              282,963$            50.63% 558,835$        282,983$            50.64% (20)$              

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 5,289,267$           2,302,297$         43.53% 5,176,579$     2,271,234$         43.88% 31,063$        

INTERGOVERNMENTAL PROGRAMS
   AUBURN-LEWISTON AIRPORT 105,000$              52,500$              50.00% 105,000$        52,500$              50.00% -$                  
   E911 COMMUNICATION CENTER 1,036,409$           518,425$            50.02% 1,035,381$     516,982$            49.93% 1,443$          
   LATC-PUBLIC TRANSIT 235,496$              176,530$            74.96% 235,548$        117,774$            50.00% 58,756$        
   LAEGC-ECONOMIC COUNCIL -$                          -$                         160,687$        80,343$              50.00% (80,343)$       
COMMUNITY LITTLE THEATER -$                          -$                         20,160$          -$                        0.00% -$                  
   TAX SHARING 270,000$              41,793$              15.48% 289,000$        43,602$              15.09% (1,809)$         

TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL 1,646,905$           789,248$            47.92% 1,845,776$     811,201$            43.95% (21,953)$       

COUNTY TAX 2,029,513$           2,029,512$         100.00% 2,006,244$     2,006,244$         100.00% 23,268$        
TIF (10108058-580000) 2,555,723$           -$                        0.00% 2,619,142$     2,590,947$         98.92% (2,590,947)$  
OVERLAY -$                          -$                         -$                   -$                        0.00% -$                  

-$                  
TOTAL CITY DEPARTMENTS 36,140,508$         19,593,909$       54.22% 36,389,414$   21,980,903$       60.40% (2,386,994)$  

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT 37,128,028$         13,414,519$       36.13% 34,705,246$   9,584,758$         27.62% 3,829,761$   
  

TOTAL GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 73,268,536$         33,008,428$       45.05% 71,094,660$   31,565,661$       44.40% 1,442,767$   

 CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
EXPENDITURES - GENERAL FUND COMPARATIVE

THROUGH December 31, 2013 VS December 31, 2012  



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
INVESTMENT SCHEDULE
AS Of Decemeber 31, 2013

BALANCE BALANCE INTEREST WEIGHTED
INVESTMENT FUND December 31, 2013 November 30, 2013 RATE AVG YIELD

BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1242924 GENERAL FUND 55,369.81$                   55,362.76$                   0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745910 GF-WORKERS COMP 49,261.32$                   49,257.97$                   0.10%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745944 GF-UNEMPLOYMENT 66,945.77$                   66,937.24$                   0.20%
BANKNORTH CD 7033 GF-UNEMPLOYMENT 102,404.84$                 102,404.84$                 2.64%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1809302 SPECIAL REVENUE 52,592.45$                   52,585.75$                   0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745902 SR-PERMIT PARKING 198,123.75$                 198,098.51$                 0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745895 SR-TIF 1,118,564.44$              1,118,421.96$              0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1746819 CAPITAL PROJECTS 11,765,925.78$            11,764,427.02$            0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745928 ICE ARENA 249,459.18$                 249,427.40$                 0.10%

GRAND TOTAL 13,658,647.34$            13,656,923.45$            0.22%



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
To: Clinton Deschene, City Manager 
From: Jill Eastman, Finance Director 
Re: Arena Financial Reports for December 31, 2013 
 
Attached you will find a Statement of Net Assets and a Statement of Activities for the Ingersoll Arena  
and the Norway Savings Bank Arena as of December 31, 2013.  
 
Statement of Net Assets: 
The Statement of Net Assets lists current assets, noncurrent assets, liabilities and net assets.  
 
Current Assets: 
As of the end of December 2013 the total current assets were $46,054. These consisted of cash and cash 
equivalents of $249,906, accounts receivable of $24,950 and an interfund payable of $228,802, which 
means that the Arenas owe the General Fund $228,802, so net cash available to the arena is $21,104 at 
the end of December. The large increase in the interfund payable is primarily due to the payment for the 
new Olympia Ice Machine of $122,050. The City will be reimbursed for this purchase by Mr. Schott. 
 
The accounts receivable of $24,950 remains the same as it was last month. 
 
Noncurrent Assets: 
Noncurrent assets are the building, equipment and any building and land improvements, less 
depreciation. The total value of noncurrent assets as of December 31, 2013 were $630,402. 
 
Liabilities: 
The arena liabilities as of December 31, 2013, consisted of $221 of accounts payable, which is for 
invoices that we had received, but had not processed as of the end of the month. 
 
Statement of Activities: 
 
The statement of activities shows the current operating revenue collected for the fiscal year and the 
operating expenses as well as any nonoperating revenue and expenses. 
 
The operating revenues for Ingersoll Arena through December 2013, are $74,810 and revenues for 
Norway Savings Bank Arena were $202,936. This revenue comes from the concessions, sign 
advertisements, pro shop lease, youth programming, shinny hockey, public skating and ice rentals. 
 
The operating expenses for Ingersoll Arena through December 2013, were $134,786 and for Norway 
Savings Bank Arena were $381,497. These expenses include personnel costs, supplies, utilities, repairs, 
capital purchases and maintenance. 
 
As of December 2013 the arenas have operating losses of $59,976 and $178,561 respectively. 
 



 2 

Non-operating revenue and expenses consist of interest income and debt service payments. The interest 
income to date is $725 and debt service expense to date is $82,801.  
 
As of December 31, 2013 the arenas have a combined decrease in net assets of $320,613. 
 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2013

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Combined
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 249,906$         
Interfund receivables (228,802)         
Accounts receivable 24,950            

Total current assets 46,054            
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets:
Buildings 672,279          
Equipment 826,911          
Land improvements 18,584            
     Less accumulated depreciation (887,372)         

Total noncurrent assets 630,402          
Total assets 676,456          

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 221                 
Total liabilities 221                 

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 630,402          
Unrestricted 45,833            

Total net assets 676,235$         



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Statement of Activities
 December 31, 2013

Norway
Ingersoll Savings
Ice Arena Arena Total

Operating revenues:
Charges for services 74,810$        202,936$       277,746$          

Operating expenses:
Personnel 66,424          52,418            118,842            
Supplies 6,799            85,628            92,427              
Utilities 48,761          4,887              53,648              
Repairs and maintenance 9,135            495                 9,630                
Depreciation -                     -                       -                         
Capital expenses 160,454          160,454            
Other expenses 3,667            77,615            81,282              

Total operating expenses 134,786        381,497          516,283            

Operating  gain (loss) (59,976)         (178,561)        (238,537)          

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Interest income 725                -                       725                    
Interest expense (debt service) (82,801)         -                       (82,801)             

Total nonoperating expense (82,076)         -                       (82,076)             

Gain before transfer (142,052)       (178,561)        (320,613)          

Transfers out -                     -                       

Change in net assets (142,052)       (178,561)        (320,613)          

Total net assets, July 1 996,848        -                       996,848            

Total net assets, December 31, 2013 854,796$      (178,561)$      676,235$         



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

  
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: New Business – Xinglong Corporation, d/b/a Lotus Restaurant, 279 Center Street. Public hearing and 

action for approving a new Liquor License 

 

Information: Lotus Restaurant (owner Chun Wu) located at 279 Center Street, applied for a Liquor License 

and Food Service Class I-Spirituous, Vinous, Malt license. Police, Fire and Code have conducted inspections 

and approvals have been granted. 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Recommend passage 

 

Previous Meetings and History: N/A 

 

Attachments:  

 

 Class I-Spirituous, Vinous & Malt application 

 Liquor License application 

 Copy of Public Notice 

 Order 04-01212014 

  

 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date: January 21, 2014  Order  04-01212014 

Author: Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk   

























CITY OF AUBURN 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

 
 

A public hearing will be held on Tuesday, January 21, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. or 

as soon as possible thereafter, in the Council Chambers of Auburn Hall, 60 

Court Street, to consider the Liquor License Application for: 

 

Xinglong Corporation, dba Lotus Restaurant 

279 Center Street, Auburn, Maine  

 

All interested persons may appear to show cause, if any they may have, why 

this license should not be granted. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 04-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby approves a new liquor license (Food Service Class I – 

Spirituous, Vinous, Malt) application for Xinglong Corporation, DBA Lotus Restaurant located at 279 Center 

Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan    Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Authorization to Extend the Contract for Audit Service 

 

Information: Please see attached memo and quote 

 

Financial:  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Passage 

 

Previous Meetings and History: None 

 

Attachments:  

Memo 

Quote from Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date:  January 21, 2014 Order  05-01212014 

Author:   Jill M. Eastman, Finance Director 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Finance Department 

60 Court Street • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
To: Clinton Deschene, City Manager 
From: Jill Eastman, Finance Director 
Date: January 8, 2014 
 
RE: Extension of Audit Contract 
 
 
Clint, 
 
I would like to request permission from the City Council to extend the audit contract for 3 years. My reasoning is 
as follows: 
 
FY 13 was the second year that Casey Leonard, Partner at RKO and Jodie Heal, Manager worked on the City of 
Auburn audit. Upon completion of the FY13 audit, they had the opportunity to gain an excellent understanding 
of the City’s various funds and our procedures.  
 
Considering that, if we are required to go out to bid and potentially get a different set of auditors, this would be 
doing a disservice to the citizens of Auburn. Now that Casey and Jodie have a very good understanding of how 
Auburn works, the City will benefit by receiving a more comprehensive audit. 
 
I requested a quote from RKO and it is attached. You will see that the price for the FY14 audit is the same as the 
FY13 audit was and the next two years would each increase by $1,500. 
 
RKO is a very well respected governmental auditing firm and they do audits for many of the large towns and 
cities in Maine, including but not limited to Lewiston, Bangor, Portland, South Portland, Brunswick, Saco, 
Biddeford and Sanford. 
 
Therefore, as Finance Director for the City of Auburn, I strongly recommend that we accept RKO’s quote and 
extend the existing contract an additional 3 years. 











Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 05-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby authorizes the Finance Director to extend the contract for 

Audit Services for 3 years, (FY14, FY15 and FY16) with Runyon Kersteen Ouellette, the City’s current auditor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Setting the date for a Special Municipal Election to elect three members of a Joint Charter 

Commission for the proposed consolidation of the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston. 

 

Information: In June, petitions were taken out in both Lewiston and Auburn in an effort to gather 1000 

signatures in each Municipality to put on a ballot at an upcoming election the election of a Joint Charter 

Commission (3 Commissioners in Lewiston and 3 in Auburn) for the purpose of drafting a consolidation 

agreement between the two cities. 

 

Financial:  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Recommend setting the date of the election for June 10, 2014 

 

Previous Meetings and History:  

 

 

Attachments:  

 30-A §2151 and §2152 

 Timeline 

 Order 06-01212014 

Council Meeting Date:  January 21, 2014  Order  06-01212014 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 













TIMELINE FOR FORMAL MERGER PROCESS OF LEWISTON & AUBURN 

 

 

Background - Under the statutes (MRSA Title 30-A, Sec 2151 – 2156), when 1,000 valid 

signatures are submitted on a petition to consolidate two or more municipalities, the City Council 

shall schedule at the next available election, the election of three Joint Charter Commissioners  

(three from Lewiston and three from Auburn).  Once elected, the six Joint Charter Commission 

members are tasked with drafting a consolidation agreement. 

 

1,000 signatures have been submitted and verified on an Auburn petition to start the formal 

process to consolidate the Cities of Lewiston and Auburn (validation completed 7/25/2013). 

 

December 2, 2013 City Council meeting – update Council on status. 

 

January 21, 2014 City Council meeting (held on Tuesday due to the holiday) – Vote to set 

election date for the Joint Charter Commissioners as June 10, 2014 

 

February 10, 2014 – Nomination papers become available for the Joint Charter Commission 

seats (120 days before election day by Auburn Charter) 

 

March 27, 2014 – Filing deadline for nomination papers for Joint Charter Commission seats (75 

days before election day by Auburn Charter) 

 

June 10, 2014 – Election Day.  Top three candidates receiving the most votes are elected to serve 

as the three Joint Charter Commissioners from Auburn. 

 

June 11, 2014 – Sworn into office 

 

June 12, 2014 - Begin work on the consolidation agreement.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 06-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby sets the date for a Special Municipal Election to be held on 

June 10, 2014 for the purpose of electing three Auburn citizens to serve on the Joint Charter Commission for the 

proposed consolidation of the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston. 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Establishing a Charter Commission for the purpose of revising the Municipal Charter. 

 

Information:  

30-A §2102 (1) Municipal Officers. The municipal officers may determine that the revision of the municipal 

charter be considered or that adoption of a new municipal charter be considered and, by order, provide for the 

establishment of a charter commission to carry out that purpose as provided in this chapter. 

 

 

Financial:  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: The City Manager recommends approval 

 

Previous Meetings and History:  

 

 

Attachments:  

 30-A §2102 

 Order 07-01212014 

Council Meeting Date:  January 21, 2014 Order  07-01212014 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



































Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam R. Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 07-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby approves the establishment of a Charter Commission for the 

purpose of revising the Auburn Municipal Charter pursuant to Title 30-A, Section 2102(1) of the Maine Revised 

Statutes. 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Submitting the question for the establishment of a Charter Commission to revise the Municipal 

Charter to the voters at a Special Election to be held on June 10, 2014. 

 

Information:  

30-A §2102 (5) Election Procedure. Within 30 days after the adoption of an order under subsection 1 or the 

receipt of a certificate or final determination of sufficiency under subsection 4, the municipal officers shall by 

order submit the question for the establishment of a charter commission to the voters at the next regular or 

special municipal election held at least 90 days after this order. 

A. The question to be submitted to the voters shall be in substance as follows: 

“Shall a Charter Commission be established for the purpose of revising the Municipal Charter or 

establishing a New Municipal Charter?” 

 

Financial:  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: The City Manager recommends approval. 

 

Previous Meetings and History:  

 

Attachments:  

 30-A §2102 

 Order 08-01212014 

Council Meeting Date:  January 21, 2014 Order  08-01212014 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam R. Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 08-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby approves submitting the question “Shall a Charter 

Commission be established for the purpose of revising the City of Auburn Charter or establishing a New City of 

Auburn Charter?” to the voters at the June 10, 2014 Election. 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Setting the date for a Special Municipal Election to elect the members of the City of Auburn Charter 

Commission to be held on June 10, 2014.  

 

Information:  

30-A §2103 (1) Membership. 

A. Voter members must be elected by one of the following methods. 

1) Six voter members shall be elected at large in the same manner as the municipal officers; [or] 

2) One voter member shall be elected from each ward in the same manner as municipal officers; [or] 

3) Voter members shall be elected both at-large and by ward in the same manner as the municipal 

officers, and the number of voter members shall be the same as the number of municipal officer 

members on the Auburn City Council. 

 

Election of voter members may be held either at the same municipal election as the referendum for the charter 

commission or at the next scheduled regular or special municipal or state election.  

 

Financial:  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: The City Manager recommends passage as well as which of the three 

methods members will be elected. 

 

Previous Meetings and History:  

 

Attachments:  

 30-A §2103 

 Order 09-01212014 

Council Meeting Date:  January 21, 2014 Order  09-01212014 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam R. Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 09-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council hereby sets the date for a Special Municipal Election to elect the 

members of the City of Auburn Charter Commission for June 10, 2014. In addition to three members to be 

appointed by the City Council in accordance with Maine law, voter members will be elected in the following 

manner: 

 

1. Six voter members shall be elected at large in the same manner as the municipal officers; [or] 
 

2. One voter member shall be elected from each ward in the same manner as municipal officers; [or] 

 

3. Voter members shall be elected both at-large and by ward in the same manner as the municipal officers, 

and the number of voter members shall be the same as the number of municipal officer members on the 

Auburn City Council. 

 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Auburn Firefighters Association - I.A.F.F. Local 797 negotiations update. 

 

Information: I.A.F.F. Local 797 represents Firefighters, Lieutenants, Captains and Battalion Chiefs.  The 

contract expired on December 31, 2012. The Union and Management have been working on a successor 

contract since that time. We have reached a tentative agreement. 

 

This information sheet covers two agreements. The first is a short bridge effective 1/1/13 through 6/30/13.  This 

is a status quo contract. The second is a three year agreement covering 7/1/13 through 6/30/16. The second 

agreement includes a change in the health insurance, implementation of an in-service retirement program, 

change in the retirement plan, a reduction in apparatus staffing and a number of other language items.  

 

Financial: The multi-year contract provides for steps in the first year of the contract, suspension of steps in FY 

15 and FY 16 and 2% wage adjustments in FY 15 and FY 16. This multi-year contract represents a sustainable 

pay and benefits package.  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Vote to authorize the City Manager to execute the two Collective 

Bargaining Agreements with I.A.F.F. Local 797. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: The I.A.F.F. contracts were discussed in previous Executive Sessions, the 

most recent being 1/13/14. 

 

Attachments:  

Contract 1 – 1/1/13 – 6/30/13 

Contract 2 – 7/1/13 – 6/30/16 

Order 10-01212017 

Council Meeting Date:  January 21, 2014 Order  10-012120104 

Author:   Deborah Grimmig, Human Resources Director 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

 

-1- 
 

 

    

 

Collective Bargaining Agreement 

 
Between the 

 

City of Auburn 

 
and the 

 

AUBURN FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION 

(LOCAL NO. 797) 
 

January 1, 2013 – June 30, 2013 
 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 
 
 

 

 

2 
 

 

Table of Contents 
 

PREAMBLE ................................................................................................................................... 4 
ARTICLE I - Recognition .............................................................................................................. 5 5 

Section 1 - Association ............................................................................................................... 5 

Section 2 - Non-Discrimination .................................................................................................. 5 

Section 3 - Public Servants/Ethical Standards ............................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE II - Management Rights ................................................................................................ 6 
ARTICLE III - Labor Management ................................................................................................ 6 10 

Section 1 - Purpose ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Section 2 - Employee’s Role....................................................................................................... 6 

Section 3 - Management’s Role .................................................................................................. 6 

Section 4 - Committee Participation ........................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE IV - Dues Check-Off ..................................................................................................... 8 15 

Section 1 - Fair Share .................................................................................................................. 8 

Section 2 - Check-off .................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3 - Association Indemnification ..................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE V - Strikes and Slowdowns ........................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE VI - Wages and Compensation ................................................................................... 10 20 

Section 1 - Wages ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Section 2 - Tuition Reimbursement for Work-Related Courses ............................................... 10 

ARTICLE VII - Hours of Work and Overtime ............................................................................. 12 

Section 1 - Hours of Work ........................................................................................................ 12 

Section 2 - Use of Free Time .................................................................................................... 13 25 

Section 3 - Overtime and Compensatory Time ......................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE VIII - Acting Rank ...................................................................................................... 13 
ARTICLE IX - Holidays ............................................................................................................... 14 
ARTICLE X - Vacations .............................................................................................................. 15 

Section 1 - Vacation Accrual .................................................................................................... 15 30 

Section 2 - Vacation Selection .................................................................................................. 16 

Section 3 - Vacation Changes ................................................................................................... 17 

Section 4 - Floating Holidays ................................................................................................... 18 

ARTICLE XI - Sick Leave ........................................................................................................... 19 

Section 1 - Use of Sick Leave ................................................................................................... 19 35 

Section 2 - Return to Work/Fitness for Duty ............................................................................ 19 

Section 3 - Sick Leave Authentication...................................................................................... 20 

Section 4 - Sick Leave Incentives ............................................................................................. 21 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

3 

 

 

Section 5 - Wellness Incentive Days ........................................................................................ 21 

Section 6 - Sick Bank ................................................................................................................ 21 40 

ARTICLE XII - Grievance Procedure .......................................................................................... 21 

Section 1 - Grievance Procedure ............................................................................................... 21 

Section 2 - Firefighters Grievance ............................................................................................ 21 

Section 3 - City Grievance ........................................................................................................ 23 

Section 4 - Extensions of Time Limits ..................................................................................... 24 45 

ARTICLE XIII - Leaves ............................................................................................................... 24 

Section 1 - Funeral Leave ......................................................................................................... 24 

Section 2 - Emergency Leave ................................................................................................... 25 

Section 3 - Errand Leaves ......................................................................................................... 25 

Section 4 - Association Meetings and Seminar Leave .............................................................. 25 50 

ARTICLE XIV - Exchange of Shifts and Transfers ..................................................................... 25 

Section 1 - Exchange of Shifts .................................................................................................. 25 

Section 2 - Transfers, Permanent Positions, Bidding, EMT Assignments ............................... 27 

ARTICLE XV - Recall to Work ................................................................................................... 29 

Section 1 - Off-Duty ................................................................................................................. 29 55 

Section 2 - Replacement Coverage Turns ................................................................................. 30 

ARTICLE XVI - Health and Safety.............................................................................................. 31 

Section  1 - Health Promotion Program and Employee Cost Share ......................................... 31 

Section  2 - Health Insurance .................................................................................................... 31 

Section  3 - Payment Program for Waiving Health Insurance Coverage with the City of 60 

Auburn ...................................................................................................................................... 32 

Section  4 - Extent of Coverage ................................................................................................ 33 

Section  5 - Benefits Supplementing Workers' Compensation Benefits ................................... 34 

Section  6 - Expense of Injury or Illness ................................................................................... 35 

Section  7 - Light Duty Return to Work ................................................................................... 35 65 

Section  8 - Damage to Glasses and Teeth ................................................................................ 38 

Section  9 - Department Physician ............................................................................................ 38 

Section  10 - Substance Abuse Testing Program ...................................................................... 38 

Section  11 - General Safety ..................................................................................................... 39 

ARTICLE XVII - Separation from Department ........................................................................... 39 70 

Section 1 - Retirement .............................................................................................................. 39 

Section 2 - Vacation Cashout .................................................................................................... 39 

Section 3 - Cashout of Accrued Sick Leave ............................................................................. 39 

Section 4 - Compensatory Time ............................................................................................... 40 

Section 5 - Uniform Reimbursement ........................................................................................ 40 75 

Section 6 - Lay-offs .................................................................................................................. 40 

ARTICLE XVIII - Miscellaneous Provisions............................................................................... 41 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

4 

 

 

Section 1 - Uniform Reimbursement Policy ............................................................................. 41 

Section 2 - Use of Telephones .................................................................................................. 42 

Section 3 - Association Meetings ............................................................................................. 42 80 

Section 4 - Written Reprimands ................................................................................................ 42 

Section 5 - Indemnity ................................................................................................................ 43 

Section 6 - Residence of Firefighters ........................................................................................ 43 

Section 7 - Jury Duty and Court Appearances .......................................................................... 43 

ARTICLE XIX - Fire Prevention Officer ..................................................................................... 43 85 

ARTICLE XX - Duration of the Contract .................................................................................... 46 

ARTICLE XXI - Inconsistent Rules, Regulations and Ordinances .............................................. 46 

ARTICLE XXII - Active Agreement ........................................................................................... 47 

ARTICLE XXIII - Savings Clause ............................................................................................... 47 

Appendix A - Health Promotion Program .................................................................................... 49 90 

Health Risk Analysis and Education ......................................................................................... 49 

Health Care Advisory Team ..................................................................................................... 50 

Health Care Management Proposal .......................................................................................... 50 

Health Promotion Program and Health Insurance Cost Share .................................................. 50 

Medical Spending Account ....................................................................................................... 51 95 

Wage Schedule.......................................................................................................................... 52 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

PREAMBLE 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

5 

 

 

 

 Agreement made this day: ____________ by the City of Auburn and the Auburn 100 

Firefighters Association, Local No. 797, International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO 

(hereinafter referred to as the Association.) 

 

Pursuant to the provisions of Title 26 M.R.S.A., Chapter 9-A, §961, the City of Auburn, 

Maine enters into this agreement with the Auburn Firefighters Association, Local No. 797, 105 

International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO (herein referred to as the Association) to 

promote the improvement of the relationship between the City and the Association and their 

employees/members by providing a uniform basis for recognizing the right of public employees 

to join labor organizations of their own choosing and to be represented by such organizations in 

collective bargaining for terms and conditions of employment. 110 

 

 In consideration of the respective promises of the parties hereto and, pursuant to the 

provisions of M.R.S.A. Tile 26, Chapter 9-A (1973), and in order to increase general efficiency 

in the Fire Department, and to promote morale, equal rights, well being, and security of the Fire 

Department's permanent employees, it is agreed by the parties hereto as follows: 115 

 

ARTICLE I - Recognition 

 

Section 1 - Association 

 120 

 The City hereby recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent of 

all members of the Auburn Fire Department except for the Chief, Deputy Chief, and clerical staff 

for purposes of bargaining with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of work, working conditions 

and all other terms and conditions of employment. 

 125 

Section 2 - Non-Discrimination  

 

 The City agrees that no employee shall in any manner be discriminated against or 

coerced, restrained or influenced on account of membership in the Association by reason of 

his/her holding office therein, or by reason of being a member of a collective bargaining 130 

committee of the Association, and the City agrees that the provisions of this Article shall be 

applicable to all persons to whom this Agreement applies without discrimination. 

 

All employees have the right to work in an environment free from discrimination 

unrelated to job performance.  Intimidation and harassment of employees, whether it be by 135 

fellow employees or by management personnel, including sexual harassment in all its various 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

6 

 

 

forms, is unacceptable conduct, which may constitute as grounds for disciplinary action.  This 

provision shall not in any way prevent the Association from discharging its duty of fair 

representation of any of its members. 

 140 

Section 3 - Public Servants/Ethical Standards  

 

 The individual members of the Department and of the Association are to regard 

themselves as public servants, and as such they are to be governed by the highest ideals of honor 

and integrity in order that they may merit the respect and confidence of the general public. 145 

 

ARTICLE II - Management Rights 

 

 Except as otherwise provided in this contract, the City shall remain vested solely and 

exclusively with all of its common law and its statutory rights and with all management and 150 

supervision of operations and personnel including the right to hire, promote, suspend or 

otherwise discipline firefighters under the City Charter and Ordinances. 

 

ARTICLE III - Labor Management 

 155 

Section 1 - Purpose 

  

The City, Union, and its members, agree to participate in a Labor Management 

Committee, whose purpose is to work together in identifying and implementing improvements to 

the operations of the Auburn Fire Department and service to the citizens of Auburn. The goals of 160 

the Committee include fostering good communications (both internal and external to the 

department), sharing operational ideas and departmental concerns, reviewing operational and 

capital budgetary items as well as future planning initiatives, improving customer service 

(internal and external), increasing accountability and effectiveness, increasing productivity and 

realization of cost savings.  165 

 

Section 2 - Employee’s Role 

  

Employees are encouraged to openly and actively share ideas and suggestions with the 

Committee.  When faced with a concern or complaint, employees may introduce the subject at 170 

the Labor Management Committee for discussion and potential resolution.  If this does not 

resolve the issue, employees may refer to Article XII, “Grievance Procedure”.    

 

Section 3 - Management’s Role 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

7 

 

 

  175 

Management is encouraged to foster a work environment which allows employees to be 

knowledgeable of departmental activities and planning, actively approach management, and to 

have the opportunity for open dialog.  Management is also encouraged to discuss employee 

concerns and complaints, and to solicit input and suggestions to improve the operations of the 

Department and the work environment. 180 

 

Section 4 - Committee Participation  

 

The Labor Management Committee will meet monthly and consist of at least two (2) 

representatives from both the City and the Union.  For the City, the members may include, but 185 

not limited to, the Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, the Human Resources Director, the Assistant 

City Manager, the City Manager, or another member of city administration.  The Union agrees to 

appoint at least three (3) representatives to the Committee and other members as may be needed 

for individual issues and/or sub-committees. Each Labor Management Committee meeting shall 

be called to order after a quorum of four (4) members—but no less than two City and two Union 190 

members—by the Fire Chief, or in his absence the Union President, or in his absence another 

person appointed by the Fire Chief, who will serve as chair; have its meeting time be posted in a 

place accessible to all employees and be open to other employees; have an agenda with at least 

unfinished and new business items; shall be recorded by way of written minutes; and shall have 

its draft and/or approved minutes be electronically posted.  Notice for items to be placed on the 195 

Labor Management Committee Agenda shall be made not less than three (3) working days prior 

to the scheduled meeting. There shall be no extra compensation for those appointed to serve on 

the Labor Management Committee, unless already scheduled to work.  Other Union members 

may attend if their work schedule permits.    

 200 

It is in the best interest of the City of Auburn, the Fire Department, and our citizens, to 

create a forum such as the Labor Management Committee to function productively and 

effectively.  If, at any time, either party determines the process is not working or is failing, either 

party may invite the Assistant City Manager or City Manager to attend to help facilitate and 

foster a healthy work environment between labor and management.  205 

 

The 2013 work plan for the committee has been agreed to set the following priorities: 

1. Peer Fitness 

2. Driver Operator Position 

3. Uniform Allowance (as outlined in Article XVIII Section 1) 210 

4. Distribution of EMS Personnel 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

8 

 

 

 

 

 215 

 

 

ARTICLE IV - Dues Check-Off 

 

Section 1 - Fair Share   220 

 

 The Association shall have exclusive rights to payroll deductions of membership dues 

and service fees.  Any firefighter who at any time on or after the effective date of this Agreement 

is not a member of the Association shall, within thirty days after such conditions are met be 

required to choose from the options of:  (1) membership in the Association; (2) payment to the 225 

Association of a service fee equal to 80% of Association dues as a contribution towards the cost 

of collective bargaining, contract administration and the adjustment of grievances; or (3) 

exclusion from both.  Each such firefighter shall be required to make his/her choice in writing on 

payroll deduction forms supplied by the Association.  Failure to choose membership or the 80% 

service fee option shall constitute a choice of exclusion from both.  An employee choosing 230 

exclusion from both membership and 80% service fee option shall be irrevocably bound by such 

choice except as provided hereinafter and if the employee request, shall be entitled to the 

services of the Association under the agreement only upon payment to the Association of 

reasonable fees, including fifty dollars per hour for employee representative services, and 

attorneys fees and costs and expenses, including arbitration fees and expenses, incurred by the 235 

Association on behalf of such employee.  Any firefighter who is required by this Article or who 

was required under the terms of the predecessor agreement, to select from the options set about 

above may change his/her status with respect to those options during the 20 day period 

immediately prior to the expiration of this Agreement by giving written notice to the City and to 

the Association during that period. 240 

 

 The Union agrees to assume full responsibility to insure full compliance with the 

requirements laid down by the US. Supreme Court in Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson 106 S. 

Ct. 1066(1986), with respect to the constitutional rights of fair share fee payers. 

 245 

 It is specifically agreed that any dispute concerning the amount of fair share fee and/or 

the responsibilities of the Union with respect to fair share fee payers as set forth above shall not 

be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in this Agreement. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

9 

 

 

 Any employee covered by this Agreement at any time may submit a grievance to the City 250 

and have such grievance adjusted without the intervention of the Association, if the adjustment is 

not inconsistent with the terms of this collective bargaining agreement and if the Association has 

been given reasonable opportunity to be present at any such meeting of the parties called for the 

resolution of such grievance. 

  255 

 The Association agrees in consideration thereof for itself and its members to individually 

and collectively perform loyal and efficient work and services, and it and they will use their 

influence and best efforts to promote and advance the interests of the taxpayer of Auburn. 

 

Section 2 - Check-off   260 

 

 Upon written authorization of a firefighter, approved by the Association President, the 

City agrees to have the appropriate City Department deduct from the pay of each firefighter, as 

so authorized, the amount of funds as indicated on the Fair Share Agreement between the 

firefighter and Association, to be deducted from his/her pay check each week, and deliver same 265 

to the Association Treasurer at his/her request, provided, however, that if any employee has no 

check due him or the check is not large enough to satisfy other deductions, then in that event no 

deduction will be made from said firefighter for that period.  In no event will the City be 

obligated to collect fines or assessments charged by the Association to its members.  The City 

shall not be obliged to deduct funds from the weekly pay after receiving written notice, on forms 270 

provided by the Association, that he/she no longer authorizes such deductions.  The Association 

agrees in consideration thereof for itself and its members to individually and collectively perform 

loyal and efficient work and service, and it and they will use their influence and best efforts to 

promote and advance the interests of the taxpayer of Auburn. 

 275 

Section 3 - Association Indemnification  

 

 The Association shall indemnify, defend and save the City harmless against any and all 

claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability (monetary or otherwise) and for all legal costs 

that shall arise out of or by reason of action taken or not taken by the City in complying with 280 

provisions of this Article.  If an improper deduction is made, the Association shall refund 

directly to the employee any such amount. 

 

ARTICLE V - Strikes and Slowdowns 

 285 

 The Association agrees that firefighters who are subject to the terms of this Agreement 

shall have no rights to engage in any work stoppage, slowdown, or strike in consideration of the 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

10 

 

 

right to a resolution of disputed questions.  Any or all employees who violate the provisions of 

this Article may be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge.  This provision is not 

intended to reflect an employee's refusal to carry out an unjustifiable management request. 290 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VI - Wages and Compensation  

 295 

Section 1 - Wages 

 

All firefighters covered under this Agreement shall be paid in accordance with the attached wage 

schedule(s). 

  300 

 All firefighters must complete performance evaluations on their anniversary date of hire 

or date of promotion.  Firefighters who are eligible for a step-increase will receive it effective on 

their anniversary date of hire or promotion.  

 

Firefighters who are promoted will be slotted at the entry step of the new rank or at the 305 

step which brings them closest to but not less than 5%. 

  

 Any firefighter who receives a change or lapse in EMS license shall immediately notify 

the officer in charge of EMS Services in writing.  Any firefighter who continues to receive EMS 

pay after his/her license has lapsed or who falsifies his/her license may be subjected to one 310 

week's suspension without pay. 

 

Section 2 - Tuition Reimbursement for Work-Related Courses  

 

 The City will reimburse 100% of the tuition for courses, seminars and conferences as 315 

long as the following criteria are met: 

 

1.  The course, seminar, conference receives written pre-approval by the Fire Chief. 

 

2.  The course is directly work-related (with the exception of elective courses accepted as 320 

part of the course curriculum for a Degree in Fire Science or Paramedicine); and 

  

3.  The firefighter agrees to use the knowledge and skills gained in training paid in part by 

the City for the benefit of the City. 

 325 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

11 

 

 

4.  Approved courses in the amount of $100.00 or greater may be pre-paid by the City. Upon 

successful completion of a course with a passing grade or certificate of completion, the City 

will reimburse the individual firefighter for the balance due of the approved tuition expenses, 

which are not covered by scholarships, or other educational financial assistance.  If the 

firefighter receives pre-payment for the course and he/she does not pass or receive a 330 

certification/license of completion, he/she will reimburse the City for the cost of the course.  

 

 The City will pay the full cost of all pre-approved EMS related courses, case reviews, 

seminars and skill labs.  If a firefighter does not obtain the license or pass the course, case 

review, seminar or skill lab, after the City has paid the cost of the course, the firefighter/EMT 335 

will reimburse the cost of the course. As of October 16
th

 2012 if the firefighter has 

successfully completed an EMS upgrade, through the reimbursement of the city, the 

firefighter will be required to maintain the license for a minimum of three years. Should the 

firefighter separate prior to completing one year of service at the new license level the 

firefighter will reimburse the city a prorated amount of the tuition. The break down f the 340 

proration will be as follows: 

 

 Firefighters that separate from the department less than three months after completion 

of the course will be required to repay the entire cost of tuition and books 

 Firefighters that separate between three and six months after completion of the course 345 

will be required to repay fifty percent of the cost of tuition and books 

 Firefighters that separate between six months and one year will be required to repay 

twenty-five percent of the tuition and books  

 

 After maintaining the license upgrade beyond the three year minimum the firefighter will 350 

be required to provide a Three  (3) month notice of intent to have the license lapse. 

 

 

5.  The City will reimburse costs of textbooks for pre-approved courses up to 50% or $50.00 

whichever is greater.   Approval for reimbursement for textbooks is dependent upon the 355 

constraints on funds in the Fire Department training account.  

  

 In response to a request, the Battalion Chief or Acting Battalion Chief may reassign on a 

temporary basis, personnel in order to allow on-duty personnel to attend educational 

opportunities in the local area.  This section is intended to apply to those classes that have been 360 

requested by individual firefighters as opposed to departmental training.  If the battalion is not at 

minimum, the firefighter(s) may attend class on duty in their personal vehicle, but will remain on 

call and will take a portable radio with them to class.  At the discretion of the Battalion Chief or 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

12 

 

 

the Acting Battalion Chief, the firefighter may only need to respond on a "Condition" 

assignment.  If battalion staffing is at minimum, the firefighter(s) may take apparatus to class if 365 

the other members of that company are in agreement to go along with the firefighter(s) attending 

class or the firefighter may attend class in a privately owned vehicle with a portable (the 

apparatus would be treated as per current standards for apparatus down one firefighter on 

emergency leave).  Whenever possible, if more than one firefighter on duty is attending the same 

class, the Battalion Chief or the Acting Battalion Chief will assign these personnel to the same 370 

piece of apparatus in order to limit the number of units on delayed response.  Reassignments will 

be made in such a way as to keep Rescue in service and in normal response whenever possible.  

The following conditions will be required in order to utilize on duty participation for class: 

 

1.  On-duty attendance to class must be pre-approved by the Fire Chief. 375 

 

2.  The Chief has the right to limit the number of on-duty personnel attending class. 

 

3.  The class may only be in either Auburn or Lewiston. 

 380 

4.  Units must remain in service at all times. 

 

5.  Spare Department vehicles may be used in place of privately owned vehicles. 

 

6.  There will always be a minimum of ten (10) firefighters in Auburn not on delayed 385 

response, unless specifically approved by the Chief or his designee. 

 

ARTICLE VII - Hours of Work and Overtime 

 

Section 1 - Hours of Work   390 

 

 Firefighters' regular workweek shall consist of an average of forty-two (42) hours per 

week.  For the duration of this contract, the regular tour of duty (on-duty shift) shall consist of a 

twenty-four hour continuous time period commencing at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 7:00 a.m. the 

following day.  Firefighters shall remain in active status performing work assignments between 395 

the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. and 6:59 a.m. during on-duty shifts, except 

for the free time periods. The department will be organized under a four (4) battalion system. 

 

A work cycle, for the duration of this contract, is defined as one twenty-four hour tour of 

on-duty time (on-duty shift) followed by three consecutive twenty-four hour time periods off 400 

beginning at 7:00 a.m. following the on-duty shift. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

13 

 

 

 

Section 2 - Use of Free Time   

 

 Firefighters shall be permitted to use recreational facilities furnished by the Auburn 405 

Firefighters Benefit Association when they are not specifically assigned to firefighting or other 

duties.  It is understood that firefighters on a voluntary basis will frequently use their free time 

for study and on-the-job training. 

 

Section 3 - Overtime and Compensatory Time  410 

 

 Firefighters shall be paid for work performed on regular off-duty shifts and during their 

free time period at an overtime rate of one and one-half (1½) times their hourly rate as per the 

attached wage schedule, except that for multiple alarms. (See Article XV) Firefighters 

participating on teams established or created by the Department (with the exception of 415 

firefighters serving on the Labor Management Committee) on their off-duty time shall have a 

choice of being compensated at their regular overtime rate or by accruing compensatory time at 

one and one-half times the number of hours actually worked. The following conditions shall 

apply to the accrual of comp time: 

 420 

1.  The firefighter may accrue up to 48 hours per year; 

 

2.  Comp time accrued but not used will be paid out the last pay-period in the fiscal year at 

the regular hourly rate in effect for the firefighter at that time; 

 425 

3.  No firefighter may choose to take comp time on a day on which his/her battalion would 

thereby be reduced below the minimum staffing level (because of prior scheduled vacations, 

existing extended sick leave, on-the-job injuries, or other cause known at the time notice is 

given). 

 430 

 Any on-duty firefighter returning to the fire station and completing his/her duties prior to 

7:15 a.m. after answering a call received before the completion of his/her work shift at 7:00 a.m. 

shall receive no extra compensation.  If he/she returns and completes his/her duties after 7:15 

a.m. he/she shall be paid for one-half (1/2) hour at his/her overtime rate.  If after 7:30 a.m. and 

before 8:00 a.m. he/she shall be paid for one (1) hour at his/her overtime rate; if after 8:00 a.m., 435 

at his/her overtime rate for all time worked after 7:00 a.m. as set forth in the attached schedule.  

 

ARTICLE VIII - Acting Rank  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

14 

 

 

 Any firefighter selected to act as an officer of higher rank shall be entitled to receive 440 

acting rank in the amount of five (5) % over the non-EMS firefighter base hourly rate for a full 

tour of duty if he/she acts in said rank for a period in excess of half the tour of duty.   

 

 A firefighter performing overtime work while acting in higher rank shall receive one and 

one-half (1 ½) times his/her hourly rate of pay in such higher rank for such overtime work.  445 

 

 Firefighters, Lieutenants and Captains shall have the right to decline to serve as an officer 

of higher rank unless, in the judgment of the Chief, the Deputy Chief, or the Battalion Chief on 

duty, no other qualified on-duty firefighter is willing and available to serve.  No firefighter who 

has been assigned to act in higher rank and who, in the judgment of the supervising officer, is 450 

performing such duties in a proper manner shall be reassigned to other duty for the purpose of 

depriving him/her of an opportunity to receive extra pay under the provisions of this Article. 

 

When a firefighter is assigned to act in higher rank, he/she shall not receive an increase in 

pay for any day of such service during which an officer of equal or greater rank than that in 455 

which he/she is acting is assigned to the same company for a period exceeding one-half (1/2) the 

shift (12 hours). 

 

 

ARTICLE IX - Holidays 460 

 

 Each firefighter covered by this Agreement, shall, in addition to his/her regular weekly 

wage, be paid 1/4 of his/her weekly wage for each of the following holidays: 

 

 1. New Year's Day   7.   Columbus Day 465 

 2. Washington's Birthday  8.   Veteran's Day 

 3. Patriot's Day    9.   Thanksgiving Day 

 4. Memorial Day                        10.   Christmas Day 

 5. Independence Day             11.   Martin Luther King Day 

 6. Labor Day             12.   Any one time national holiday  470 

             mandated by the President and  

             observed by other Auburn City  

             Departments 

                     

 Holiday pay will be based on the non-EMS firefighter's rank and step. 475 

  



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

15 

 

 

 The day after Thanksgiving will be holiday routine, but the firefighter will not receive 

holiday pay. 

 

 Firefighters shall receive holiday pay during the pay period following the date in which 480 

the holiday falls. The Office Manager will post the calendar noting the holiday pay dates for the 

year.  

 

ARTICLE X - Vacations 

 485 

Section 1 - Vacation Accrual 

 

 For the purposes of this article, it is understood that years of service will mean continuous 

years of service. Probationary firefighters (members with less than twelve (12) months of 

service) will accumulate hours at the rate of eight (8) hours per calendar month.  Probationary 490 

firefighters may not take vacation leave during their first twelve (12) months of service unless 

there are special circumstances which would warrant the Chief, or in his absence, the Deputy 

Fire Chief authorizing a waiver of the restriction on vacation leave.  Requests for waivers and the 

administrative decision regarding the request shall be in written form.   

 495 

 Firefighters with less than six (6) years of service will accrue vacation hours at the rate of 

eight (8) hours per calendar month.  Firefighters with a minimum of six (6) years of service but 

less than fourteen (14) years of service will accrue vacation hours at the rate of twelve (12) hours 

per calendar month.  Firefighters with fourteen (14) or more years of service shall accrue 

vacation hours at the rate of sixteen (16) hours per calendar month.  If the firefighter’s 500 

anniversary date of hire falls on or before the 15
th

 of the month, the firefighter will receive 

his/her additional vacation accrual that month. If the firefighter’s anniversary date falls on or 

after the 16
th

 of the month, then the firefighter will receive his/her additional vacation accrual the 

following month. This will occur only during the sixth and the fourteenth years of service.   

 505 

 Vacation hours will continue to accrue during sick leave absences, while on on-the-job-

injury, or any other paid absences authorized by the Chief or Deputy Chief. 

 

 Except for the first month of service and the last month of service, vacation hours for 

each month shall be awarded on the last day of each calendar month and then added to the 510 

firefighter’s current balance. The month in which employment begins shall be counted as a 

month of service if the date of hire occurs before the 16
th

 of that month.  The month in which 

employment terminates shall count as a month of service if the date of resignation is after the 

15
th

 day of the month.  The Fire Department administration will post a report detailing each 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

16 

 

 

firefighter’s total accumulation of vacation hours.  Firefighters may take vacation time at any 515 

point throughout the year, but on January first of any year, all vacation balances will not be in a 

negative number.  It must be zero or greater.  It will be the responsibility of the Deputy Chief to 

make sure no one uses more time than they should.  

 

 Unless otherwise specified in this Article, vacation leave will be taken in increments of 520 

one-week periods (blocks).  For vacation leave purposes, a one-week period is defined as 

commencing on Sunday at 7:00 hours and ending on the following Saturday (at the end of the 

shift 07:00 hours). 

  

 Vacation leave will be deducted on an hour for hour basis with a minimum of a twenty-525 

four (24) hour time period (continuous block of time).  Thus, if two duty days fall within the 

vacation week, then forty-eight (48) hours will be deducted from the firefighter’s total hours 

accumulated.  Also if only one duty day falls within the vacation week, then twenty-four (24) 

hours will be deducted from the firefighter’s total vacation hours.   

  530 

Section 2 - Vacation Selection 

 

 Vacations shall be chosen by firefighters on the basis of total years of service in the 

department without regard for time served in a specific rank.  A maximum of two firefighters per 

battalion can be on vacation at the same time.   535 

 

 Vacation period selections for the upcoming calendar year shall commence with the 

initial department wide process conducted in the first full week of November starting on Monday 

and ending on Thursday of the present year. The Battalion Chief will notify all upcoming year 

shift members in writing of the date and time for vacation selection at least two (2) weeks prior 540 

to actual picking date.  During this period of time all vacation weeks will be picked.  Firefighters 

may decline to select any or all of their vacation periods during this process.  Any firefighter who 

declines to select their vacation period(s) during this process forfeits his selection and may not 

select his/her vacation periods until the vacation process is completed. The firefighter who 

declines to select their vacation period(s) must notify the Deputy Chief, or in his absence, the 545 

Chief, of his decision.   

 

 For purposes of record keeping, the firefighter’s declination(s) shall be noted (and 

initialed) in the appropriate block(s) on the cover sheet attached to his/her battalion’s schedule.  

 550 

 The selection of vacation periods earned for the upcoming calendar year shall take 

priority over all other earned periods of time off (including vacation periods carried over from 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

17 

 

 

the previous year).  During the month of November each firefighter, based on seniority, shall 

have the opportunity in a department wide process to:  

 555 

1.  Select/decline their first two seven (7) day vacation blocks (to be completed during the 

first full week of November on their duty day starting Monday). If an employee is not present 

during this time frame, he/she needs to leave a list with the Battalion Chief of the dates 

he/she wishes to take, as well as a phone number, so the Battalion Chief can contact the 

employee if the dates he/she has asked for are not available.  If the employee does not 560 

conform to this, he/she will forfeit their vacation selection and not be allowed to pick their 

vacation until after November 21st.  Any employee who passes on their picks at this point or 

any other point in the vacation selection process will not be allowed to pick the remaining 

vacation time until after November 21st.     

 565 

2.  After seven (7) years of service, select/decline their third seven (7) calendar day vacation 

block upon the battalion’s completion of step 1 (to be completed on the first duty day of that 

week), and then, 

 

3.  After fifteen (15) years of service, select/decline their fourth seven (7) calendar day 570 

vacation block upon the battalion’s completion of step 2. (Selection of fourth week block will 

be completed on the first duty day in the first week of November.) 

 

If firefighters are changing battalion, they shall select vacations dates with the battalion 

they will be working with in the upcoming year. 575 

 

 Upon completion of the November selection process, the battalion cover sheet and 

vacation selection process shall be forwarded to the Deputy Chief and a copy posted in the 

Battalion Chief’s office, at Engine 5 station and at Engine 2 station.  Following the completion of 

the November selection process, the firefighters may randomly substitute/exchange up to two 580 

vacation block weeks (48 on-duty hours per week) for up to four individual vacation days 

(twenty-four hour on-duty shifts).  The selection of individual vacation days shall commence no 

sooner than 11/21.  All requests for earned time off including carried over vacation periods, etc. 

for the upcoming calendar year shall not be accepted nor submitted prior to 07:00 hours on 

11/21.  All requests will be submitted through the Battalion Chief’s Office.  The requests shall be 585 

forwarded to a Battalion Chief in written form including the date of the request, time of day the 

request was submitted (hours:minutes), and the signature of the BC or his replacement.   

 

Section 3 - Vacation Changes 

 590 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

18 

 

 

 Any firefighter having declined to select a vacation period during the November process 

shall be allowed to select any unclaimed vacation period (less than two firefighters on vacation) 

for that calendar year.  The request shall be forwarded to the Battalion Chief in written form 

including the date of the request, time of day the request was submitted (hours:minutes), and 

signature of the BC or his replacement.  A firefighter’s change of a previously selected vacation 595 

period will not be allowed if it causes replacement hiring to maintain the minimum staffing level 

per battalion on a day when a floating holiday has already been confirmed.  A firefighter who 

requests vacation time that includes a day already approved as a floating holiday and that would 

cause replacement hiring to maintain minimum staffing level per battalion on that day will be 

responsible to find a swap or have to forego the change in vacation. 600 

 

 Firefighters shall be entitled to change vacations up to a total of four times per calendar 

year provided that notice of such change is approved by the Battalion Chief.  Approval or denial 

of the requested change shall be in written form.  Such approval by a Battalion Chief shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 605 

 

 A firefighter may accumulate an absolute maximum of 288 hours (six weeks @48 hours 

per week) at the end of any calendar year.  If the hours exceed 288 hours, all unused hours will 

be forfeited, except if a firefighter is unable to take vacation due to an on-the-job-injury or 

extended sick leave.  If a firefighter is unable to take vacation due to an OJI or extended sick 610 

leave, he/she can exceed the cap by 192 hours. 

 

 

Section 5 - Floating Holidays 

  615 

 Each firefighter is entitled to choose and take off one floating holiday per calendar year. 

From 07:00 hours on the Friday after vacation selection through 11/20, firefighters shall either 

pick or pass on selecting their floating holidays.  All requests will be submitted to the Battalion 

Chief’s office in written form including the date of the request, time of day the request was 

submitted (hours:minutes), and the signature of the BC or his replacement.  The BC will also 620 

sign, date and put time of submission on the form. The floating holidays may not be picked until 

after the vacations have been selected for that year.  Choice of date must be made by written 

notice addressed to a Battalion Chief. No firefighter may choose a holiday on a day on which 

his/her battalion would thereby be reduced below the apparatus staffing level (because of prior 

scheduled vacations, existing extended sick leave, on-the-job injuries, or other cause known at 625 

the time notice is given).   The Battalion Chief shall notify the requesting firefighter that his/her 

floating holiday date is confirmed, or that it is denied because it would cause a reduction in force 

below the staffing level per apparatus, within twenty-four (24) hours of the request.   The 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

19 

 

 

purpose of this provision is to allow the firefighter choosing a floating holiday to make advance 

plans for the enjoyment of that holiday, while minimizing the occasion on which the City will 630 

incur extra cost for replacement to maintain apparatus staffing.   

 

Floating holidays may not be carried over from one year to another without the approval 

of the Chief.  The Chief will consider any extenuating circumstances when approving or denying 

the carryover of floating holidays.  635 

 

ARTICLE XI - Sick Leave 

 

Section 1 - Use of Sick Leave   

 640 

 It is the expectation of the City of Auburn and I.A.F.F., Local 797 that firefighters will be 

available for duty.  However it is recognized from time to time, a firefighter will be absent due to 

illness.  Therefore firefighters shall accrue sick leave at a rate of thirteen (13) hours for each 

calendar month of service to be used for the firefighter's personal illness or for a member of the 

firefighter's "immediate family".  For purposes of this article, "immediate family" is defined as a 645 

spouse, significant other, child, or parent.  A firefighter absent because of any one or more of the 

foregoing reasons shall cause such fact to be reported to the officer in charge immediately.  A 

firefighter shall also be entitled to sick leave when his/her disability arises out of or in the course 

of actual gainful employment outside the Fire Department, except when he/she is receiving 

worker's compensation for injury or illness. A firefighter on sick leave shall call in when he/she 650 

is able to return to duty.   

 

 Actual hours of sick leave used shall be charged against a firefighter for each workday 

that he/she is absent from duty for any of the reasons set out in the first paragraph of this Article. 

 655 

Section 2 - Return to Work/Fitness for Duty   

 

 Any firefighter who is unable to work for eight (8) consecutive calendar days (counted 

beginning with the date of absence shown on the "Report of Absence" slip) or more due to 

personal injury or illness shall deliver a doctor's certificate before returning to work stating that 660 

the firefighter is fit for duty.  The expenses, if any, for obtaining the doctor's certificate shall be 

borne by the City, including reimbursement to the firefighter within one (1) week of submission 

of a request for reimbursement with attached receipt.  The officer on duty may require him/her to 

report to work if it is his/her regularly scheduled workday.  Such returning firefighters shall be 

charged for sick leave on a pro-rated basis, and his/her replacement, if any, shall be paid on a 665 

pro-rated basis. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

20 

 

 

 

Section 3 - Sick Leave Authentication 

 

 Every Month, the Fire Chief, or his designee and the Union President will review the sick 670 

leave records to determine if there is a potential pattern of sick leave abuse.  Such patterns might 

include but are not limited to the following be: 

 

1.  The firefighter uses sick days as soon as they are credited to him/her 

 675 

2.  High usage of sick leave for the firefighter or his immediate family without corresponding 

documentation as to the reasons for sick leave 

 

3.  Use of sick leave the shift before or the shift after scheduled vacation, floating holidays or 

swaps 680 

4.  Use of sick leave on the days for which leave had been previously requested, but denied 

 

5.  Use of sick leave on a particular day of the week 

 

6.  Use of sick leave which corresponds to an undesirable work assignment 685 

 

7.  Use of sick leave for a full 24 hour shift when the firefighter could have reported back to 

work for a partial shift 

 

 In any case, the Fire Chief or his designee may, in the exercise of his/her independent 690 

judgment, require further authentication of a claim for sick leave including a doctor's certificate 

as to the nature of the firefighter's disability and that he/she is unable to work.  Authentication 

may also be requested to verify that a firefighter is required to care for a family member.  The 

firefighter shall select the doctor from whom the certificate is to be obtained. Authentication 

must take place within 24 hours of the firefighter’s call onto the sick list. This should take place 695 

at the doctor’s office of the firefighter’s choice if possible. If this is not possible, then 

authentication will be obtained from an emergency department. Any expenses incurred in 

obtaining a doctor's certificate shall be borne by the City.  Pending receipt of such authentication, 

the City may withhold further sick leave payments.  

 700 

 If the Fire Chief or his/her designee notes a pattern of potential sick leave as described 

above, he may require the firefighter to provide a doctor's certificate each subsequent work day 

the firefighter is on sick leave until such time as the pattern is no longer evident or the amount of 

sick leave is substantially reduced. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

21 

 

 

 705 

Section 4 - Sick Leave Incentives   

 

 On a quarterly basis, the Union President and the Deputy Chief will assess the impact of 

the elimination of the Sick Leave Incentive Program on sick leave usage and will report back to 

the Labor Management Committee 710 

 

Section 5 - Wellness Incentive Days   

 

 Firefighters who participate in the City of Auburn Wellness Incentive Program and who 

have earned a Wellness Day Off may take time off by calling into the Battalion Chief no earlier 715 

than 6:00 a.m. to determine if his/her shift is within the apparatus staffing for the day.  If the shift 

does not have to hire extra personnel, the firefighter may have the shift off without being charged 

against his/her accrued sick or vacation leave.  If the apparatus is at minimum staffing, the 

firefighter may not use his/her Wellness Incentive Day on that day. 

 720 

Section 6 - Sick Bank  

 

 The City Manager may from time to time authorize a sick bank for individual employees 

on a case-by-case basis if they meet certain criteria.  If a firefighter voluntarily participates in a 

City-wide sick bank, the hours donated will be deducted from the firefighter’s accumulated sick 725 

and/or vacation leave.  The firefighter’s participation will not affect his/her eligibility for perfect 

attendance as per Article XI Section 4. 

 

ARTICLE XII - Grievance Procedure  

 730 

Section 1 - Grievance Procedure 

 

A grievance shall be defined as any dispute or disagreement raised by an employee in the 

bargaining unit or the City involving interpretation or application of the specific provisions of 

this collective bargaining agreement.  Grievances, when presented by the Union to the City or by 735 

the City to the Union shall state in writing what provision of the collective bargaining agreement 

has been violated, and how the agreement has been violated, and shall state what the requested 

remedy is. Grievances shall be settled as provided in the following sections. 

 

Section 2 - Firefighters Grievance 740 

 

Step 1.  The aggrieved firefighter shall first meet with the individual(s) with whom he/she has 

the issue in order to determine all the facts and to attempt to resolve the issue before 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

22 

 

 

proceeding with the grievance.  This meeting should be held as soon as reasonably 

possible. 745 

 

Step 2.  Any aggrieved firefighter shall submit his/her grievance to the Association. 

 

Step 3.  The Association may submit a grievance on its own behalf, or that of one or more of 

its members.  Any such grievance will be submitted by delivery in writing to the Fire 750 

Chief.  A grievance on behalf of less than all members of the Association shall be filed 

within thirty (30) calendar days after the aggrieved firefighter(s) knew, or should have 

known of the facts giving rise to the grievance.  A grievance on behalf of the Association 

itself, or of all of its members, shall be filed within thirty (30) calendar days after one or 

more of the Association elected officers knew, or should have known of the facts giving 755 

rise to the grievance.  Any grievance not filed within the thirty (30) calendar days time 

limit or, under any circumstances, within one (1) year of the time of occurrence that gave 

rise to the grievance shall not be considered timely and shall be deemed waived.  The Fire 

Chief shall issue a written response to the Association within ten (10) administrative 

working days of a receipt of a grievance. 760 

 

Step 4.  (Optional) If unsatisfied with the Fire Chief's action, the Association may request a 

meeting with the Assistant City Manager or Human Resources Director to review the 

grievance.  The meeting shall include all parties pertinent to the grievance and shall be held 

within ten (10) working days from the date of the Fire Chief’s decision.  765 

 

Step 5.  If unsatisfied with the Fire Chief's action, or the steps as outlined in Step 4 above, the 

Association may appeal in writing to the City Manager within ten (10) administrative 

working days after receipt of the Fire Chief's decision (or ten (10) administrative working 

days after meeting outlined in Step 4 above).  The City Manager will schedule and hear the 770 

appeal within ten (10) administrative working days after receipt of the notice of appeal. At 

this hearing the Association may present witnesses and evidence in support of their 

position.  The City Manager shall forthwith consider the appeal, witnesses and evidence 

and notify the Association of his/her decision within ten (10) administrative working days 

after the hearing takes place.  775 

 

Step 6.  If unsatisfied with the City Manager’s decision the Association, within ten (10) 

administrative working days  after receipt of the City Manager's decision, may advance the 

grievance to mediation pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965(2), Mediation, so as to have a  

mediator appointed from the Panel of Mediators  to assist the parties in resolving the 780 

grievance. Upon filing for mediation, the requesting party may simultaneously file for 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

23 

 

 

arbitration, provided the mediation be scheduled and take place prior to arbitration.  To 

expedite the process, the requesting party may provide the estimated share of providing the 

service and then be reimbursed pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A §965(5). Mediators 

appointed to grievances that are furthered to arbitration are not allowed to participate with 785 

the arbitration process.  Upon mutual consent, the City and Association may waive the 

preceding steps and progress to Arbitration.  

 

In the event the parties were unable to resolve the grievance, the grievance may be 

advanced to binding arbitration, by giving written notice of its intention to do so within ten 790 

(10) administrative working days after the conclusion of the mediation process. The parties 

shall agree upon a single neutral arbitrator from the Maine Board of Arbitration and 

Conciliation (MBAC) or if the parties are unable to agree, either party may request the 

American Arbitration Association (AAA) to assign an arbitrator. The request to the MBAC 

or AAA must be made within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of the mediation process. 795 

The arbitration shall be in accordance with the Rules of the MBAC or the AAA. The 

arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from or modify the provisions of this 

Agreement. The arbitrator shall be requested to issue his decision within thirty (30) days 

after the conclusion of the testimony and argument. The decision shall be final and binding 

upon the parties thereto although subject to appeal to the Maine Superior Court and Maine 800 

Supreme Judicial Court. 

 

Costs associated with this process and arbitrator decisions shall be determined by Title 26, 

M.R.S.A. §965.  

 805 

Section 3 - City Grievance 

 

The City shall notify the Association within thirty (30) days of the day it knows, or 

reasonably should have known the facts giving rise to the dispute.  Any grievances not filed 

within the thirty (30) day time limit, or, under any circumstances, within one year of the time of 810 

occurrence that gave rise to the grievance shall not be considered timely and shall be deemed 

waived.  Within ten (10) administrative working days thereafter, the parties shall meet to attempt 

to resolve the matter at the Labor Management Committee.   

 

If unsatisfied with the Labor Management process, the City within ten (10) administrative 815 

working days may advance the grievance to mediation pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965(2), 

Mediation, so as assist the parties in resolving the grievance. Upon filing for mediation, the 

requesting party may simultaneously file for arbitration, provided the mediation be scheduled 

and take place prior to arbitration.  To expedite the process, the requesting party may provide the 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

24 

 

 

estimated share of providing the service and then be reimbursed pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A 820 

§965(5). Subsequent and necessary action may be advanced within ten (10) administrative 

working days after receipt of the mediation process, whereby the parties were unable to effect a 

settlement of their controversy, by either party, pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965(4), 

Arbitration. Mediators appointed to controversies that are furthered to arbitration are not allowed 

to participate with the arbitration process. Upon mutual consent, the City and Association may 825 

waive the preceding steps to Arbitration. Costs associated with this process and arbitrator 

decisions shall be determined by Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965, Obligation to bargain, as amended.  

 

Section 4 - Extensions of Time Limits 

 830 

Time limits provided herein may be extended by written agreement of the parties.  

Request for extension shall not unreasonably be withheld. 

 

 

ARTICLE XIII - Leaves 835 

 

The Auburn Fire Department and the City of Auburn have a proprietary interest in ensuring the 

safety and security of its staff, citizens, and visitors. To that end it is the goal of both 

stakeholders to limit the amount of time that firefighters are away from their apparatus or 

stations. Evidence has proven that the earlier a sufficient number of trained responders arrive to 840 

manage an incident, regardless of nature, the faster the incident will be controlled increasing the 

chances of a positive outcome.   

 

Section 1 - Funeral Leave 

 845 

 Leave of absence without loss of pay and without loss of sick leave shall be granted to 

any firefighter for five (5) consecutive calendar days because of death of a spouse or child and 

three (3) consecutive calendar days because of a death in the immediate family, plus any actual 

travel time reasonably required to return from out-of-state.  Immediate family shall be defined to 

include mother, stepmother, father, stepfather, brother, stepbrother, sister, stepsister, father-in-850 

law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparents, 

spouse's grandparents, grandchildren and any other person living in the firefighter's household.  

Such leave shall commence not later than the date of interment.  Any additional time needed 

after the expiration of the three (3) day period shall be charged against the firefighter's sick leave.  

If the firefighter is unable to return to duty at the end of the five (5) or three (3) day period, 855 

he/she shall so notify the Battalion Chief on duty at Central Fire Station by the fifth or third day.   

 

 A firefighter may also be granted leave to attend the funerals of the persons not 

mentioned in the Article at the discretion of the Chief.  If the firefighter takes more than six (6) 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

25 

 

 

hours for the funeral for an individual not specifically mentioned in the list above, the entire time 860 

will be charged against the firefighter's accrued sick leave. 

 

Section 2 - Emergency Leave  

  

Any firefighter shall be permitted to leave immediately (without loss of pay) and without 865 

replacement on account of any emergency concerning his/her home or his/her family upon 

giving notice to the Battalion Chief or officer in charge, provided that he/she report within an 

hour after taking leave the amount of time that will be required to attend the emergency.  Any 

time away from work in excess of one (1) hour will be charged to sick leave. 

 870 

Section 3 - Errand Leaves  

 

 Errand Leave is an unplanned leave for taking care of non-emergency personal business, 

such as going to the bank to cash a check.  It is not meant for a long term absence of more than 

15 to 30 minutes or for planned events. These are reasonable conditions to be imposed on errand 875 

leave to accomplish the needed task. The Battalion Chief and the Acting Battalion Chief may 

approve errand leave and have the right to impose other restrictions on this leave or may allow 

for longer leave if the reason makes sense.  For normal errand leave 15 to 30 minutes will be the 

time limits to shoot for.  

Emergency leave is for an emergency, and not a leave to be used for in a planned event. 880 

Emergency leave is for those unplanned events that need your immediate attention such as an 

emergency concerning your family or your home. 

 

Section 4 - Association Meetings and Seminar Leave  

 885 

A firefighter shall be granted leave of absence without loss of pay to attend meetings or 

seminars approved by the Association provided, however, that such leave shall not exceed an 

accumulated total of three (3) on-duty working days, and provided further, that the City shall not 

be required to grant such leave if a replacement would have to be obtained in accordance with 

the staffing requirements established in Article XV, Section 1 of this Agreement. 890 

 

 

 

ARTICLE XIV - Exchange of Shifts and Transfers 

 895 

Section 1 - Exchange of Shifts  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

26 

 

 

Firefighters shall be permitted to exchange work shifts and off-duty shifts provided that: 

 

1.  Their replacements are qualified to perform their duties and provided, 900 

 

2.  Exchanges may be made for the purpose of engaging in gainful employment so long as 

such gainful employment involves activities directly related to the firefighter’s job duties 

and/or professional development.  Such an exchange must be pre-approved in writing by the 

Chief or his/her designee.  Approved exchanges for gainful employment shall not count 905 

towards the bank referenced below. 

 

3.  An employee whose loaned time off is being repaid may perform such work as he/she 

usually performs when not on duty with the Fire Department. 

  910 

4.  Exchanges being made for the purpose of satisfying military service requirements or 

approved education and training, shall not be counted towards the bank referenced in number 

five below for either the firefighter initiating or fulfilling “pay-back” the swap 

  

5.  Each firefighter shall have a bank of 288 hours from which he/she may draw for exchange 915 

of shifts in excess of twelve (12) hours.  Swaps of twelve (12) hours or less do not count 

toward the swap bank.  Swaps referenced in #7 below may also not count at the discretion of 

the Chief or his/her designee.  

 

6.  No more than three (3) firefighters on any work shift may be granted such exchanges 920 

except that, in the discretion of the Battalion Chief, additional exchanges may be permitted 

provided their replacements are qualified and no weakening in the department's firefighting 

capacity will result. 

  

7.  A firefighter may not be allowed to participate in 24-hour exchanges of shifts which 925 

would cause him to be off-duty for more than four consecutive work cycles (a work cycle is 

defined as one 24 hour period on-duty followed by three 24 hour periods off-duty) unless 

approved by the Chief or his/her designee.  Situations qualifying for such approval include 

but shall not be limited to military leave, educational endeavors, and extended illness/injury.  

F..  930 

 

8.  The Battalion Chief may approve swaps according to these guidelines except as noted 

elsewhere in this article.  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

27 

 

 

 This exchange of twenty-four (24) hour shift limitation shall not affect vacation or other 935 

off-duty time provided for in this agreement and is not intended to prevent individuals from 

coordinating exchanges of shift with vacations or other off-duty time provided for in this 

agreement. 

 

 The limitation on the number of allowable exchanges of twenty-four hour shifts shall not 940 

affect occasions when the firefighter requests a swap for the purposes of attending a job-related 

seminar, course or other educational program, provided that the firefighter has the proper 

documentation as to the nature and schedule of the seminar, course, etc., and has received prior 

approval from the Chief or his designee. 

 945 

 If a firefighter who is due to work the shift of another on account of an exchange 

becomes ill or is injured off the job more than 24 hours prior to the time he/she is due to report 

for that shift, it is that firefighter's responsibility to find a replacement so that the exchange does 

not cost the City additional money in the form of overtime for a replacement.  If a firefighter 

who is due to work the shift of another is injured on the job more than seventy-two (72) hours 950 

prior to the time he/she is due to report for duty, it is that firefighter's responsibility to find a 

replacement so that the exchange does not cost the City additional money in the form of overtime 

for a replacement.  If such a replacement is not found, the firefighter shall be responsible for 

reimbursing the City in the amount of the difference between what his regular pay would have 

been for that shift and the amount actually paid to the person who replaced him/her. 955 

 

Section 2 - Transfers, Permanent Positions, Bidding, EMT Assignments 

 

 1. Vacancies:  When a permanent vacancy occurs in a position, transfers will be governed by 

the provisions of this article.  As used in this article a "vacancy" shall mean a position not 960 

occupied due to death, retirement, transfer, resignation, dismissal, promotion of an incumbent or 

an unfilled newly created position.  When a vacancy occurs rank for rank picking by seniority 

will be done within the battalion that has the vacancy.  Only the affected rank will pick.  If the 

selection creates a non-EMS unit, refer to Section 2-5. 

 965 

2. Establishing Permanent Positions:  On the first Wednesday of every otherOctober 

commencing in 2002, each member will be given the opportunity to pick his permanent 

assignment from any of the remaining positions in his rank.  An Executive Committee member 

will assist the Deputy Chief in the administration of this transfer process. The most senior 

Battalion Chief will pick first having four (4) choices.  The next senior Battalion Chief will have 970 

three (3) choices, etc., until all Battalion Chiefs have picked.  The next picking will be done by 

the Captains, Lieutenants and the Privates observing the same procedure.  After all members 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

28 

 

 

have picked according to the provisions of this section they will be in their permanent positions.  

If a member is not available to make this selection, a prioritized list of selections must be left in 

writing with the Deputy Chief.  All transfers will take effect on the first Sunday in January.   975 

 

3. Bidding:  Every year (except when establishing permanent positions) during the last two 

weeks in September any member who would like to change his position shall put it in writing in 

a sealed envelope and submit it to the Deputy Chief.  Those positions will be put into a pool and 

are the only positions up for bid.  All bids will be awarded in order of seniority according to 980 

rank.  Members who have not submitted their position to the pool will not be allowed to bid.  

Posting date will be October 1st, and will include all available positions and personnel by rank 

and seniority.  Bidding will be done during the first two weeks in October. 

 

4. Seniority:  Transfers shall be rank for rank and seniority is defined as time in rank.  “Time-in-985 

rank” seniority is defined as the length of continuous service in their present rank from the date 

of promotion, less any adjustments due to approved leaves of absence without pay (unless 

otherwise agreed by the City Manager). 

 

In the case of an officer who has been reduced in rank, that officer’s time-in-rank 990 

seniority shall be considered to be the length of continuous service in that particular rank 

including the time the officer was in the rank from which he was reduced.  If time in rank is 

equal, then time in the Department prevails.  

 

5. EMT Assignment Procedures:   995 

 

(a)  The rescue crew shall consist of a State of Maine licensed paramedic and at least a State 

of Maine licensed EMS provider. 

 

(b)  All pumps will have at least one State of Maine licensed EMS provider assigned to it. 1000 

 

(c)  Paramedics will be distributed as equally as possible between the battalion. 

 

(d)  If a pump/rescue does not have a State of Maine licensed EMS provider assigned to it 

after establishing permanent positions, the senior State of Maine licensed provider of the 1005 

same rank on the battalion will be asked to go to the pump/rescue that is lacking a State of 

Maine licensed EMS provider.  If he chooses that assignment he will bump the junior person 

of the same rank on that truck.  The person who got bumped has the right to go to the 

firefighter on the battalion that he is most senior to and bump him, that following suit until 

everyone has a position.  If he chooses, he can go to the vacant spot held by the State of 1010 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

29 

 

 

Maine licensedEMS provider that is moving.  If the senior State of Maine licensed EMS 

provider of the same rankdoes not want to move, the next senior State of Maine licensed 

EMS provider of the same rank on the battalion will be asked to go to that position 

continuing the same procedure as described above.  This process will be repeated until all 

pumps/rescue have State of Maine EMS provider assigned to it.  If the EMS position is not 1015 

filled, the junior State of Maine EMS provider of the same rank on that battalion will assume 

that position. 

 

6. Filling of a Temporary Vacancy:  This situation is intended to cover long term vacancies of 

one month or more such as leaves of absence, on the job injuries and/or extended sick leave a 1020 

firefighter from an unaffected battalion may volunteer to fill the vacant position after the need 

for the vacancy has been posted. The specific criteria (such as rank and EMS licensure level) will 

be identified in the posting and only those that fit the criteria may apply. The vacancy will be 

posted for two work cycles (8 days). Any firefighter who would like to volunteer to fill the 

temporary vacancy shall do so in writing to the Deputy Chief.  The most volunteer with the most 1025 

seniority will be selected.  

 

 Should no firefighter volunteer to fill the temporary vacancy, then the Chief will select a 

firefighter to do so from an unaffected battalion. Those firefighters filling temporary vacancies 

may take previously selected vacations and floating holidays, even though it will cause a 1030 

decrease in the minimum apparatus staffing for those days. The Chief will take into 

consideration other types of negative impacts the firefighter may have when filling the temporary 

vacancy.   The firefighter who is assigned to fill the temporary vacancy will go back to his 

previous assignment when the absent firefighter returns to the department or the vacancy 

becomes permanent. If the bidding for the temporary vacancy creates a non-EMS pump/rescue, 1035 

refer to Sec. 2-5. 

 

 

 

 1040 

 

 

ARTICLE XV - Recall to Work 

  

Section 1 - Off-Duty  1045 

 

 Off-duty firefighters may be recalled to duty in the case of multiple alarms, major 

emergencies, or when staffing per apparatus is below the required level. The required minimum 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

30 

 

 

staffing level for each structural engine company is three (3); aerial company is four (4) and one 

Battalion Chief. The City and the Association agree to reduce the aerial company requirement to 1050 

three (3) upon implementation of additional EMS transport services, except that the Chief may 

increase the staffing requirements when conditions reasonably warrant his/her doing so. 

 

Staffing for other apparatus not listed above will be at the discretion of the Fire Chief or 

designee.   1055 

 

 Stand-by duty shall no longer be required provided that a sufficient number of firefighters 

return to duty for multiple alarms or major emergencies.  If a sufficient number of firefighters do 

not return to duty, in the judgment of the Chief, up to four (4) firefighters may be required to 

serve on stand-by.  All firefighters will be called on multiple alarms and box 33's unless canceled 1060 

by the Incident Commander. 

 

 The firefighter will be notified of second alarms and/or Box 33's by telephone (primary 

notification) and/or by pager (secondary notification).  Acknowledgment of arrival time occurs 

when the firefighter reports for duty at the station or substation and is logged on to the Battalion 1065 

Chief's multiple alarm sheets. 

 

 The time of work performed in the case of multiple alarms shall be computed from the 

time of notification based upon the nearest quarter hour, except that any firefighter reporting 

more than thirty (30) minutes after notification of the alarm shall be paid for work performed 1070 

computed from actual reporting.  Any firefighter must report within thirty (30) minutes from the 

time the firefighter is notified of a multiple alarm to be eligible for the three hours of time and a 

half for a minimum payment. 

 

 Any firefighter responding to a multiple alarm arriving more than one (1) hour prior to 1075 

the time that he/she would otherwise have been required to report for duty shall receive a 

minimum of $50.00. 

 

Section 2 - Replacement Coverage Turns    

 1080 

 When staffing falls below requirements as set forth in Article XV, Section 1, 

replacements shall be obtained from the extra work list.  When there is no EMT on duty and 

additional staff is required, the City shall recall an EMT as the name appears on the extra work 

list or compulsory work list.  If there are no firefighters/EMTs willing to work, replacements 

shall then be obtained from the compulsory work list.  Any firefighter or firefighter/EMT 1085 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

31 

 

 

selected to work from the compulsory work list shall have the right to find his/her own 

replacement.   

 

When hiring replacement, the Department will follow the Rules for Overtime Hiring.  

 1090 

ARTICLE XVI - Health and Safety 

 

Section  1 - Health Promotion Program and Employee Cost Share   

 

Firefighters and the City agree to implement a Health Promotion Program with the following 1095 

goals: 

 

1.  To promote wellness and health by rewarding employees and their dependents for healthy 

behavior that will encourage employees to develop and maintain healthy habits;  

 1100 

2.  To reduce the overall need for health care services by City employees and their 

dependents; and, 

 

3. To slow the rate of increase in the City’s health insurance premiums.  

 1105 

 Employees (and the spouse if applicable) who participate in the Health Promotion 

Program and make their best efforts to achieve health management goals will pay a minimum of 

15% of the monthly premiums.  Employees who do not participate in the health Promotion 

Program will pay a maximum of 25% of the monthly premiums, as established by the Maine 

Municipal Employees Health Trust (or alternative health insurance carrier); regardless if the 1110 

employee is in a single, single parent or family plan. Firefighters remaining on the indemnity 

plan will absorb the difference in the cost share between the point of service plan and the 

indemnity plan. The City will pay no more for the indemnity plan than for the Point of Service 

Plan. The employee's contribution will be withheld on a weekly basis, based upon 48 weeks in 

the calendar year. 1115 

 

 In the event that the Health Promotion Program is eliminated, through loss of funding or 

any other reason, the employee cost share will continue to be 15% of monthly premiums for the 

life of this agreement.  

 1120 

A full description of the health Promotion Program is attached as Appendix A. 

 

Section  2 - Health Insurance 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

32 

 

 

 The Association recognizes the increasing cost of providing health insurance to 1125 

employees.  To assist the City in addressing this mutual concern, the Association will join with 

the City in its efforts to provide further education and information for members in regards to the 

use of MMEHT cost containment benefit guidelines. 

 

 The City may change or offer alternative health insurance programs including, but not 1130 

limited to insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations, 

or to self-insure so long as the new or alternative coverage and benefits are substantially similar 

to the plan most recently provided to the membership and further provided that: 

 

1. The City, by written communication, notifies the Association, no less than sixty days prior 1135 

to implementation, of the specific details of any changes or alternatives in health insurance. 

 

2. That the City, subsequent to the written notification but within sixty days, meets with the 

Association to discuss the changes or alternatives. 

 1140 

3. That any disagreement between the parties to this labor contract as to the changes or 

alternatives being "substantially similar" be resolved by arbitration. 

 

4. That such changes or alternatives shall not increase the financial burden places upon 

employees above the current level. 1145 

 

 The City may institute cost containment measures relative to insurance coverage so long 

as the basic level of insurance benefits remains "substantially similar" to the current coverage 

and no financial burden is incurred by the employees.  Such changes may include, but are not 

limited to, mandatory second opinions for elective surgery, pre-admission and continuing 1150 

admission review, prohibition on weekend admission except in emergency situations, and 

mandatory out-patient elective surgery for certain designated surgical procedures. 

 

 The City shall provide adequate staff assistance to help firefighter’s process claim forms, 

including mailing of claims and medical forms to health care providers. 1155 

 

Section  3 - Payment Program for Waiving Health Insurance Coverage with the City of Auburn         

 

 Any firefighter may elect to waive coverage in the City's health insurance plan.  Any 

firefighter waiving full coverage or partial coverage for which he/she would otherwise be 1160 

eligible shall be paid according to the following conditions: 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

33 

 

 

Any firefighter eligible for full family coverage or single coverage and who elects to 

waive health insurance coverage shall receive a payment equal to the amount of five (5) months 

of health insurance premiums. Effective 7/1/05, the waiver payments will be made in twelve (12) 1165 

monthly payments.  

 

A firefighter who is eligible for a full family plan but opts to take either a "single parent 

plan" or a "single plan" shall receive an annual payment equal to five months of the difference in 

premiums between the plan for which he/she is eligible and the plan which he/she opts to take. 1170 

 

Firefighters who are married to other City (non-school) employees covered by the health 

insurance shall be eligible for an amount equal to five (5) months of insurance premiums at the 

single rate if he/she waives health insurance coverage with the City. 

 1175 

The payments in lieu of health insurance shall be based on the premiums in effect the 

month the premiums are paid. 

 

A new firefighter who waives health insurance coverage shall not be eligible for the 

payment in lieu of insurance until he/she has successfully completed the probationary period. 1180 

 

If the firefighter wishes to be reinstated on the health insurance policy or change his/her 

coverage from a single or a single parent plan (if he/she would otherwise be eligible for full 

coverage) he/she may do so as long as he or she follows the insurance carrier's requirements for 

evidence of insurability and portability of coverage provisions. 1185 

 

If a firefighter is reinstated (or covered for the first time) after receiving payment for 

waiving health insurance coverage, the firefighter shall repay the City the balance of the 

payment, pro-rated on a monthly basis. 

 1190 

In order to receive payment for waiving health insurance coverage or to be reinstated on 

the health insurance plan, the firefighter must submit written notice to the Human Resources 

Director.  Discontinuance of health insurance or reinstatement of coverage will be effective the 

first day of the following month in which written notice has been received, provided that the 

employee meets all conditions, which may be imposed by the health insurance carrier. 1195 

 

Section  4 - Extent of Coverage   

 

 The extent of coverage provided under the existing insurance policies (including HMO 

and self-insured plans) referred to in the Agreement shall be governed by the terms and 1200 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

34 

 

 

conditions set forth in said policies or plans in existence at the time of the dispute.  Any 

questions or disputes concerning said insurance policies or plans or benefits hereunder shall be 

resolved in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in said policies or plans and shall 

not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in the Agreement.  The failure 

of any insurance carrier(s) or plan administrator(s) to provide any benefit for which it has 1205 

contracted or is obligated shall result in no liability to the City, nor shall such failure be 

considered a breach by the City of any obligation undertaken under this or any other Agreement. 

 

Section  5 - Benefits Supplementing Workers' Compensation Benefits   

 1210 

 If a firefighter receives a personal injury or is disabled by occupational disease arising out 

of and in the course of his/her employment by the City, the City will, provided that the 

provisions of this Article are met by the firefighter, continue his/her full contract wages and other 

benefits, without interruption or waiting period, so long as he/she is incapacitated to perform 

firefighter's work as a result of the personal injury or occupational disease.  The City has the 1215 

right to contest a worker’s workers’ compensation claim.  Such a claim will be appealed and 

resolved according to the procedures provided by the workers’ compensation statutes and 

regulations. 

 

 An aggrieved firefighter may seek relief only under the Workers' Compensation Act 1220 

before the Workers' Compensation Commission.  In the event of a final decision by the Workers' 

Compensation Commission that the firefighter' injury or illness arose out of and in the course of 

his/her employment with the City, and incapacitated him/her for his/her work as a firefighter, 

then, in addition to benefits payable under the Workers' Compensation Act, the City shall 

provide the firefighter all additional benefits due under this contract, if any, retroactive to the 1225 

date of incapacity.  No firefighter shall receive any combination of benefits from the City or its 

Workers' Compensation carrier, including, but not limited to sick pay and vacation pay, which 

benefits total more than such employee's benefits under this contract, or the Workers' 

Compensation Act, whichever is greater.  No firefighter shall lose sick pay benefits during time 

he/she is entitled to benefits under this section. 1230 

 

 The firefighter who is receiving or claims benefits under this Article shall, if requested by 

the City, promptly file a claim for Worker's Workers’ Compensation benefits.  Otherwise, the 

employee may exercise rights under Workers' Compensation Act as he/she wishes, or not.  If a 

claim for Workers' Compensation benefits is not filed within thirty (30) days after receipt of a 1235 

written request making reference to this provision in the contract, then the City may terminate 

wages provided under this Article unless and until the firefighter files the requested claim. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

35 

 

 

 Upon filing a claim for continuation of wages under this Article, the firefighter shall, 

upon request by the City, execute a certificate authorizing the City to obtain in writing from any 1240 

physician, osteopath, chiropractor, or any other health care provider, any written information 

which is or has been obtained in connection with the examination or treatment of the employee 

and which relates to any injury or disease for which compensation is claimed. 

 

 The City shall have, for any benefits paid a firefighter pursuant to this Article, the 1245 

identical lien and rights as against third parties and the firefighter as the City or its insurance 

carrier may give as regards worker's compensation benefits under 39 M.R.S.A.§68.  At the 

request of the City, the firefighter shall sign such documents and perform such acts as are 

reasonably required in order to effectively subrogate the City to the firefighter's claim(s). 

 1250 

The rights of the City and the firefighter under this Article are in addition to and not 

limited by the Worker's Workers’ Compensation Act of the State of Maine and regulations 

issued pursuant thereto. 

 

Section  6 - Expense of Injury or Illness 1255 

 

 The City shall pay all hospital, medical, and surgical expenses incurred by any 

firefighters on account of injury or illness arising out of and during the course of their 

employment; except that it shall not be required to pay for any such expenses which are covered 

by insurance provided by the City or otherwise assumed by the City. 1260 

 

Section  7 - Light Duty Return to Work  

 

 The City and Local 797, IAFF agree to continue the Light Duty Return-to-Work Program 

for firefighters. The goal of the program is: 1265 

 

1.  To assist the firefighter in the return to his/her pre-injury position with the Fire 

Department; 

 

2.  To provide some “connectedness of the firefighter to the Department; 1270 

 

3.  To speed the recovery process; 

 

4.  To provide for meaningful work for the Department and the Firefighter; 

 1275 

5.  To make maximum use of the Firefighter’s skills and abilities. To that end, the City has 

defined specific work assignments or light duty activities that will be made available to 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

36 

 

 

employees injured at work who are unable for period of time, as defined in this section, to 

perform their regular firefighting duties. 

 1280 

a. No light duty assignment shall result in the transfer, displacement, or lay-off of another 

firefighter, nor shall any assignment be made for the purpose of demeaning, 

discriminating or punishing the employee for his/her injury, illness, or absence from 

work. 

 1285 

b. The individual participating in the light duty program will not count toward the 

minimal apparatus staffing level on duty for that shift. 

 

c. The injured employee will not be required to work on any other shift that his battalion 

would normally work, unless mutually agreed between the firefighter and the City.  If 1290 

mutually agreed between the firefighter and the City, the firefighter will work the 

administrative work schedule (8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m. M-F) or an alternative flexible 

schedule to be determined on a case by case basis.  It is understood that any alternate 

schedule will be based upon an average of a 42 hour work week.  The firefighter will not 

be required to work for any other department than the Fire Department, unless mutually 1295 

agreed upon between the City and the firefighter. 

 

d. The employee on light duty will receive full pay and benefits as provided by Article 

XVI Health and Safety, Section 5. Benefits Supplementing Workers' Compensation 

Benefits.   1300 

 

e.  In order to improve the effectiveness of the Light Duty Return to Work Program, and 

to fully utilize the skills and abilities of the injured firefighter, the Deputy Chief, the 

Battalion Chief on-duty and the injured firefighter will meet at the beginning of the shift 

to discuss the firefighter's medical restrictions; the work that falls within the medical 1305 

restrictions that need to be performed that day; the firefighter’s special training, expertise 

or interests; and the firefighters suggestions for ways that he/she might best enhance the 

Department’s operations while on light duty  

 

At the end of each shift, the firefighter on light duty will provide a description of the 1310 

activities performed during the shift and will turn this record into the Battalion Chief at 

the end of each shift 

 

f.  The firefighter may be on light duty status for a maximum of one year, or until he/she 

reaches maximum medical improvement, or until he/she is able to return to regular status, 1315 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

37 

 

 

whichever occurs first.  A firefighter's medical condition will be reviewed at least 

quarterly (more frequently if necessary) to determine if the firefighter is still unable to 

return to firefighter duties. 

 

g. The hours worked on light duty will be turned into the City's worker's workers’ 1320 

compensation claims manager weekly in order that the worker's workers’ compensation 

benefit may be re-calculated.  This will have no effect on the firefighter's regular wages 

from the City, as the firefighter will endorse the worker's workers’ compensation check 

over to the City as is current practice. 

 1325 

h. No firefighter will be required to perform light duty activities that are not within the 

employee's work capacity.  If the employee and the Fire Chief are unable to reach 

agreement as to the employee's capacity to perform any light duty job, the Chief or his 

designee will submit a written light duty job description to the department designated 

physician for his/her determination that the proposed duties are within the employee's 1330 

work capacity. 

 

I.  Light duty assignments may be filled by the firefighter who is unable to perform 

regular duty as a result of an off-the-job illness or injury as long as the following 

conditions are met: 1335 

 

                  i.  Participation is on a voluntary basis; 

 

ii.  The firefighter has exhausted his accrued sick leave; 

  1340 

iii.  There is a light duty position available.  Light duty positions will be filled first by 

firefighters who are unable to return to regular duty as a result of an on-the-job illness 

or injury. 

 

iv  The firefighter may be in light duty capacity for a maximum of three months, or 1345 

until he/she reaches maximum medical improvement, or until he/she is able to return 

to regular duty, whichever is soonest. 

 

v. Firefighters on light duty due to an off-the-job illness or injury will 

 work the administrative work schedule (8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m. M-F). 1350 

 

vi.  Firefighters on light duty due to an off-the-job illness or injury will receive 

payment only for those hours actually worked. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

38 

 

 

 

j.  The department will develop a list of light duty activities for the firefighter.  It will be 1355 

management's right as to which activity is filled by which firefighter.  It shall be the 

responsibility of the Fire Chief or his designee to match the work capacity skills and 

abilities of the firefighter with the light duty activities available at the time of the injury. 

 

Section  8 - Damage to Glasses and Teeth  1360 

 

 The City shall pay all expenses incurred by a firefighter for loss or damage of eyeglasses, 

false teeth, and hearing aids while on an emergency call.  This benefit shall not diminish any 

benefits available under the Workers' Compensation Act. 

 1365 

Section  9 - Department Physician          

 

 The City of Auburn may retain a department designated physician to be the primary 

contact for all work related injuries, to oversee the Respiratory Fitness Program and for other 

situations when in the judgment of the Fire Chief, medical consultation regarding a firefighter's 1370 

fitness for duty is needed.   

 

In recognition of the essential job functions, which require the firefighter to be in good 

physical condition, the City and the firefighter have mutual interest in the firefighter's overall 

health and well-being.  Firefighters are strongly encouraged to have regular exams on a schedule 1375 

set forth by their primary care physician and to discuss with their primary care physician the 

physical demands of their profession.  The City offers a comprehensive health insurance 

package, as well as an Employee Assistance Program and Wellness related programs, which 

defray the costs of annual medical exams and follow-up treatment. 

 1380 

Section  10 - Substance Abuse Testing Program    

 

 The City of Auburn and Local 797 will reach agreement on all sections of the Substance 

Abuse Testing Policy for firefighters before it is submitted to the Department of Labor for 

approval.  If the Substance Abuse Testing Policy is found not to be in compliance with state 1385 

statutes, the City and the Union agree to reopen the contract for purposes of renegotiating only 

those specific sections of the Substance Abuse Testing Policy found not to be in compliance.  

These sections will be resubmitted to the Department of Labor for approval. 

 

 No substance abuse test will be administered until the Substance Abuse Testing Policy 1390 

for firefighters (attached as an addendum to this contract) has been approved by the Department 

of Labor and all regulations pertaining to implementation have been met. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

39 

 

 

 

Section  11 - General Safety  

 1395 

 The Health and Safety Team will continue to consider and make recommendations on 

safety issues.   

 

 ARTICLE XVII - Separation from Department 

 1400 

Section 1 - Retirement 

 

 The members of the Auburn Fire Department participate in the Maine State Retirement 

System Consolidation Plan -- Special Plan II.  Firefighters shall be eligible to retire after twenty-

five (25) years of service as defined by Maine State Retirement System. 1405 

 

Section 2 - Vacation Cashout  

 

 If a firefighter separates from the department with accrued and unused vacation hours, 

he/she will entitled to “cash out” the unused vacation hours according to the following 1410 

parameters:   

 

1.  Up to 288 hours. 

 

2.  Up to 480 hours if on OJI or extended sick leave. 1415 

 

 Upon separation, if the firefighter’s vacation bank is in the negative, the hours will be 

deducted from the firefighter’s last paycheck.  

 

For purposes of “cashing out” unused vacation time, each period/week of vacation time 1420 

shall be calculated as being equivalent to forty-two hours at the firefighters regular rate of pay.  

A vacation hour is equivalent to .875 pay hours (48 times .875 equals 42 hours at regular rate of 

pay. 

 

Section 3 - Cashout of Accrued Sick Leave   1425 

 

 One-half (1/2) of the accumulated sick leave, subject to a maximum of 720 hours, shall 

be paid the firefighter upon involuntary separation or retirement, resignation with ten (10) years 

or more of service with the City of Auburn.  In the event of a non-work related death of a 

firefighter, 50% of the accrued sick leave up to a maximum of 720 hours will be paid to the 1430 

firefighter’s beneficiaries. In the event that a firefighter dies in the line of duty, 100% of the 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

40 

 

 

firefighter's accumulated sick leave will be paid to the firefighter's beneficiary. The City's 

obligations in this regard shall be satisfied by payment, in the discretion of the Manager, to the 

deceased's estate, his/her administrator or executor, or his/her widow/widower or children, or 

other person(s) designated in writing by the deceased. 1435 

 

Section 4 - Compensatory Time  

 

Any accrued but unused compensatory time will be paid to the firefighter upon separation 

from the department. 1440 

 

 

Section 5 - Uniform Reimbursement  

 

 The balance in the uniform reimbursement account will be paid in cash in the event of the 1445 

firefighter’s separation from service (retirement, resignation etc.).  Any cash payment from this 

account will be taxed. 

 

 Upon termination of employment, the department member, except those whose 

employment date was prior to April 1, 1971, or after October 1, 1979, shall reimburse the City 1450 

for that portion of the clothing allowance paid but not earned.  The earned portion of clothing 

allowance shall consist of the number of months in the final year of employment that a person 

has been on duty.  In this instance, "on duty" refers to separation date from the department. 

 

Section 6 - Lay-offs 1455 

 

 Lay-off – In the event it becomes necessary for the City to lay-off firefighters for any 

reason(s), the firefighters shall be laid off in the inverse order of seniority by rank.  Any officer 

selected to be laid off may elect to accept a reduction in rank in which case the least senior 

member of the Department in the next lowest rank shall be laid off or reduced in rank if a lower 1460 

rank is available.  Any officer electing to accept a reduction in rank in lieu of a proposed lay-off 

must be qualified as determined by the Fire Chief to assume the duties of the new position.  If 

there is a conflict between seniority during a lay-off and assignment of paramedics in accordance 

to Section 2-5 EMT Assignments, Section 2-5 of the contract shall have precedence. 

 1465 

 In the event the Department must make deep personnel cuts which result in lay-off of 

50% of the firefighters, the Fire Chief will have complete discretion as to who will be laid off as 

long as he/she can demonstrate the reasons for his/her selections.  Continuous time in the 

Department will be given the utmost consideration when these selections are made. 

 1470 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

41 

 

 

If possible, the City will provide a two-week notice to the firefighters affected by the lay-

offs. 

 

 Recall – The firefighters who are laid off shall be placed on a recall list for a period of 

one year.  Firefighters who are reduced in rank will be placed on a reinstatement list. If there is a 1475 

recall, firefighters who are on the recall list shall be recalled or reinstated to their original rank in 

the inverse order of their lay-off or reduction in rank provided that they are presently qualified to 

perform the duties as determined by the Chief.  The firefighters will be required to take a medical 

exam and a substance abuse test to determine if he/she is physically fit to perform the essential 

job functions of the job.  It is the responsibility of the firefighter to provide the Fire Department 1480 

and the Human Resources Department with a current address and telephone number.  Notice of 

recall will be sent to the firefighter by certified mail.  The firefighter has ten (10) working days 

to respond to the recall notice. 

 

 No new firefighters will be hired within this one-year period unless all the laid-off 1485 

firefighters have been afforded the recall. 

 

ARTICLE XVIII - Miscellaneous Provisions 

 

Section 1 - Uniform Reimbursement Policy  1490 

 

The City will establish a reimbursable uniform account similar to the Wellness Account.  

An amount equal to the following amounts will be credited to the firefighter on July 1
st
 of each 

year: 

         1495 

   Probationary and Permanent Firefighter – $310.00 

   Captain -- $335.00 

   Battalion Chief -- $335.00 

 

 In addition to the above, the City will purchase full dress uniforms for those members of 1500 

the department required to wear such uniforms at any time. The City will reimburse the 

firefighter $100.00 toward the purchase of a new uniform jacket on a one time basis only. 

 

a. Procedures for submitting bills: The firefighter will purchase the uniforms as per the 

attached list and then submit the receipts to the AFD administrative office personnel.  The 1505 

administrative personnel will forward the receipts to the Finance Department for 

reimbursement to the firefighter.  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

42 

 

 

b. Accrual:  The entire uniform credit does not have to be drawn down completely each year.  

The unexpended balance in the uniform account may roll over from one year to the next.  In 1510 

this way, the firefighter may use the accrual from more than one year to make large 

infrequent uniform purchases such as structural firefighting boots. The Labor Management 

Committee will monitor the usage of the uniform reimbursement account.  If it appears that 

firefighters are not drawing down the balance in the accounts over a two to three year period, 

then the Labor Management Committee will consider the implementation of caps on the 1515 

maximum amount that can be carried over from one year to the following year (uniform 

accrual). 

 

c. List of approved uniform items: The firefighter may submit receipts for reimbursement for 

uniform clothing as specified in the uniform policy in the AFD Employee Handbook.  Items 1520 

purchased through the uniform reimbursement account must meet IRS regulations in order to 

be tax exempt.  This list is subject to change if the Department uniform policy changes. 

  

Section 2 - Use of Telephones 

 1525 

 Firefighters shall be permitted to have the use of one (1) telephone line at the Central Fire 

Station (plus one (1) extension), Engine 2 and Engine 5 for outside calls, provided that such calls 

shall be limited to a reasonable time.  As of January 1, 1982, the Association will be responsible 

for long distance charges incurred on the private phone line at the Central Fire Station, Engine 2 

and Engine 5. 1530 

 

Section 3 - Association Meetings  

 

 The Auburn Firefighters Association shall be permitted to hold regularly scheduled 

meetings at the Central Fire Station but substation firefighters shall not be called in by the 1535 

Association.  The Association shall also be permitted to hold four (4) meetings per year at the 

Central Fire Station at which all units shall be allowed to attend.  In addition to the above, the 

Association shall be granted the right to hold additional meetings at Central Station where such 

are required solely for the purpose of submitting a proposed collective bargaining agreement to 

the membership for ratification and to include all units at such meetings.  The Chief shall be 1540 

notified of any such special meetings in advance. 

 

Section 4 - Written Reprimands  

 

 A written reprimand which has not previously been the subject of a hearing shall not be 1545 

placed in a member's personnel file unless the member is first given the opportunity to see a copy 

of the reprimand.  Within five (5) days thereafter, the member may file a written reply.  If the 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

43 

 

 

Chief thereafter places the written reprimand in the member's personnel file, he/she shall also 

include the reply.  Two years after the incident, a firefighter may submit a request to the Chief 

that single incidents be purged from his/her file, such request to be determined by a three 1550 

member committee composed of:  The City Manager or designee, the Chief of the Fire 

Department, and the Association President or designee (who shall serve on the committee only at 

the request of the individual). 

 

Section 5 - Indemnity  1555 

 

 The City agrees to protect, save harmless, and indemnify a firefighter from and against all 

fines, penalties, loss, damage, cost and expense suffered or sustained by him/her or for which 

he/she may be held or become liable by reason or injury, including death, to persons or property, 

or other causes whatsoever, in the event an attempt should be made to hold him/her liable 1560 

therefore in connection with the performance of his/her duties as a firefighter, including, without 

limitation on the foregoing, the operation of Fire Department vehicles and apparatus. 

 

Section 6 - Residence of Firefighters  

 1565 

 Firefighters may live in any location.  The lack of a residency requirement may be re-

evaluated in terms of impact on the department. 

 

Section 7 - Jury Duty and Court Appearances  

 1570 

 Requirements of jury duty for firefighters shall be as outlined in the Administrative 

Manual of the City of Auburn, however, if the firefighter is excused by the court for any reason, 

he/she shall be required to return promptly thereafter unless the time of release is less than one 

hour of the time the firefighter tour of duty is scheduled to end. 

 1575 

 Fire Department personnel covered by this Agreement required to make an off-duty 

attendance at court for purposes directly related to their work as Auburn Firefighters shall 

receive a minimum of three (3) hours pay at his/her regular base hourly rate for each such 

attendance or time and one-half (1 1/2) his/her regular base hourly rate for all hours in 

attendance, whichever is greater.  Any compensation (from other than the City) received by 1580 

firefighters for attendance at any court or official hearing while on duty or if called while off-

duty for a work related matter shall be paid to the City. 

 

ARTICLE XIX - Fire Prevention Officer  

 1585 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

44 

 

 

NFPA Standards and Rules as it applies to inspections, reference, enforcement, and 

review as it pertains to plans review, building, construction and code enforcement may be 

conducted by planning/code enforcement staff.  

 

The Fire Prevention Officer will be paid according to the attached wage schedule.  The 1590 

Fire Prevention Officer's evaluation will be conducted on his/her anniversary date of hire.  

 

The Fire Prevention Officer will be entitled to the same tuition and books reimbursement 

as provided to other firefighters.  

  1595 

The Fire Prevention Officer will work the administrative work schedule -- 8:00 a.m. to 

4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday.  

 

Flextime –  

 1600 

The purpose of flex time is to allow some flexibility in the FPO’s work schedule so that 

he/she can more effectively meet the demands of his/her job that occur outside normal business 

hours.  

 

Flextime will not be awarded on a strict hour for hour basis; rather, the AC and the FPO 1605 

will meet after the event to determine how much flextime is appropriate. 

 

The FPO will make every attempt to submit a verbal request for flextime off to the AC as 

soon as possible so that administration can plan for the absence of the FPO. 

 1610 

Overtime – 

 

Overtime will be paid to the FPO at the rate of 1 and ½ times his/her normal rate of pay.  

A minimum of 3 hours of overtime will be paid when he/she is called before 7:00 am or after 

4:30 pm on a normal working day, or for fire investigations occurring anytime during normally 1615 

scheduled off duty time.  The FPO will be compensated at the OT rate only for actual hours 

worked on all other call back situations.  

 

Overtime will be paid in the event that the Police Department, Chief, Deputy Chief, or an 

Acting/Battalion Chief requests that the FPO attend an emergency event outside his normal work 1620 

schedule. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

45 

 

 

Upon receiving such a request, the FPO will make every attempt to contact the requestor and 

either resolve the issue over the phone or confirm that it is a situation that requires his 

attendance. 

 1625 

A brief written explanatory report will be submitted to the AC Deputy Chief along with a 

request for overtime payment.  Upon approval, this will be forwarded to the Office Manager for 

payroll processing. 

 

Should the situation in fact turn out not to warrant the presence of the FPO, this will be 1630 

included in a brief report specified in #4 and appropriate action will be taken to educate the 

person who made the errant request.  

 

Overtime pay will not be withheld from the FPO in the event of an unnecessary request 

so long as the FPO complies with item 3. 1635 

 

The Fire Prevention Officer will receive the following holidays off with no additional 

compensation:  

 

  1. New Year's Day  7.   Columbus Day 1640 

  2. Washington's Birthday 8.   Veteran's Day 

  3. Patriot's Day   9.   Thanksgiving Day and the day after  

  4. Memorial Day   10.  Christmas Day 

  5. Independence Day  11.  Martin Luther King Day 

  6. Labor Day       12.  Any one time national holiday  1645 

 mandated by the President and    

 observed by other Auburn City 

 Departments  

 

He/she will receive one personal day per contract year. 1650 

 

 Vacation accrual for the Fire Prevention Officer will be as follows:  One day per month; 

15 days per year after completion of the fifth year of employment; 20 days per year after 

completion of the 12th year of employment. The Fire Prevention Officer may accumulate, up to 

a maximum of 30 days. 1655 

 

 The Fire Prevention Officer will accumulate one sick day (7.5 hours) per month up to a 

maximum of 150 days.   The Fire Prevention Officer may cash out one half of accumulated sick 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

46 

 

 

leave up to a maximum of 75 days conditional upon him/her having 10 or more years of 

employment with the City of Auburn.  1660 

 

 The Fire Prevention Officer may also take Wellness Days, if earned through the City's 

Wellness Program.  He must schedule Wellness Days off through the Deputy Fire Chief. 

 

 The Fire Prevention Officer will annually be credited with $385 in the uniform 1665 

reimbursement account. 

  

ARTICLE XX - Duration of the Contract 

 

 This agreement shall be effective upon execution and shall continue in force and in effect 1670 

from January 1, 2013 until June 30, 2013.  All references to minimum staffing per apparatus will 

be effective June 30, 2013. The city and association agree the minimum staffing remain as 

interpreted and applied by the city until June 30, 2013.. The provisions hereof shall remain in 

effect after that termination date if the parties are engaged in collective bargaining, mediation, 

fact-finding, or interest arbitration pursuant to the Maine Public Employees Labor Relations Act, 1675 

or legal action relating thereto.  No interest arbitration decision shall be given retroactive effect 

unless it is determined by reference to the facts and circumstances surrounding the negotiation 

that retroactive application would be just.  In that case, the decision shall be made retroactive to 

the extent State law gives the arbitrator the power to make it so. 

 1680 

ARTICLE XXI - Inconsistent Rules, Regulations and Ordinances 

 

 The City may adopt such rules, regulations, ordinances, or charter provisions as it deems 

necessary for the operation of the Fire Department and the conduct of its employees, provided 

such rules do not conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement.  Any disagreements 1685 

between the City and the Association as to whether or not a particular rule, regulation, ordinance 

conflicts with this Agreement shall be resolved by the arbitration procedure as outlined in Article 

XII of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

 

 To the extent any rule, regulation, or ordinance is found to be inconsistent with this 1690 

Collective Bargaining Agreement, this Collective Bargaining Agreement shall prevail to the 

extent of the inconsistency. 

    

The President of the Association shall receive a copy of all departmental orders and 

notices and copies of proposed changes in the Administration Manual. 1695 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

47 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE XXII - Active Agreement 

 1700 

The contract may be changed during the term of this agreement when (1) the members of 

the Labor Management Committee have reached consensus and agreed to discuss any particular 

change(s) in the contract; and (2) the Union and the City Council have voted to make the change 

that was discussed and is being proposed by the Labor Management Committee. 

 1705 

 

ARTICLE XXIII - Savings Clause 

 

If any provision of this agreement, or the application of such provision, should be 

rendered or declared invalid by any court action or by reason of any existing or subsequently 1710 

enacted legislation, the remaining parts or portions of this Agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect.  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

48 

 

 

 1715 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Auburn   has caused its corporate seal to be affixed to 

this instrument, and has caused this instrument to be signed for it and in the name of its 

appropriate municipal authorities and by its duly authorized officials as set forth below, and 

Auburn Firefighters Association, Local No. 797, of the International Association of Firefighters, 

A.F.L.-C.I.O. has caused this instrument to be signed by its President, thereunto duly authorized, 1720 

on the date first above mentioned. 

 

 

Witnesses:     City of Auburn 

 1725 

 

_______________________________  By: _______________________________ 

           

       Clint Deschene    

       Its City Manager 1730 

 

       

Auburn Firefighters Association, Local  

797 of the International Association of  

      Firefighters A.F.L.-C.I.O. 1735 

 

 

______________________________  By: ______________________________ 

 

       Michael Scott 1740 

       Its President 

 

 

 

1745 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

49 

 

 

Appendix A - Health Promotion Program 

 

The program seeks voluntary participation in a health promotion and health care 

management system which focuses primarily on prevention activities.  The goals include: 

 1750 

 To improve the health of each employee, their spouse, and dependents through a 

personal risk assessment, continual education, and personal wellness plans;  

 By employees being actively involved in their overall healthcare and by focusing on 

prevention, the use of higher cost medical services may decline which will result in long 

term savings in health insurance premiums;  1755 

 To reward employees and their dependents for healthy behavior. 

 

Health Risk Analysis and Education 

 

The first major part of the program is an individual health risk analysis which will be 1760 

available for each employee who desires one.  This service may be provided by a health care 

provider that will be under contract with the City to provide these services or by the employee’s 

primary care physician. If the employee opts to use his/her primary care physician, the result of 

the health risk analysis will be provided to the City’s contracted health promotion provider.  The 

health risk analysis will include but not be limited to high blood pressure, elevated cholesterol, 1765 

diabetes screening, smoking, and proper body weight. The aggregate results of the analysis for 

all City employees will be available to the City.  However, consistent with federal law, the City 

will not have access to individual’s health risk analysis. 

 

A health care educator will be assigned and responsible to work with each and every 1770 

member that signs up for the program (dependents are not required, but are encouraged to 

participate in the program).  These educators will work to establish the base line for health risk 

factors for each member.  Once established, the educators will work with the member to provide 

wellness goals and benchmarks.  Educational material and motivation will be a core part of the 

program. 1775 

 

After the initial consultation, each member will receive at least one additional face-to-

face meeting annually.  Such meetings will be primarily designed to be on the job site for the 

employees and in a private setting.  Depending on the results of the health risk analysis and the 

goals of the member, additional meetings will be scheduled.  Should a face-to-face consultation 1780 

not be practical, phone and email may be acceptable alternatives. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

50 

 

 

The City, after consultation with the Health Care Provider and the City Wellness Team, 

will, at a minimum, provide monthly health related programs and topics that relate to the 

challenges that are facing the members.  The City will continue to seek creative and meaningful 1785 

ways to reward and recognize employees making progress in obtaining their individual health 

care goals. 

 

Health Care Advisory Team 

 1790 

The City’s Wellness Team will meet regularly to assist in recommending health related 

programs, adjustments to the percentage distribution and any wellness issues or concerns that 

may arise.  There will be at least one fire fighter on the team. Though the Team may recommend 

changes or adjustments to the program, the City will make the final determination to either 

accept or reject such recommendations.  Lastly, since communications is such an integral part of 1795 

any successful program, the Team will serve as an information conduit to City employees to 

assist in keeping them apprised of ongoing health care issues. 

 

Health Care Management Proposal 

 1800 

The insurance proposal is as follows:  Employees’ portion of health insurance premium 

increases from 15% to 25%, effective July 1, 2006.  Alternatively, an employee may participate 

in the Health Promotion Program and make his/her intentions known to participate by July 1, 

2006.   The program’s implementation date is July 1, 2006.  During the first year of the program 

(7/1/06 to 6/30/07), employees need only agree to participate in the program to obtain the 10% 1805 

health insurance premium savings.  After July 1, 2007, employees are expected to meet the 

specific goals by utilizing their ‘best efforts’ as established by the Health Care Educators to 

obtain the full 10% savings. 

 

The components of the 10% health insurance premium savings is as follows: 1810 

 

 3% savings when the employee agrees to participate in a Health Risk Assessment, a 

physical examination by personal physician including the prescribed lab/x-rays; 

 3% savings when the employee agrees to participate in an exercise program agreed to by 

the Health Care Educator in conjunction with the employee’s physician; 1815 

 2% savings for nonsmokers and those who quit smoking; 

 2% savings for participation in a weight management program. 

The total adjustment to the employee’s health insurance cost share will not exceed 10%. 

 

Health Promotion Program and Health Insurance Cost Share 1820 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

51 

 

 

The employee cost share for firefighters who do not participate in the Health Promotion 

Program will be 25%.   Employees who are participating in the Health Promotion Program are 

expected to meet the specific goals by utilizing their ‘best efforts’.  The program has two goals:  

First, to improve the health of each employee through risk assessment and education; second, to 1825 

reduce the long-term cost of health insurance for each employee and the City.  The use of credits 

is not intended by the City to be a primary source of savings, but as an instrument to make the 

program important and meaningful.  As such, an employee who makes a ‘best effort’ but falls 

short of fully meeting their goals will not be penalized, providing, however, that the following 

three criteria are met: 1830 

 

a. the employee has participated in the Health Risk Assessment; 

b. has made reasonable progress and improvement since the last measurement; 

c. has been recommended by their health care provider/educator as having made their ‘best 

effort’. 1835 

 

The City will meet and discuss with the Union in all cases it deems an employee to not 

have met this standard.  Each case shall be decided on an individual basis and shall not be used 

as a reference in any way for any other employee. 

 1840 

 At all time, the employee Primary Care Physician (PCP) shall be responsible for 

establishing and /or modifying appropriate goals.  The Health Care Educator shall be 

responsible, in consultation with the employee’s PCP, to determine the appropriate activities to 

meet such goals and to determine whether or not the employee has made a ‘best effort’.  In the 

event of a conflict between the PCP and the Health Care Educator, the employee’s PCP shall 1845 

have final say in re-determining and/or modifying previously established goals. 

 

Medical Spending Account 

 

The City will provide funding for a Medical Spending Account for each firefighter which can be 1850 

used for office visit co-payments, lab work, diagnostic testing, and prescriptions, etc. The City 

will contribute $400 to the Medical Spending Account.  In addition the employee may increase 

the funds in the Medical Spending account by making additional contributions through payroll 

deductions. 

 1855 

 

 

 

 

 1860 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 1/1/13 to 6/30/13  

52 

 

 

Wage Schedule 

 

 Please see the attached Fire Fighter and Fire Prevention Officer Wage Schedules dated 

January 1, 2013 to June 30, 2013.   

 1865 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

 

-1- 
 

 

    

 

Collective Bargaining Agreement 

 
Between the 

 

City of Auburn 

 
and the 

 

AUBURN FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION 

(LOCAL NO. 797) 
 

July 1, 2013 – June 30, 2016 
 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 
 
 

 

 

2 
 

 

Table of Contents 
 

PREAMBLE ................................................................................................................................... 5 
ARTICLE I - Recognition .............................................................................................................. 5 5 

Section 1 - Association ............................................................................................................... 5 

Section 2 - Non-Discrimination .................................................................................................. 5 

Section 3 - Public Servants/Ethical Standards ............................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE II - Management Rights ................................................................................................ 6 
ARTICLE III - Labor Management ................................................................................................ 6 10 

Section 1 - Purpose ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Section 2 - Employee’s Role....................................................................................................... 7 

Section 3 - Management’s Role .................................................................................................. 7 

Section 4 - Committee Participation ........................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE IV - Dues Check-Off ..................................................................................................... 8 15 

Section 1 - Fair Share .................................................................................................................. 8 

Section 2 - Check-off .................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3 - Association Indemnification ................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE V - Strikes and Slowdowns ......................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE VI - Wages and Compensation ................................................................................... 10 20 

Section 1 - Wages ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Section 2 - Tuition Reimbursement for Work-Related Courses ............................................... 11 

ARTICLE VII - Hours of Work and Overtime ............................................................................. 13 

Section 1 - Hours of Work ........................................................................................................ 13 

Section 2 - Use of Free Time .................................................................................................... 13 25 

Section 3 - Overtime and Compensatory Time ......................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE VIII - Acting Rank ...................................................................................................... 14 
ARTICLE IX - Holidays ............................................................................................................... 15 
ARTICLE X - Vacations .............................................................................................................. 15 

Section 1 - Vacation Accrual .................................................................................................... 15 30 

Section 2 - Vacation Selection .................................................................................................. 17 

Section 3 - Vacation Changes ................................................................................................... 18 

Section 4 - Floating Holidays ................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE XI - Sick Leave ........................................................................................................... 20 

Section 1 - Use of Sick Leave ................................................................................................... 20 35 

Section 2 - Return to Work/Fitness for Duty ............................................................................ 20 

Section 3 - Sick Leave Authentication...................................................................................... 21 

Section 4 - Sick Leave Incentives ............................................................................................. 22 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

3 

 

 

Section 5 - Wellness Incentive Days ........................................................................................ 22 

Section 6 - Sick Bank ................................................................................................................ 22 40 

ARTICLE XII - Grievance Procedure .......................................................................................... 22 

Section 1 - Grievance Procedure ............................................................................................... 22 

Section 2 - Firefighters Grievance ............................................................................................ 22 

Section 3 - City Grievance ........................................................................................................ 24 

Section 4 - Extensions of Time Limits ..................................................................................... 25 45 

ARTICLE XIII - Leaves ............................................................................................................... 25 

Section 1 - Funeral Leave ......................................................................................................... 25 

Section 2 - Emergency Leave ................................................................................................... 26 

Section 3 - Errand Leaves ......................................................................................................... 26 

Section 4 - Association Meetings and Seminar Leave .............................................................. 26 50 

ARTICLE XIV - Exchange of Shifts and Transfers ..................................................................... 26 

Section 1 - Exchange of Shifts .................................................................................................. 26 

Section 2 - Transfers, Permanent Positions, Bidding, EMT Assignments ............................... 28 

ARTICLE XV - Recall to Work ................................................................................................... 30 

Section 1 - Off-Duty ................................................................................................................. 30 55 

Section 2 - Replacement Coverage Turns ................................................................................. 31 

ARTICLE XVI - Health and Safety.............................................................................................. 31 

Section  1 - Health Promotion Program and Employee Cost Share ......................................... 31 

Section  2 - Health Insurance .................................................................................................... 32 

Section  3 - Payment Program for Waiving Health Insurance Coverage with the City of 60 

Auburn ...................................................................................................................................... 33 

Section  4 - Extent of Coverage ................................................................................................ 35 

Section  5 - Benefits Supplementing Workers' Compensation Benefits ................................... 35 

Section  6 - Expense of Injury or Illness ................................................................................... 36 

Section  7 - Light Duty Return to Work ................................................................................... 36 65 

Section  8 - Damage to Glasses and Teeth ................................................................................ 39 

Section  9 - Department Physician ............................................................................................ 39 

Section  10 - Substance Abuse Testing Program ...................................................................... 39 

Section  11 - General Safety ..................................................................................................... 40 

ARTICLE XVII - Separation from Department ........................................................................... 40 70 

Section 1 - Retirement .............................................................................................................. 40 

Section 2 - Vacation Cashout .................................................................................................... 41 

Section 3 - Cashout of Accrued Sick Leave ............................................................................. 41 

Section 4 - Compensatory Time ............................................................................................... 42 

Section 5 - Uniform Reimbursement ........................................................................................ 42 75 

Section 6 - Lay-offs .................................................................................................................. 42 

ARTICLE XVIII - Miscellaneous Provisions............................................................................... 43 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

4 

 

 

Section 1 - Uniform Reimbursement Policy ............................................................................. 43 

Section 2 - Use of Telephones .................................................................................................. 45 

Section 3 - Association Meetings ............................................................................................. 45 80 

Section 4 - Written Reprimands ................................................................................................ 45 

Section 5 - Indemnity ................................................................................................................ 45 

Section 6 - Residence of Firefighters ........................................................................................ 46 

Section 7 - Jury Duty and Court Appearances .......................................................................... 46 

ARTICLE XIX - Fire Prevention Officer ..................................................................................... 46 85 

ARTICLE XX - Duration of the Contract .................................................................................... 48 

ARTICLE XXI - Inconsistent Rules, Regulations and Ordinances .............................................. 49 

ARTICLE XXII - Active Agreement ........................................................................................... 49 

ARTICLE XXIII - Savings Clause ............................................................................................... 49 

Appendix A - Health Promotion Program .................................................................................... 51 90 

Health Risk Analysis and Education ......................................................................................... 51 

Health Care Advisory Team ..................................................................................................... 52 

Health Care Management Proposal .......................................................................................... 52 

Health Promotion Program and Health Insurance Cost Share .................................................. 52 

Medical Spending Account ....................................................................................................... 53 95 

Wage Schedule.......................................................................................................................... 54 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

5 

 

 

PREAMBLE 

 100 

 Agreement made this day: ____________ by the City of Auburn and the Auburn 

Firefighters Association, Local No. 797, International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO 

(hereinafter referred to as the Association.) 

 

Pursuant to the provisions of Title 26 M.R.S.A., Chapter 9-A, §961, the City of Auburn, 105 

Maine enters into this agreement with the Auburn Firefighters Association, Local No. 797, 

International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO (herein referred to as the Association) to 

promote the improvement of the relationship between the City and the Association and their 

employees/members by providing a uniform basis for recognizing the right of public employees 

to join labor organizations of their own choosing and to be represented by such organizations in 110 

collective bargaining for terms and conditions of employment. 

 

 In consideration of the respective promises of the parties hereto and, pursuant to the 

provisions of M.R.S.A. Tile 26, Chapter 9-A (1973), and in order to increase general efficiency 

in the Fire Department, and to promote morale, equal rights, well being, and security of the Fire 115 

Department's permanent employees, it is agreed by the parties hereto as follows: 

 

ARTICLE I - Recognition 

 

Section 1 - Association 120 

 

 The City hereby recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent of 

all members of the Auburn Fire Department except for the Chief, Deputy Chief, and clerical staff 

for purposes of bargaining with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of work, working conditions 

and all other terms and conditions of employment. 125 

 

Section 2 - Non-Discrimination  

 

 The City agrees that no employee shall in any manner be discriminated against or 

coerced, restrained or influenced on account of membership in the Association by reason of 130 

his/her holding office therein, or by reason of being a member of a collective bargaining 

committee of the Association, and the City agrees that the provisions of this Article shall be 

applicable to all persons to whom this Agreement applies without discrimination. 

 

All employees have the right to work in an environment free from discrimination 135 

unrelated to job performance.  Intimidation and harassment of employees, whether it be by 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

6 

 

 

fellow employees or by management personnel, including sexual harassment in all its various 

forms, is unacceptable conduct, which may constitute as grounds for disciplinary action.  This 

provision shall not in any way prevent the Association from discharging its duty of fair 

representation of any of its members. 140 

 

Section 3 - Public Servants/Ethical Standards  

 

 The individual members of the Department and of the Association are to regard 

themselves as public servants, and as such they are to be governed by the highest ideals of honor 145 

and integrity in order that they may merit the respect and confidence of the general public. 

 

Section 4 Union Political Activity 

 

 No firefighter shall be discharged, disciplined or discriminated against because of activity 150 

on behalf of the Union, which does not interfere with the discharge of his/her duties or any 

assignment, violate any provisions of the agreement, or violate any policy, ordinance, law of the 

City of Auburn, State of Maine, or of the United States.  Political activity by Local 797 for 

candidates to Auburn City Council, Auburn School Committee, County Government, or State 

elected office shall provide an accounting of all contributions to the City Manager and City 155 

Clerk. 

 

ARTICLE II - Management Rights 

 

 Except as otherwise provided in this contract, the City shall remain vested solely and 160 

exclusively with all of its common law and its statutory rights and with all management and 

supervision of operations and personnel including the right to hire, promote, suspend or 

otherwise discipline firefighters with just cause under the City Charter and Ordinances. 

 

ARTICLE III - Labor Management 165 

 

Section 1 - Purpose 

  

The City, Union, and its members, agree to participate in a Labor Management 

Committee, whose purpose is to work together in identifying and implementing improvements to 170 

the operations of the Auburn Fire Department and service to the citizens of Auburn. The goals of 

the Committee include fostering good communications (both internal and external to the 

department), sharing operational ideas and departmental concerns, reviewing operational and 

capital budgetary items as well as future planning initiatives, improving customer service 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

7 

 

 

(internal and external), increasing accountability and effectiveness, increasing productivity and 175 

realization of cost savings.  

 

Section 2 - Employee’s Role 

  

Employees are encouraged to openly and actively share ideas and suggestions with the 180 

Committee.  When faced with a concern or complaint, employees may introduce the subject at 

the Labor Management Committee for discussion and potential resolution.  If this does not 

resolve the issue, employees may refer to Article XII, “Grievance Procedure”.    

 

Section 3 - Management’s Role 185 

  

Management is encouraged to foster a work environment which allows employees to be 

knowledgeable of departmental activities and planning, actively approach management, and to 

have the opportunity for open dialog.  Management is also encouraged to discuss employee 

concerns and complaints, and to solicit input and suggestions to improve the operations of the 190 

Department and the work environment. 

 

Section 4 - Committee Participation  

 

The Labor Management Committee will meet monthly and consist of at least two (2) 195 

representatives from both the City and the Union.  For the City, the members may include, but 

not limited to, the Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, the Human Resources Director, the Assistant 

City Manager, the City Manager, or another member of city administration.  The Union agrees to 

appoint at least three (3) representatives to the Committee and other members as may be needed 

for individual issues and/or sub-committees. Each Labor Management Committee meeting shall 200 

be called to order after a quorum of four (4) members—but no less than two City and two Union 

members—by the Fire Chief, or in his absence the Union President, or in his absence another 

person appointed by the Fire Chief, who will serve as chair; have its meeting time be posted in a 

place accessible to all employees and be open to other employees; have an agenda with at least 

unfinished and new business items; shall be recorded by way of written minutes; and shall have 205 

its draft and/or approved minutes be electronically posted.  Notice for items to be placed on the 

Labor Management Committee Agenda shall be made not less than three (3) working days prior 

to the scheduled meeting. There shall be no extra compensation for those appointed to serve on 

the Labor Management Committee, unless already scheduled to work.  Other Union members 

may attend if their work schedule permits.    210 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

8 

 

 

It is in the best interest of the City of Auburn, the Fire Department, and our citizens, to 

create a forum such as the Labor Management Committee to function productively and 

effectively.  If, at any time, either party determines the process is not working or is failing, either 

party may invite the Assistant City Manager or City Manager to attend to help facilitate and 215 

foster a healthy work environment between labor and management.  

 

The  work plan FY 14 thru Fy 16 for the committee has been agreed to set the following 

priorities: 

1.   Department Physical Fitness Program to include the following elements: 220 

IAFF/IAFC Peer Fitness Trainer, yearly medical exams including periodic stress 

tests, and  physical fitness exam based upon job standards. The 

Labor/Management Team will develop a program and will bring back 

recommendations detailing program goals and components, implementation 

schedules, program management and costs;  225 

2. Driver Operator Position and recommendations for placement in pay plan; 

3. Review of entire pay and benefit plan including sick and vacation  accruals with 

the goal of completion by December 31, 2015 for presentation of proposals for 

contract negotiations for successor contract; 

4. Accrual caps and carryover of compensatory time 230 

5. Distribution of EMS Personnel 

6. Sick Leave Authentication 

7. Development of a policy on items to be purchased with the laundry allowance and 

the method of purchasing these items. 

ARTICLE IV - Dues Check-Off 235 

 

Section 1 - Fair Share   

 

 The Association shall have exclusive rights to payroll deductions of membership dues 

and service fees.  Any firefighter who at any time on or after the effective date of this Agreement 240 

is not a member of the Association shall, within thirty days after such conditions are met be 

required to choose from the options of:  (1) membership in the Association; (2) payment to the 

Association of a service fee equal to 80% of Association dues as a contribution towards the cost 

of collective bargaining, contract administration and the adjustment of grievances; or (3) 

exclusion from both.  Each such firefighter shall be required to make his/her choice in writing on 245 

payroll deduction forms supplied by the Association.  Failure to choose membership or the 80% 

service fee option shall constitute a choice of exclusion from both.  An employee choosing 

exclusion from both membership and 80% service fee option shall be irrevocably bound by such 

choice except as provided hereinafter and if the employee request, shall be entitled to the 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

9 

 

 

services of the Association under the agreement only upon payment to the Association of 250 

reasonable fees, including fifty dollars per hour for employee representative services, and 

attorneys fees and costs and expenses, including arbitration fees and expenses, incurred by the 

Association on behalf of such employee.  Any firefighter who is required by this Article or who 

was required under the terms of the predecessor agreement, to select from the options set about 

above may change his/her status with respect to those options during the 20 day period 255 

immediately prior to the expiration of this Agreement by giving written notice to the City and to 

the Association during that period. 

 

 The Union agrees to assume full responsibility to insure full compliance with the 

requirements laid down by the US. Supreme Court in Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson 106 S. 260 

Ct. 1066(1986), with respect to the constitutional rights of fair share fee payers. 

 

 It is specifically agreed that any dispute concerning the amount of fair share fee and/or 

the responsibilities of the Union with respect to fair share fee payers as set forth above shall not 

be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in this Agreement. 265 

 

 Any employee covered by this Agreement at any time may submit a grievance to the City 

and have such grievance adjusted without the intervention of the Association, if the adjustment is 

not inconsistent with the terms of this collective bargaining agreement and if the Association has 

been given reasonable opportunity to be present at any such meeting of the parties called for the 270 

resolution of such grievance. 

  

 The Association agrees in consideration thereof for itself and its members to individually 

and collectively perform loyal and efficient work and services, and it and they will use their 

influence and best efforts to promote and advance the interests of the taxpayer of Auburn. 275 

 

Section 2 - Check-off   

 

 Upon written authorization of a firefighter, approved by the Association President, the 

City agrees to have the appropriate City Department deduct from the pay of each firefighter, as 280 

so authorized, the amount of funds as indicated on the Fair Share Agreement between the 

firefighter and Association, to be deducted from his/her pay check each week, and deliver same 

to the Association Treasurer at his/her request, provided, however, that if any employee has no 

check due him or the check is not large enough to satisfy other deductions, then in that event no 

deduction will be made from said firefighter for that period.  In no event will the City be 285 

obligated to collect fines or assessments charged by the Association to its members.  The City 

shall not be obliged to deduct funds from the weekly pay after receiving written notice, on forms 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

10 

 

 

provided by the Association, that he/she no longer authorizes such deductions.  The Association 

agrees in consideration thereof for itself and its members to individually and collectively perform 

loyal and efficient work and service, and it and they will use their influence and best efforts to 290 

promote and advance the interests of the taxpayer of Auburn. 

Section 3 - Association Indemnification  

 

 The Association shall indemnify, defend and save the City harmless against any and all 

claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability (monetary or otherwise) and for all legal costs 295 

that shall arise out of or by reason of action taken or not taken by the City in complying with 

provisions of this Article.  If an improper deduction is made, the Association shall refund 

directly to the employee any such amount. 

 

ARTICLE V - Strikes and Slowdowns 300 

 

 The Association agrees that firefighters who are subject to the terms of this Agreement 

shall have no rights to engage in any work stoppage, slowdown, or strike in consideration of the 

right to a resolution of disputed questions.  Any or all employees who violate the provisions of 

this Article may be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge.  This provision is not 305 

intended to reflect an employee's refusal to carry out an unjustifiable management request. 

 

ARTICLE VI - Wages and Compensation  

 

Section 1 - Wages 310 

 

All firefighters covered under this Agreement shall be paid in accordance with the 

attached wage schedule(s).  

  

 All firefighters must complete performance evaluations on their anniversary date of hire 315 

or date of promotion.  Firefighters who are eligible for a step-increase will receive it effective on 

their anniversary date of hire or promotion. Firefighters and Fire Prevention Officer will not 

advance in steps during FY 2015 and 2016, and will not receive retroactive pay for steps not 

received during this contract. 

 320 

Firefighters who are promoted will be slotted at the entry step of the new rank or at the 

step which brings them closest to but not less than 5%.  The slotting of firefighters promoted to a 

higher rank will be considered as part of the overall pay plan recommendation by Labor 

Management Committee. 

  325 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

11 

 

 

 Any firefighter who receives a change or lapse in EMS license shall immediately notify 

the officer in charge of EMS Services in writing.  Any firefighter who continues to receive EMS 

pay after his/her license has lapsed or who falsifies his/her license may be subjected to one 

week's suspension without pay. 

 330 

 

Section 2 - Tuition Reimbursement for Work-Related Courses  

 

 The City will reimburse 100% of the tuition for courses, seminars and conferences as 

long as the following criteria are met: 335 

 

1.  The course, seminar, conference receives written pre-approval by the Fire Chief. 

 

2.  The course is directly work-related (with the exception of elective courses accepted as 

part of the course curriculum for a Degree in Fire Science or Paramedicine); and 340 

  

3.  The firefighter agrees to use the knowledge and skills gained in training paid in part by 

the City for the benefit of the City. 

 

4.  Approved courses in the amount of $100.00 or greater may be pre-paid by the City. Upon 345 

successful completion of a course with a passing grade or certificate of completion, the City 

will reimburse the individual firefighter for the balance due of the approved tuition expenses, 

which are not covered by scholarships, or other educational financial assistance.  If the 

firefighter receives pre-payment for the course and he/she does not pass or receive a 

certification/license of completion, he/she will reimburse the City for the cost of the course.  350 

 

 The City will pay the full cost of all pre-approved EMS related courses, case reviews, 

seminars and skill labs.  If a firefighter does not obtain the license or pass the course, case 

review, seminar or skill lab, after the City has paid the cost of the course, the firefighter/EMT 

will reimburse the cost of the course. As of October 16
th

 2012 if the firefighter has 355 

successfully completed an EMS upgrade, through the reimbursement of the city, the 

firefighter will be required to maintain the license for a minimum of three years. Should the 

firefighter separate prior to completing one year of service at the new license level the 

firefighter will reimburse the city a prorated amount of the tuition. The break down f the 

proration will be as follows: 360 

 

 Firefighters that separate from the department less than three months after completion 

of the course will be required to repay the entire cost of tuition and books 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

12 

 

 

 Firefighters that separate between three and six months after completion of the course 

will be required to repay fifty percent of the cost of tuition and books 365 

 Firefighters that separate between six months and one year will be required to repay 

twenty-five percent of the tuition and books  

 

 After maintaining the license upgrade beyond the three year minimum the firefighter will 

be required to provide a Three  (3) month notice of intent to have the license lapse. 370 

 

5.  The City will reimburse costs of textbooks for pre-approved courses up to 50% or $50.00 

whichever is greater.   Approval for reimbursement for textbooks is dependent upon the 

constraints on funds in the Fire Department training account.  

  375 

 In response to a request, the Battalion Chief or Acting Battalion Chief may reassign on a 

temporary basis, personnel in order to allow on-duty personnel to attend educational 

opportunities in the local area.  This section is intended to apply to those classes that have been 

requested by individual firefighters as opposed to departmental training.  If the battalion is not at 

minimum, the firefighter(s) may attend class on duty in their personal vehicle, but will remain on 380 

call and will take a portable radio with them to class.  At the discretion of the Battalion Chief or 

the Acting Battalion Chief, the firefighter may only need to respond on a "Condition" 

assignment.  If battalion staffing is at minimum, the firefighter(s) may take apparatus to class if 

the other members of that company are in agreement to go along with the firefighter(s) attending 

class or the firefighter may attend class in a privately owned vehicle with a portable (the 385 

apparatus would be treated as per current standards for apparatus down one firefighter on 

emergency leave).  Whenever possible, if more than one firefighter on duty is attending the same 

class, the Battalion Chief or the Acting Battalion Chief will assign these personnel to the same 

piece of apparatus in order to limit the number of units on delayed response.  Reassignments will 

be made in such a way as to keep Rescue in service and in normal response whenever possible.  390 

The following conditions will be required in order to utilize on duty participation for class: 

 

1.  On-duty attendance to class must be pre-approved by the Fire Chief. 

 

2.  The Chief has the right to limit the number of on-duty personnel attending class. 395 

 

3.  The class may only be in either Auburn or in a community that is contiguous to the City 

of Auburn . 

 

4.  Units must remain in service at all times. 400 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

13 

 

 

5.  Spare Department vehicles may be used in place of privately owned vehicles. 

 

6.  There will always be a minimum of ten (10) firefighters in Auburn not on delayed 

response, unless specifically approved by the Chief or his designee. 405 

 

ARTICLE VII - Hours of Work and Overtime 

 

Section 1 - Hours of Work   

 410 

 Firefighters' regular workweek shall consist of an average of forty-two (42) hours per 

week.  For the duration of this contract, the regular tour of duty (on-duty shift) shall consist of a 

twenty-four hour continuous time period commencing at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 7:00 a.m. the 

following day.  Firefighters shall remain in active status performing work assignments between 

the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. and 6:59 a.m. during on-duty shifts, except 415 

for the free time periods. The department will be organized under a four (4) battalion system. 

 

A work cycle, for the duration of this contract, is defined as one twenty-four hour tour of 

on-duty time (on-duty shift) followed by three consecutive twenty-four hour time periods off 

beginning at 7:00 a.m. following the on-duty shift. 420 

 

Section 2 - Use of Free Time   

 

 Firefighters shall be permitted to use recreational facilities furnished by the Auburn 

Firefighters Benefit Association when they are not specifically assigned to firefighting or other 425 

duties.  It is understood that firefighters on a voluntary basis will frequently use their free time 

for study and on-the-job training. 

 

Section 3 - Overtime and Compensatory Time  

 430 

 Firefighters shall be paid for work performed on regular off-duty shifts and during their 

free time period at an overtime rate of one and one-half (1½) times their hourly rate as per the 

attached wage schedule, except that for multiple alarms. (See Article XV) Firefighters 

participating on teams established or created by the Department (with the exception of 

firefighters serving on the Labor Management Committee) on their off-duty time shall have a 435 

choice of being compensated at their regular overtime rate or by accruing compensatory time at 

one and one-half times the number of hours actually worked. The following conditions shall 

apply to the accrual of comp time: 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

14 

 

 

1.  The firefighter may accrue up to 48 hours per year; 440 

 

2.  Comp time accrued but not used will be paid out the last pay-period in the fiscal year at 

the regular hourly rate in effect for the firefighter at that time; 

 

3.  No firefighter may choose to take comp time on a day on which his/her battalion would 445 

thereby be reduced below the minimum staffing level (because of prior scheduled vacations, 

existing extended sick leave, on-the-job injuries, or other cause known at the time notice is 

given). 

 

 Any on-duty firefighter returning to the fire station and completing his/her duties prior to 450 

7:15 a.m. after answering a call received before the completion of his/her work shift at 7:00 a.m. 

shall receive no extra compensation.  If he/she returns and completes his/her duties after 7:15 

a.m. he/she shall be paid for one-half (1/2) hour at his/her overtime rate.  If after 7:30 a.m. and 

before 8:00 a.m. he/she shall be paid for one (1) hour at his/her overtime rate; if after 8:00 a.m., 

at his/her overtime rate for all time worked after 7:00 a.m. as set forth in the attached schedule.  455 

 

ARTICLE VIII - Acting Rank  

 

 Any firefighter selected to act as an officer of higher rank shall be entitled to receive 

acting rank in the amount of five (5) % over the non-EMS firefighter base hourly rate for a full 460 

tour of duty if he/she acts in said rank for a period in excess of half the tour of duty.   

 

 A firefighter performing overtime work while acting in higher rank shall receive one and 

one-half (1 ½) times his/her hourly rate of pay in such higher rank for such overtime work.  

 465 

 Firefighters, Lieutenants and Captains shall have the right to decline to serve as an officer 

of higher rank unless, in the judgment of the Chief, the Deputy Chief, or the Battalion Chief on 

duty, no other qualified on-duty firefighter is willing and available to serve.  No firefighter who 

has been assigned to act in higher rank and who, in the judgment of the supervising officer, is 

performing such duties in a proper manner shall be reassigned to other duty for the purpose of 470 

depriving him/her of an opportunity to receive extra pay under the provisions of this Article. 

 

When a firefighter is assigned to act in higher rank, he/she shall not receive an increase in 

pay for any day of such service during which an officer of equal or greater rank than that in 

which he/she is acting is assigned to the same company for a period exceeding one-half (1/2) the 475 

shift (12 hours). 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

15 

 

 

 

ARTICLE IX - Holidays 

 480 

 Each firefighter covered by this Agreement, shall, in addition to his/her regular weekly 

wage, be paid 1/4 of his/her weekly wage for each of the following holidays: 

 

 1. New Year's Day   7.   Columbus Day 

 2. Washington's Birthday  8.   Veteran's Day 485 

 3. Patriot's Day    9.   Thanksgiving Day 

 4. Memorial Day                        10.   Christmas Day 

 5. Independence Day             11.   Martin Luther King Day 

 6. Labor Day             12.   Any one time national holiday  

             mandated by the President and  490 

             observed by other Auburn City  

             Departments 

                     

 Holiday pay will be based on the non-EMS firefighter's rank and step. 

  495 

 The day after Thanksgiving will be holiday routine, but the firefighter will not receive 

holiday pay. 

 

 Firefighters shall receive holiday pay during the pay period following the date in which 

the holiday falls. The Office Manager will post the calendar noting the holiday pay dates for the 500 

year.  

 

ARTICLE X - Vacations 

 

Section 1 - Vacation Accrual 505 

 

 For the purposes of this article, it is understood that years of service will mean continuous 

years of service. Probationary firefighters (members with less than twelve (12) months of 

service) will accumulate hours at the rate of eight (8) hours per calendar month.  Probationary 

firefighters may not take vacation leave during their first twelve (12) months of service unless 510 

there are special circumstances which would warrant the Chief, or in his absence, the Deputy 

Fire Chief authorizing a waiver of the restriction on vacation leave.  Requests for waivers and the 

administrative decision regarding the request shall be in written form.   

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

16 

 

 

 Firefighters with less than six (6) years of service will accrue vacation hours at the rate of 515 

eight (8) hours per calendar month.  Firefighters with a minimum of six (6) years of service but 

less than fourteen (14) years of service will accrue vacation hours at the rate of twelve (12) hours 

per calendar month.  Firefighters with fourteen (14) or more years of service shall accrue 

vacation hours at the rate of sixteen (16) hours per calendar month. Effective January 1, 2014 

firefighters with twenty (20) or more years of service shall accrue vacation hours at twenty (20) 520 

hours per calendar month. If the firefighter’s anniversary date of hire falls on or before the 15
th

 

of the month, the firefighter will receive his/her additional vacation accrual that month. If the 

firefighter’s anniversary date falls on or after the 16
th

 of the month, then the firefighter will 

receive his/her additional vacation accrual the following month. This will occur only during the 

sixth and the fourteenth years of service.   525 

 

 Vacation hours will continue to accrue during sick leave absences, while on on-the-job-

injury, or any other paid absences authorized by the Chief or Deputy Chief. 

 

 Except for the first month of service and the last month of service, vacation hours for 530 

each month shall be awarded on the last day of each calendar month and then added to the 

firefighter’s current balance. The month in which employment begins shall be counted as a 

month of service if the date of hire occurs before the 16
th

 of that month.  The month in which 

employment terminates shall count as a month of service if the date of resignation is after the 

15
th

 day of the month.  The Fire Department administration will post a report detailing each 535 

firefighter’s total accumulation of vacation hours.  Firefighters may take vacation time at any 

point throughout the year, but on January first of any year, all vacation balances will not be in a 

negative number.  It must be zero or greater.  It will be the responsibility of the Deputy Chief to 

make sure no one uses more time than they should.  

 540 

 Unless otherwise specified in this Article, vacation leave will be taken in increments of 

one-week periods (blocks).  For vacation leave purposes, a one-week period is defined as 

commencing on Sunday at 7:00 hours and ending on the following Saturday (at the end of the 

shift 07:00 hours). 

  545 

 Vacation leave will be deducted on an hour for hour basis with a minimum of a twenty-

four (24) hour time period (continuous block of time).  Thus, if two duty days fall within the 

vacation week, then forty-eight (48) hours will be deducted from the firefighter’s total hours 

accumulated.  Also if only one duty day falls within the vacation week, then twenty-four (24) 

hours will be deducted from the firefighter’s total vacation hours.   550 

  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

17 

 

 

Section 2 - Vacation Selection 

 

 Vacations shall be chosen by firefighters on the basis of total years of service in the 555 

department without regard for time served in a specific rank.  A maximum of two firefighters per 

battalion can be on vacation at the same time.   

 

 Vacation period selections for the upcoming calendar year shall commence with the 

initial department wide process conducted in the first full week of November starting on Monday 560 

and ending on Thursday of the present year. The Battalion Chief will notify all upcoming year 

shift members in writing of the date and time for vacation selection at least two (2) weeks prior 

to actual picking date.  During this period of time all vacation weeks will be picked.  Firefighters 

may decline to select any or all of their vacation periods during this process.  Any firefighter who 

declines to select their vacation period(s) during this process forfeits his selection and may not 565 

select his/her vacation periods until the vacation process is completed. The firefighter who 

declines to select their vacation period(s) must notify the Deputy Chief, or in his absence, the 

Chief, of his decision.   

 

 For purposes of record keeping, the firefighter’s declination(s) shall be noted (and 570 

initialed) in the appropriate block(s) on the cover sheet attached to his/her battalion’s schedule.  

 

 The selection of vacation periods earned for the upcoming calendar year shall take 

priority over all other earned periods of time off (including vacation periods carried over from 

the previous year).  During the month of November each firefighter, based on seniority, shall 575 

have the opportunity in a department wide process to:  

 

1.  Select/decline their first two seven (7) day vacation blocks (to be completed during the 

first full week of November on their duty day starting Monday). If an employee is not present 

during this time frame, he/she needs to leave a list with the Battalion Chief of the dates 580 

he/she wishes to take, as well as a phone number, so the Battalion Chief can contact the 

employee if the dates he/she has asked for are not available.  If the employee does not 

conform to this, he/she will forfeit their vacation selection and not be allowed to pick their 

vacation until after November 21st.  Any employee who passes on their picks at this point or 

any other point in the vacation selection process will not be allowed to pick the remaining 585 

vacation time until after November 21st.     

 

2.  After seven (7) years of service, select/decline their third seven (7) calendar day vacation 

block upon the battalion’s completion of step 1 (to be completed on the first duty day of that 

week), and then, 590 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

18 

 

 

 

3.  After fifteen (15) years of service, select/decline their fourth seven (7) calendar day 

vacation block upon the battalion’s completion of step 2. (Selection of fourth week block will 

be completed on the first duty day in the first week of November.) 

 595 

4. After twenty-one (21) years of service, select/decline their fifth seven (7) calendar day 

vacation block upon the battalion’s completion of step 3. (Selection of fifth week block will 

be completed on the first duty day in the first week of November.) 

 

If firefighters are changing battalion, they shall select vacations dates with the battalion 600 

they will be working with in the upcoming year. 

 

 Upon completion of the November selection process, the battalion cover sheet and 

vacation selection process shall be forwarded to the Deputy Chief and a copy posted in the 

Battalion Chief’s office, at Engine 5 station and at Engine 2 station.  Following the completion of 605 

the November selection process, the firefighters may randomly substitute/exchange up to two 

vacation block weeks (48 on-duty hours per week) for up to four individual vacation days 

(twenty-four hour on-duty shifts).  The selection of individual vacation days shall commence no 

sooner than 11/21.  All requests for earned time off including carried over vacation periods, etc. 

for the upcoming calendar year shall not be accepted nor submitted prior to 07:00 hours on 610 

11/21.  All requests will be submitted through the Battalion Chief’s Office.  The requests shall be 

forwarded to a Battalion Chief in written form including the date of the request, time of day the 

request was submitted (hours:minutes), and the signature of the BC or his replacement.   

 

Section 3 - Vacation Changes 615 

 

 Any firefighter having declined to select a vacation period during the November process 

shall be allowed to select any unclaimed vacation period (less than two firefighters on vacation) 

for that calendar year.  The request shall be forwarded to the Battalion Chief in written form 

including the date of the request, time of day the request was submitted (hours:minutes), and 620 

signature of the BC or his replacement.  A firefighter’s change of a previously selected vacation 

period will not be allowed if it causes replacement hiring to maintain the minimum staffing level 

per battalion on a day when a floating holiday has already been confirmed.  A firefighter who 

requests vacation time that includes a day already approved as a floating holiday and that would 

cause replacement hiring to maintain minimum staffing level per battalion on that day will be 625 

responsible to find a swap or have to forego the change in vacation. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

19 

 

 

 Firefighters shall be entitled to unlimited changes in previously selected vacations   

provided that notice of such change is approved by the Battalion Chief, and all other conditions 

for vacation changes are met. Approval or denial of the requested change shall be in written 630 

form.  Such approval by a Battalion Chief shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

 A firefighter may accumulate an absolute maximum of 288 hours (six weeks @48 hours 

per week) at the end of any calendar year.  If the hours exceed 288 hours, all unused hours will 

be forfeited, except if a firefighter is unable to take vacation due to an on-the-job-injury or 635 

extended sick leave.  If a firefighter is unable to take vacation due to an OJI or extended sick 

leave, he/she can exceed the cap by 192 hours. 

 

 

Section 5 - Floating Holidays 640 

  

 Each firefighter is entitled to choose and take off one floating holiday per calendar year. 

From 07:00 hours on the Friday after vacation selection through 11/20, firefighters shall either 

pick or pass on selecting their floating holidays.  All requests shall include a single date selection 

and will be submitted to the Battalion Chief’s office in e-mail  form.  Firefighters may choose a 645 

day on which their battalion would thereby be reduced below the apparatus staffing level except 

due to prior scheduled vacations or floating holidays. Within twenty-four (24) hours of the 

request, the Battalion Chief shall notify the requesting firefighter that his/her floating holiday 

date is confirmed, approved pending the battalion’s return above the apparatus staffing level, or 

that it is denied because of prior scheduled vacation or floating holidays. A floating holiday that 650 

is approved pending the battalion’s return above the apparatus staffing level will be a placeholder 

only. The firefighter shall ensure that his/her holiday has been confirmed at least one shift before 

his/her selected date.  

 

If selecting a holiday after 11/20, no firefighter may choose a holiday on a day on which 655 

his/her battalion would thereby be reduced below the apparatus staffing level (because of prior 

scheduled vacations, existing extended sick leave, on-the-job injuries, or other cause known at 

the time notice is given). Within twenty-four (24) hours of the request,   the Battalion Chief shall 

notify the requesting firefighter that his/her floating holiday date is confirmed, or that it is denied 

because it would cause a reduction in force below the staffing level per apparatus. 660 

The purpose of this provision is to allow the firefighter choosing a floating holiday to 

make advance plans for the enjoyment of that holiday, while minimizing the occasion on which 

the City will incur extra cost for replacement to maintain apparatus staffing. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

20 

 

 

Floating holidays may not be carried over from one year to another without the approval 665 

of the Chief.  The Chief will consider any extenuating circumstances when approving or denying 

the carryover of floating holidays. 

 

ARTICLE XI - Sick Leave 

 670 

Section 1 - Use of Sick Leave   

 

 It is the expectation of the City of Auburn and I.A.F.F., Local 797 that firefighters will be 

available for duty.  However it is recognized from time to time, a firefighter will be absent due to 

illness.  Therefore firefighters shall accrue sick leave at a rate of thirteen (13) hours for each 675 

calendar month of service to be used for the firefighter's personal illness or for a member of the 

firefighter's "immediate family".  For purposes of this article, "immediate family" is defined as a 

spouse, significant other, child, or parent.  A firefighter absent because of any one or more of the 

foregoing reasons shall cause such fact to be reported to the officer in charge immediately.  A 

firefighter shall also be entitled to sick leave when his/her disability arises out of or in the course 680 

of actual gainful employment outside the Fire Department, except when he/she is receiving 

worker's compensation for injury or illness. A firefighter on sick leave shall call in when he/she 

is able to return to duty.   

 

 Actual hours of sick leave used shall be charged against a firefighter for each workday 685 

that he/she is absent from duty for any of the reasons set out in the first paragraph of this Article. 

 

Section 2 - Return to Work/Fitness for Duty   

 

 Any firefighter who is unable to work for eight (8) consecutive calendar days (counted 690 

beginning with the date of absence shown on the "Report of Absence" slip) or more due to 

personal injury or illness shall deliver a doctor's certificate before returning to work stating that 

the firefighter is fit for duty.  The expenses, if any, for obtaining the doctor's certificate shall be 

borne by the City, including reimbursement to the firefighter within one (1) week of submission 

of a request for reimbursement with attached receipt.  The officer on duty may require him/her to 695 

report to work if it is his/her regularly scheduled workday.  Such returning firefighters shall be 

charged for sick leave on a pro-rated basis, and his/her replacement, if any, shall be paid on a 

pro-rated basis. 

 

 700 

 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

21 

 

 

Section 3 - Sick Leave Authentication 

 

 Every Month, the Fire Chief, or his designee and the Union President will review the sick 705 

leave records to determine if there is a potential pattern of sick leave abuse.  Such patterns might 

include but are not limited to the following be: 

 

1.  The firefighter uses sick days as soon as they are credited to him/her 

 710 

2.  High usage of sick leave for the firefighter or his immediate family without corresponding 

documentation as to the reasons for sick leave 

 

3.  Use of sick leave the shift before or the shift after scheduled vacation, floating holidays or 

swaps 715 

4.  Use of sick leave on the days for which leave had been previously requested, but denied 

 

5.  Use of sick leave on a particular day of the week 

 

6.  Use of sick leave which corresponds to an undesirable work assignment 720 

 

7.  Use of sick leave for a full 24 hour shift when the firefighter could have reported back to 

work for a partial shift 

 

 In any case, the Fire Chief or his designee may, in the exercise of his/her independent 725 

judgment, require further authentication of a claim for sick leave including a doctor's certificate 

as to the nature of the firefighter's disability and that he/she is unable to work.  Authentication 

may also be requested to verify that a firefighter is required to care for a family member.  The 

firefighter shall select the doctor from whom the certificate is to be obtained. Authentication 

must take place within 24 hours of the firefighter’s call onto the sick list. This should take place 730 

at the doctor’s office of the firefighter’s choice if possible. If this is not possible, then 

authentication will be obtained from an emergency department. Any expenses incurred in 

obtaining a doctor's certificate shall be borne by the City.  Pending receipt of such authentication, 

the City may withhold further sick leave payments.  

 735 

 If the Fire Chief or his/her designee notes a pattern of potential sick leave as described 

above, he may require the firefighter to provide a doctor's certificate each subsequent work day 

the firefighter is on sick leave until such time as the pattern is no longer evident or the amount of 

sick leave is substantially reduced. 

 740 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

22 

 

 

Section 4 - Sick Leave Incentives   

 

 On a quarterly basis, the Union President and the Deputy Chief will assess the impact of 

the elimination of the Sick Leave Incentive Program on sick leave usage and will report back to 

the Labor Management Committee 745 

 

Section 5 - Wellness Incentive Days   

 

 Firefighters who participate in the City of Auburn Wellness Incentive Program and who 

have earned a Wellness Day Off may take time off by calling into the Battalion Chief no earlier 750 

than 6:00 a.m. to determine if his/her shift is within the apparatus staffing for the day.  If the shift 

does not have to hire extra personnel, the firefighter may have the shift off without being charged 

against his/her accrued sick or vacation leave.  If the apparatus is at minimum staffing, the 

firefighter may not use his/her Wellness Incentive Day on that day. 

 755 

Section 6 - Sick Bank  

 

 The City Manager may from time to time authorize a sick bank for individual employees 

on a case-by-case basis if they meet certain criteria.  If a firefighter voluntarily participates in a 

City-wide sick bank, the hours donated will be deducted from the firefighter’s accumulated sick 760 

and/or vacation leave.  The firefighter’s participation will not affect his/her eligibility for perfect 

attendance as per Article XI Section 4. 

 

ARTICLE XII - Grievance Procedure  

 765 

Section 1 - Grievance Procedure 

 

A grievance shall be defined as any dispute or disagreement raised by an employee in the 

bargaining unit or the City involving interpretation or application of the specific provisions of 

this collective bargaining agreement.  Grievances, when presented by the Union to the City or by 770 

the City to the Union shall state in writing what provision of the collective bargaining agreement 

has been violated, and how the agreement has been violated, and shall state what the requested 

remedy is. Grievances shall be settled as provided in the following sections. 

 

Section 2 - Firefighters Grievance 775 

 

Step 1.  The aggrieved firefighter shall first meet with the individual(s) with whom he/she has 

the issue in order to determine all the facts and to attempt to resolve the issue before 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

23 

 

 

proceeding with the grievance.  This meeting should be held as soon as reasonably 

possible. 780 

 

Step 2.  Any aggrieved firefighter shall submit his/her grievance to the Association. 

 

Step 3.  The Association may submit a grievance on its own behalf, or that of one or more of 

its members.  Any such grievance will be submitted by delivery in writing to the Fire 785 

Chief.  A grievance on behalf of less than all members of the Association shall be filed 

within thirty (30) calendar days after the aggrieved firefighter(s) knew, or should have 

known of the facts giving rise to the grievance.  A grievance on behalf of the Association 

itself, or of all of its members, shall be filed within thirty (30) calendar days after one or 

more of the Association elected officers knew, or should have known of the facts giving 790 

rise to the grievance.  Any grievance not filed within the thirty (30) calendar days time 

limit or, under any circumstances, within one (1) year of the time of occurrence that gave 

rise to the grievance shall not be considered timely and shall be deemed waived.  The Fire 

Chief shall issue a written response to the Association within ten (10) administrative 

working days of a receipt of a grievance. 795 

 

Step 4.  (Optional) If unsatisfied with the Fire Chief's action, the Association may request a 

meeting with the Assistant City Manager or Human Resources Director to review the 

grievance.  The meeting shall include all parties pertinent to the grievance and shall be held 

within ten (10) working days from the date of the Fire Chief’s decision.  800 

 

Step 5.  If unsatisfied with the Fire Chief's action, or the steps as outlined in Step 4 above, the 

Association may appeal in writing to the City Manager within ten (10) administrative 

working days after receipt of the Fire Chief's decision (or ten (10) administrative working 

days after meeting outlined in Step 4 above).  The City Manager will schedule and hear the 805 

appeal within ten (10) administrative working days after receipt of the notice of appeal. At 

this hearing the Association may present witnesses and evidence in support of their 

position.  The City Manager shall forthwith consider the appeal, witnesses and evidence 

and notify the Association of his/her decision within ten (10) administrative working days 

after the hearing takes place.  810 

 

Step 6.  If unsatisfied with the City Manager’s decision the Association, within ten (10) 

administrative working days  after receipt of the City Manager's decision, may advance the 

grievance to mediation pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965(2), Mediation, so as to have a  

mediator appointed from the Panel of Mediators  to assist the parties in resolving the 815 

grievance. Upon filing for mediation, the requesting party may simultaneously file for 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

24 

 

 

arbitration, provided the mediation be scheduled and take place prior to arbitration.  To 

expedite the process, the requesting party may provide the estimated share of providing the 

service and then be reimbursed pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A §965(5). Mediators 

appointed to grievances that are furthered to arbitration are not allowed to participate with 820 

the arbitration process.  Upon mutual consent, the City and Association may waive the 

preceding steps and progress to Arbitration.  

 

In the event the parties were unable to resolve the grievance, the grievance may be 

advanced to binding arbitration, by giving written notice of its intention to do so within ten 825 

(10) administrative working days after the conclusion of the mediation process. The parties 

shall agree upon a single neutral arbitrator from the Maine Board of Arbitration and 

Conciliation (MBAC) or if the parties are unable to agree, either party may request the 

American Arbitration Association (AAA) to assign an arbitrator. The request to the MBAC 

or AAA must be made within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of the mediation process. 830 

The arbitration shall be in accordance with the Rules of the MBAC or the AAA. The 

arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from or modify the provisions of this 

Agreement. The arbitrator shall be requested to issue his decision within thirty (30) days 

after the conclusion of the testimony and argument. The decision shall be final and binding 

upon the parties thereto although subject to appeal to the Maine Superior Court and Maine 835 

Supreme Judicial Court. 

 

Costs associated with this process and arbitrator decisions shall be determined by Title 26, 

M.R.S.A. §965.  

 840 

Section 3 - City Grievance 

 

The City shall notify the Association within thirty (30) days of the day it knows, or 

reasonably should have known the facts giving rise to the dispute.  Any grievances not filed 

within the thirty (30) day time limit, or, under any circumstances, within one year of the time of 845 

occurrence that gave rise to the grievance shall not be considered timely and shall be deemed 

waived.  Within ten (10) administrative working days thereafter, the parties shall meet to attempt 

to resolve the matter at the Labor Management Committee.   

 

If unsatisfied with the Labor Management process, the City within ten (10) administrative 850 

working days may advance the grievance to mediation pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965(2), 

Mediation, so as assist the parties in resolving the grievance. Upon filing for mediation, the 

requesting party may simultaneously file for arbitration, provided the mediation be scheduled 

and take place prior to arbitration.  To expedite the process, the requesting party may provide the 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

25 

 

 

estimated share of providing the service and then be reimbursed pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A 855 

§965(5). Subsequent and necessary action may be advanced within ten (10) administrative 

working days after receipt of the mediation process, whereby the parties were unable to effect a 

settlement of their controversy, by either party, pursuant to Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965(4), 

Arbitration. Mediators appointed to controversies that are furthered to arbitration are not allowed 

to participate with the arbitration process. Upon mutual consent, the City and Association may 860 

waive the preceding steps to Arbitration. Costs associated with this process and arbitrator 

decisions shall be determined by Title 26, M.R.S.A. §965, Obligation to bargain, as amended.  

 

Section 4 - Extensions of Time Limits 

 865 

Time limits provided herein may be extended by written agreement of the parties.  

Request for extension shall not unreasonably be withheld. 

 

 

ARTICLE XIII - Leaves 870 

 

The Auburn Fire Department and the City of Auburn have a proprietary interest in ensuring the 

safety and security of its staff, citizens, and visitors. To that end it is the goal of both 

stakeholders to limit the amount of time that firefighters are away from their apparatus or 

stations. Evidence has proven that the earlier a sufficient number of trained responders arrive to 875 

manage an incident, regardless of nature, the faster the incident will be controlled increasing the 

chances of a positive outcome.   

 

Section 1 - Funeral Leave 

 880 

 Leave of absence without loss of pay and without loss of sick leave shall be granted to 

any firefighter for five (5) consecutive calendar days because of death of a spouse or child and 

three (3) consecutive calendar days because of a death in the immediate family, plus any actual 

travel time reasonably required to return from out-of-state.  Immediate family shall be defined to 

include mother, stepmother, father, stepfather, brother, stepbrother, sister, stepsister, father-in-885 

law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparents, 

spouse's grandparents, grandchildren and any other person living in the firefighter's household.  

Such leave shall commence not later than the date of interment.  Any additional time needed 

after the expiration of the three (3) day period shall be charged against the firefighter's sick leave.  

If the firefighter is unable to return to duty at the end of the five (5) or three (3) day period, 890 

he/she shall so notify the Battalion Chief on duty at Central Fire Station by the fifth or third day.   

 

 A firefighter may also be granted leave to attend the funerals of the persons not 

mentioned in the Article at the discretion of the Chief.  If the firefighter takes more than six (6) 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

26 

 

 

hours for the funeral for an individual not specifically mentioned in the list above, the entire time 895 

will be charged against the firefighter's accrued sick leave. 

 

Section 2 - Emergency Leave  

  

Any firefighter shall be permitted to leave immediately (without loss of pay) and without 900 

replacement on account of any emergency concerning his/her home or his/her family upon 

giving notice to the Battalion Chief or officer in charge, provided that he/she report within an 

hour after taking leave the amount of time that will be required to attend the emergency.  Any 

time away from work in excess of one (1) hour will be charged to sick leave. 

 905 

Section 3 – Incidental  Leaves  

 

 Incidental  Leave is an unplanned leave for taking care of non-emergency personal 

business, such as going to the bank to cash a check.  It is not meant for a long term absence of 

more than 15 to 30 minutes or for planned events. These are reasonable conditions to be imposed 910 

on incidental leave to accomplish the needed task. The Battalion Chief and the Acting Battalion 

Chief may approve incidental leave and have the right to impose other restrictions on this leave 

or may allow for longer leave if the reason makes sense.  For normal incidental  leave 15 to 30 

minutes will be the time limits to shoot for.  

Emergency leave is for an emergency, and not a leave to be used for in a planned event. 915 

Emergency leave is for those unplanned events that need your immediate attention such as an 

emergency concerning your family or your home. 

 

Section 4 - Association Meetings and Seminar Leave  

 920 

A firefighter shall be granted leave of absence without loss of pay to attend meetings or 

seminars approved by the Association provided, however, that such leave shall not exceed an 

accumulated total of three (3) on-duty working days, and provided further, that the City shall not 

be required to grant such leave if a replacement would have to be obtained in accordance with 

the staffing requirements established in Article XV, Section 1 of this Agreement. 925 

 

ARTICLE XIV - Exchange of Shifts and Transfers 

 

Section 1 - Exchange of Shifts  

 930 

Firefighters shall be permitted to exchange work shifts and off-duty shifts provided that: 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

27 

 

 

1.  Their replacements are qualified to perform their duties and provided, 

 

2.  Exchanges may be made for the purpose of engaging in gainful employment so long as 935 

such gainful employment involves activities directly related to the firefighter’s job duties 

and/or professional development.  Such an exchange must be pre-approved in writing by the 

Chief or his/her designee.  Approved exchanges for gainful employment shall not count 

towards the bank referenced below. 

 940 

3.  An employee whose loaned time off is being repaid may perform such work as he/she 

usually performs when not on duty with the Fire Department. 

  

4.  Exchanges being made for the purpose of satisfying military service requirements or 

approved education and training, shall not be counted towards the bank referenced in number 945 

five below for either the firefighter initiating or fulfilling “pay-back” the swap 

  

5.  Each firefighter shall have a bank of 288 hours from which he/she may draw for exchange 

of shifts in excess of twelve (12) hours.  Swaps of twelve (12) hours or less do not count 

toward the swap bank.  Swaps referenced in #7 below may also not count at the discretion of 950 

the Chief or his/her designee.  

 

6.  No more than three (3) firefighters on any work shift may be granted such exchanges 

except that, in the discretion of the Battalion Chief, additional exchanges may be permitted 

provided their replacements are qualified and no weakening in the department's firefighting 955 

capacity will result. 

  

7.  A firefighter may not be allowed to participate in 24-hour exchanges of shifts which 

would cause him to be off-duty for more than four consecutive work cycles (a work cycle is 

defined as one 24 hour period on-duty followed by three 24 hour periods off-duty) unless 960 

approved by the Chief or his/her designee.  Situations qualifying for such approval include 

but shall not be limited to military leave, educational endeavors, and extended illness/injury.   

 

8.  The Battalion Chief may approve swaps according to these guidelines except as noted 

elsewhere in this article.  965 

 

 This exchange of twenty-four (24) hour shift limitation shall not affect vacation or other 

off-duty time provided for in this agreement and is not intended to prevent individuals from 

coordinating exchanges of shift with vacations or other off-duty time provided for in this 

agreement. 970 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

28 

 

 

 

 The limitation on the number of allowable exchanges of twenty-four hour shifts shall not 

affect occasions when the firefighter requests a swap for the purposes of attending a job-related 

seminar, course or other educational program, provided that the firefighter has the proper 

documentation as to the nature and schedule of the seminar, course, etc., and has received prior 975 

approval from the Chief or his designee. 

 

 If a firefighter who is due to work the shift of another on account of an exchange 

becomes ill or is injured off the job more than 24 hours prior to the time he/she is due to report 

for that shift, it is that firefighter's responsibility to find a replacement so that the exchange does 980 

not cost the City additional money in the form of overtime for a replacement.  If a firefighter 

who is due to work the shift of another is injured on the job more than seventy-two (72) hours 

prior to the time he/she is due to report for duty, it is that firefighter's responsibility to find a 

replacement so that the exchange does not cost the City additional money in the form of overtime 

for a replacement.  If such a replacement is not found, the firefighter shall be responsible for 985 

reimbursing the City in the amount of the difference between what his regular pay would have 

been for that shift and the amount actually paid to the person who replaced him/her. 

 

 

Section 2 - Transfers, Permanent Positions, Bidding, EMT Assignments 990 

 

 1. Vacancies:  When a permanent vacancy occurs in a position, transfers will be governed by 

the provisions of this article.  As used in this article a "vacancy" shall mean a position not 

occupied due to death, retirement, transfer, resignation, dismissal, promotion of an incumbent or 

an unfilled newly created position.  When a vacancy occurs rank for rank picking by seniority 995 

will be done within the battalion that has the vacancy.  Only the affected rank will pick.  If the 

selection creates a non-EMS unit, refer to Section 2-5. 

 

2. Establishing Permanent Positions:  On the first Wednesday of every otherOctober 

commencing in 2002, each member will be given the opportunity to pick his permanent 1000 

assignment from any of the remaining positions in his rank.  An Executive Committee member 

will assist the Deputy Chief in the administration of this transfer process. The most senior 

Battalion Chief will pick first having four (4) choices.  The next senior Battalion Chief will have 

three (3) choices, etc., until all Battalion Chiefs have picked.  The next picking will be done by 

the Captains, Lieutenants and the Privates observing the same procedure.  After all members 1005 

have picked according to the provisions of this section they will be in their permanent positions.  

If a member is not available to make this selection, a prioritized list of selections must be left in 

writing with the Deputy Chief.  All transfers will take effect on the first Sunday in January.   



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

29 

 

 

 

3. Bidding:  Every year (except when establishing permanent positions) during the last two 1010 

weeks in September any member who would like to change his position shall put it in writing in 

a sealed envelope and submit it to the Deputy Chief.  Those positions will be put into a pool and 

are the only positions up for bid.  All bids will be awarded in order of seniority according to 

rank.  Members who have not submitted their position to the pool will not be allowed to bid.  

Posting date will be October 1st, and will include all available positions and personnel by rank 1015 

and seniority.  Bidding will be done during the first two weeks in October. 

 

4. Seniority:  Transfers shall be rank for rank and seniority is defined as time in rank.  “Time-in-

rank” seniority is defined as the length of continuous service in their present rank from the date 

of promotion, less any adjustments due to approved leaves of absence without pay (unless 1020 

otherwise agreed by the City Manager). 

 

In the case of an officer who has been reduced in rank, that officer’s time-in-rank 

seniority shall be considered to be the length of continuous service in that particular rank 

including the time the officer was in the rank from which he was reduced.  If time in rank is 1025 

equal, then time in the Department prevails.  

 

5. EMT Assignment Procedures:   

 

(a)  The rescue crew shall consist of a State of Maine licensed paramedic and at least a State 1030 

of Maine licensed EMS provider. 

 

(b)  All pumps will have at least one State of Maine licensed EMS provider assigned to it. 

 

(c)  Paramedics will be distributed as equally as possible between the battalion. 1035 

 

(d)  If a pump/rescue does not have a State of Maine licensed EMS provider assigned to it 

after establishing permanent positions, the senior State of Maine licensed provider of the 

same rank on the battalion will be asked to go to the pump/rescue that is lacking a State of 

Maine licensed EMS provider.  If he chooses that assignment he will bump the junior person 1040 

of the same rank on that truck.  The person who got bumped has the right to go to the 

firefighter on the battalion that he is most senior to and bump him, that following suit until 

everyone has a position.  If he chooses, he can go to the vacant spot held by the State of 

Maine licensed EMS provider that is moving.  If the senior State of Maine licensed EMS 

provider of the same rank does not want to move, the next senior State of Maine licensed 1045 

EMS provider of the same rank on the battalion will be asked to go to that position 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

30 

 

 

continuing the same procedure as described above.  This process will be repeated until all 

pumps/rescue have State of Maine EMS provider assigned to it.  If the EMS position is not 

filled, the junior State of Maine EMS provider of the same rank on that battalion will assume 

that position. 1050 

 

6. Filling of a Temporary Vacancy:  This situation is intended to cover long term vacancies of 

one month or more such as leaves of absence, on the job injuries and/or extended sick leave a 

firefighter from an unaffected battalion may volunteer to fill the vacant position after the need 

for the vacancy has been posted. The specific criteria (such as rank and EMS licensure level) will 1055 

be identified in the posting and only those that fit the criteria may apply. The vacancy will be 

posted for two work cycles (8 days). Any firefighter who would like to volunteer to fill the 

temporary vacancy shall do so in writing to the Deputy Chief.  The most volunteer with the most 

seniority will be selected.  

 1060 

 Should no firefighter volunteer to fill the temporary vacancy, then the Chief will select a 

firefighter to do so from an unaffected battalion. Those firefighters filling temporary vacancies 

may take previously selected vacations and floating holidays, even though it will cause a 

decrease in the minimum apparatus staffing for those days. The Chief will take into 

consideration other types of negative impacts the firefighter may have when filling the temporary 1065 

vacancy.   The firefighter who is assigned to fill the temporary vacancy will go back to his 

previous assignment when the absent firefighter returns to the department or the vacancy 

becomes permanent. If the bidding for the temporary vacancy creates a non-EMS pump/rescue, 

refer to Sec. 2-5. 

 1070 

ARTICLE XV - Recall to Work 

  

Section 1 - Off-Duty  

 

 Off-duty firefighters may be recalled to duty in the case of multiple alarms, major 1075 

emergencies, or when staffing per apparatus is below the required level. The required minimum 

staffing level for each structural engine company is three (3); aerial company is three (3) and one 

Battalion Chief.  The parties agree that in no event will the City be required to assign more than 

three firefighters per apparatus as set forth above, plus the Battalion Chief. The Chief may 

increase the staffing requirements when conditions reasonably warrant his/her doing so. 1080 

 

Staffing for other apparatus not listed above will be at the discretion of the Fire Chief or 

designee.   

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

31 

 

 

 Stand-by duty shall no longer be required provided that a sufficient number of firefighters 1085 

return to duty for multiple alarms or major emergencies.  If a sufficient number of firefighters do 

not return to duty, in the judgment of the Chief, up to four (4) firefighters may be required to 

serve on stand-by.  All firefighters will be called on multiple alarms and box 33's unless canceled 

by the Incident Commander. 

 1090 

 The firefighter will be notified of second alarms and/or Box 33's by telephone (primary 

notification) and/or by pager (secondary notification).  Acknowledgment of arrival time occurs 

when the firefighter reports for duty at the station or substation and is logged on to the Battalion 

Chief's multiple alarm sheets. 

 1095 

 The time of work performed in the case of multiple alarms shall be computed from the 

time of notification based upon the nearest quarter hour, except that any firefighter reporting 

more than thirty (30) minutes after notification of the alarm shall be paid for work performed 

computed from actual reporting.  Any firefighter must report within thirty (30) minutes from the 

time the firefighter is notified of a multiple alarm to be eligible for three hours of time and a half 1100 

for a minimum payment. 

 

 Any firefighter responding to a multiple alarm arriving more than one (1) hour prior to 

the time that he/she would otherwise have been required to report for duty shall receive a 

minimum of $50.00. 1105 

 

Section 2 - Replacement Coverage Turns    

 

 When staffing falls below requirements as set forth in Article XV, Section 1, 

replacements shall be obtained from the extra work list.  When there is no EMT on duty and 1110 

additional staff is required, the City shall recall an EMT as the name appears on the extra work 

list or compulsory work list.  If there are no firefighters/EMTs willing to work, replacements 

shall then be obtained from the compulsory work list.  Any firefighter or firefighter/EMT 

selected to work from the compulsory work list shall have the right to find his/her own 

replacement.   1115 

 

When hiring replacement, the Department will follow the Rules for Overtime Hiring.  

 

ARTICLE XVI - Health and Safety 

 1120 

Section  1 - Health Promotion Program and Employee Cost Share   

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

32 

 

 

Firefighters and the City agree to implement a Health Promotion Program with the following 

goals: 

 1125 

1.  To promote wellness and health by rewarding employees and their dependents for healthy 

behavior that will encourage employees to develop and maintain healthy habits;  

 

2.  To reduce the overall need for health care services by City employees and their 

dependents; and, 1130 

 

3. To slow the rate of increase in the City’s health insurance premiums.  

 

 Employees (and the spouse if applicable) who participate in the Health Promotion 

Program and make their best efforts to achieve health management goals will pay a minimum of 1135 

15% of the monthly premiums.  Employees who do not participate in the Health Promotion 

Program will pay a maximum of 25% of the monthly premiums, as established by the Maine 

Municipal Employees Health Trust (or alternative health insurance carrier); regardless if the 

employee is in a single, single parent or family plan.  The employee's contribution will be 

withheld on a weekly basis, based upon 48 weeks in the calendar year. 1140 

 

 In the event that the Health Promotion Program is eliminated, through loss of funding or 

any other reason, the employee cost share will continue to be 15% of monthly premiums for the 

life of this agreement.  

 1145 

A full description of the Health Promotion Program is attached as Appendix A. 

 

Section  2 - Health Insurance 

 

 The Association recognizes the increasing cost of providing health insurance to 1150 

employees.  To assist the City in addressing this mutual concern, the Association will join with 

the City in its efforts to provide further education and information for members in regards to the 

use of MMEHT cost containment benefit guidelines. 

 

 Effective 1/1/14 the City will implement the PPO 500 Plan through the Maine Municipal 1155 

Employees Health Trust, on a voluntary basis at the employer/employee cost share as outlined in 

Article XVI Section 1. Health Promotion Program and Employee Cost.  Employees who opt to 

remain in the Point of Service C Plan will pay the difference in premiums between the PPO 500 

Plan and the POS C Plan for single, single parent and family subscribers. The City may change 

or offer alternative health insurance programs including, but not limited to insurance carriers, 1160 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

33 

 

 

health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations, or to self-insure so long as 

the new or alternative coverage and benefits are substantially similar to the plan most recently 

provided to the membership and further provided that: 

 

1. The City, by written communication, notifies the Association, no less than sixty days prior 1165 

to implementation, of the specific details of any changes or alternatives in health insurance. 

 

2. That the City, subsequent to the written notification but within sixty days, meets with the 

Association to discuss the changes or alternatives. 

 1170 

3. That any disagreement between the parties to this labor contract as to the changes or 

alternatives being "substantially similar" be resolved by arbitration. 

 

4. That such changes or alternatives shall not increase the financial burden places upon 

employees above the current level. 1175 

 

 The City may institute cost containment measures relative to insurance coverage so long 

as the basic level of insurance benefits remains "substantially similar" to the current coverage 

and no financial burden is incurred by the employees.  Such changes may include, but are not 

limited to, mandatory second opinions for elective surgery, pre-admission and continuing 1180 

admission review, prohibition on weekend admission except in emergency situations, and 

mandatory out-patient elective surgery for certain designated surgical procedures. 

 

 The City shall provide adequate staff assistance to help firefighter’s process claim forms, 

including mailing of claims and medical forms to health care providers. 1185 

 

Section 3 – Health Reimbursement Account –  

 

 Effective 7/1/14, the City will implement a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) for 

use toward deductibles and co-insurance in the amount of $750 for single person and $1,500 for 1190 

single parent subscribers and family subscribers in the PPO 500 Plan. Unused money in the HRA 

rolls over from one year to the next and each fiscal year, the City will refund each account up to 

the $750 and $1500 maximums.  

 

Section  4 - Payment Program for Waiving Health Insurance Coverage with the City of Auburn         1195 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

34 

 

 

 Any firefighter may elect to waive coverage in the City's health insurance plan.  Any 

firefighter waiving full coverage or partial coverage for which he/she would otherwise be 

eligible shall be paid according to the following conditions: 

 1200 

Except as stated in Article XVII Section 1. Separation From Department, any firefighter 

eligible for full family coverage or single coverage and who elects to waive health insurance 

coverage shall receive a payment equal to the amount of five (5) months of health insurance 

premiums. The waiver payments will be made in twelve (12) monthly payments.  

 1205 

A firefighter who is eligible for a full family plan but opts to take either a "single parent 

plan" or a "single plan" shall receive an annual payment equal to five months of the difference in 

premiums between the plan for which he/she is eligible and the plan which he/she opts to take. 

 

Firefighters who are married to other City (non-school) employees covered by the health 1210 

insurance shall be eligible for an amount equal to five (5) months of insurance premiums at the 

single rate if he/she waives health insurance coverage with the City. 

 

The payments in lieu of health insurance shall be based on the premiums in effect the 

month the premiums are paid. All health insurance waiver premiums are based upon the PPO 1215 

500 Plan premiums effective 1/1/2014.  

 

A new firefighter who waives health insurance coverage shall not be eligible for the 

payment in lieu of insurance until he/she has successfully completed the probationary period. 

 1220 

If the firefighter wishes to be reinstated on the health insurance policy or change his/her 

coverage from a single or a single parent plan (if he/she would otherwise be eligible for full 

coverage) he/she may do so as long as he or she follows the insurance carrier's requirements for 

evidence of insurability and portability of coverage provisions. 

 1225 

If a firefighter is reinstated (or covered for the first time) after receiving payment for 

waiving health insurance coverage, the firefighter shall repay the City the balance of the 

payment, pro-rated on a monthly basis. 

 

In order to receive payment for waiving health insurance coverage or to be reinstated on 1230 

the health insurance plan, the firefighter must submit written notice to the Human Resources 

Director.  Discontinuance of health insurance or reinstatement of coverage will be effective the 

first day of the following month in which written notice has been received, provided that the 

employee meets all conditions, which may be imposed by the health insurance carrier. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

35 

 

 

 1235 

Section  5 - Extent of Coverage   

 

 The extent of coverage provided under the existing insurance policies (including HMO 

and self-insured plans) referred to in the Agreement shall be governed by the terms and 

conditions set forth in said policies or plans in existence at the time of the dispute.  Any 1240 

questions or disputes concerning said insurance policies or plans or benefits hereunder shall be 

resolved in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in said policies or plans and shall 

not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in the Agreement.  The failure 

of any insurance carrier(s) or plan administrator(s) to provide any benefit for which it has 

contracted or is obligated shall result in no liability to the City, nor shall such failure be 1245 

considered a breach by the City of any obligation undertaken under this or any other Agreement. 

 

Section  6 - Benefits Supplementing Workers' Compensation Benefits   

 

 If a firefighter receives a personal injury or is disabled by occupational disease arising out 1250 

of and in the course of his/her employment by the City, the City will, provided that the 

provisions of this Article are met by the firefighter, continue his/her full contract wages and other 

benefits, without interruption or waiting period, so long as he/she is incapacitated to perform 

firefighter's work as a result of the personal injury or occupational disease.  The City has the 

right to contest a workers’ compensation claim.  Such a claim will be appealed and resolved 1255 

according to the procedures provided by the workers’ compensation statutes and regulations. 

 

 An aggrieved firefighter may seek relief only under the Workers' Compensation Act 

before the Workers' Compensation Commission.  In the event of a final decision by the Workers' 

Compensation Commission that the firefighter' injury or illness arose out of and in the course of 1260 

his/her employment with the City, and incapacitated him/her for his/her work as a firefighter, 

then, in addition to benefits payable under the Workers' Compensation Act, the City shall 

provide the firefighter all additional benefits due under this contract, if any, retroactive to the 

date of incapacity.  No firefighter shall receive any combination of benefits from the City or its 

Workers' Compensation carrier, including, but not limited to sick pay and vacation pay, which 1265 

benefits total more than such employee's benefits under this contract, or the Workers' 

Compensation Act, whichever is greater.  No firefighter shall lose sick pay benefits during time 

he/she is entitled to benefits under this section. 

 

 The firefighter who is receiving or claims benefits under this Article shall, if requested by 1270 

the City, promptly file a claim for Workers’ Compensation benefits.  Otherwise, the employee 

may exercise rights under Workers' Compensation Act as he/she wishes, or not.  If a claim for 

Workers' Compensation benefits is not filed within thirty (30) days after receipt of a written 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

36 

 

 

request making reference to this provision in the contract, then the City may terminate wages 

provided under this Article unless and until the firefighter files the requested claim. 1275 

 

 Upon filing a claim for continuation of wages under this Article, the firefighter shall, 

upon request by the City, execute a certificate authorizing the City to obtain in writing from any 

physician, osteopath, chiropractor, or any other health care provider, any written information 

which is or has been obtained in connection with the examination or treatment of the employee 1280 

and which relates to any injury or disease for which compensation is claimed. 

 

 The City shall have, for any benefits paid a firefighter pursuant to this Article, the 

identical lien and rights as against third parties and the firefighter as the City or its insurance 

carrier may give as regards worker's compensation benefits under 39 M.R.S.A.§68.  At the 1285 

request of the City, the firefighter shall sign such documents and perform such acts as are 

reasonably required in order to effectively subrogate the City to the firefighter's claim(s). 

 

The rights of the City and the firefighter under this Article are in addition to and not 

limited by the Workers’ Compensation Act of the State of Maine and regulations issued pursuant 1290 

thereto. 

 

Section  7 - Expense of Injury or Illness 

 

 The City shall pay all hospital, medical, and surgical expenses incurred by any 1295 

firefighters on account of injury or illness arising out of and during the course of their 

employment; except that it shall not be required to pay for any such expenses which are covered 

by insurance provided by the City or otherwise assumed by the City. 

 

Section  8 - Light Duty Return to Work  1300 

 

 The City and Local 797, IAFF agree to continue the Light Duty Return-to-Work Program 

for firefighters. The goal of the program is: 

 

1.  To assist the firefighter in the return to his/her pre-injury position with the Fire 1305 

Department; 

 

2.  To provide some “connectedness of the firefighter to the Department; 

 

3.  To speed the recovery process; 1310 

 

4.  To provide for meaningful work for the Department and the Firefighter; 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

37 

 

 

 

5.  To make maximum use of the Firefighter’s skills and abilities. To that end, the City has 

defined specific work assignments or light duty activities that will be made available to 1315 

employees injured at work who are unable for period of time, as defined in this section, to 

perform their regular firefighting duties. 

 

a. No light duty assignment shall result in the transfer, displacement, or lay-off of another 

firefighter, nor shall any assignment be made for the purpose of demeaning, 1320 

discriminating or punishing the employee for his/her injury, illness, or absence from 

work. 

 

b. The individual participating in the light duty program will not count toward the 

apparatus staffing level on duty for that shift. 1325 

 

c. The injured employee will not be required to work on any other shift that his battalion 

would normally work, unless mutually agreed between the firefighter and the City.  If 

mutually agreed between the firefighter and the City, the firefighter will work the 

administrative work schedule (8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m. M-F) or an alternative flexible 1330 

schedule to be determined on a case by case basis.  It is understood that any alternate 

schedule will be based upon an average of a 42 hour work week.  The firefighter will not 

be required to work for any other department than the Fire Department, unless mutually 

agreed upon between the City and the firefighter. 

 1335 

d. The employee on light duty will receive full pay and benefits as provided by Article 

XVI Health and Safety, Section 5. Benefits Supplementing Workers' Compensation 

Benefits.   

 

e.  In order to improve the effectiveness of the Light Duty Return to Work Program, and 1340 

to fully utilize the skills and abilities of the injured firefighter, the Deputy Chief, the 

Battalion Chief on-duty and the injured firefighter will meet at the beginning of the shift 

to discuss the firefighter's medical restrictions; the work that falls within the medical 

restrictions that need to be performed that day; the firefighter’s special training, expertise 

or interests; and the firefighters suggestions for ways that he/she might best enhance the 1345 

Department’s operations while on light duty  

 

At the end of each shift, the firefighter on light duty will provide a description of the 

activities performed during the shift and will turn this record into the Battalion Chief at 

the end of each shift 1350 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

38 

 

 

 

f.  The firefighter may be on light duty status for a maximum of one year, or until he/she 

reaches maximum medical improvement, or until he/she is able to return to regular status, 

whichever occurs first.  A firefighter's medical condition will be reviewed at least 

quarterly (more frequently if necessary) to determine if the firefighter is still unable to 1355 

return to firefighter duties. 

 

g. The hours worked on light duty will be turned into the City's workers’ compensation 

claims manager weekly in order that the workers’ compensation benefit may be re-

calculated.  This will have no effect on the firefighter's regular wages from the City, as 1360 

the firefighter will endorse the  workers’ compensation check over to the City as is 

current practice. 

 

h. No firefighter will be required to perform light duty activities that are not within the 

employee's work capacity.  If the employee and the Fire Chief are unable to reach 1365 

agreement as to the employee's capacity to perform any light duty job, the Chief or his 

designee will submit a written light duty job description to the department designated 

physician for his/her determination that the proposed duties are within the employee's 

work capacity. 

 1370 

I.  Light duty assignments may be filled by the firefighter who is unable to perform 

regular duty as a result of an off-the-job illness or injury as long as the following 

conditions are met: 

 

                  i.  Participation is on a voluntary basis; 1375 

 

ii.  The firefighter has exhausted his accrued sick leave; 

  

iii.  There is a light duty position available.  Light duty positions will be filled first by 

firefighters who are unable to return to regular duty as a result of an on-the-job illness 1380 

or injury. 

 

iv  The firefighter may be in light duty capacity for a maximum of three months, or 

until he/she reaches maximum medical improvement, or until he/she is able to return 

to regular duty, whichever is soonest. 1385 

 

v. Firefighters on light duty due to an off-the-job illness or injury will 

 work the administrative work schedule (8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m. M-F). 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

39 

 

 

 

vi.  Firefighters on light duty due to an off-the-job illness or injury will receive 1390 

payment only for those hours actually worked. 

 

j.  The department will develop a list of light duty activities for the firefighter.  It will be 

management's right as to which activity is filled by which firefighter.  It shall be the 

responsibility of the Fire Chief or his designee to match the work capacity skills and 1395 

abilities of the firefighter with the light duty activities available at the time of the injury. 

 

Section  9 - Damage to Glasses and Teeth  

 

 The City shall pay all expenses incurred by a firefighter for loss or damage of eyeglasses, 1400 

false teeth, and hearing aids while on an emergency call.  This benefit shall not diminish any 

benefits available under the Workers' Compensation Act. 

 

Section  10 - Department Physician          

 1405 

 The City of Auburn may retain a department designated physician to be the primary 

contact for all work related injuries, to oversee the Respiratory Fitness Program and for other 

situations when in the judgment of the Fire Chief, medical consultation regarding a firefighter's 

fitness for duty is needed.   

 1410 

In recognition of the essential job functions, which require the firefighter to be in good 

physical condition, the City and the firefighter have mutual interest in the firefighter's overall 

health and well-being.  Firefighters are strongly encouraged to have regular exams on a schedule 

set forth by their primary care physician and to discuss with their primary care physician the 

physical demands of their profession.  The City offers a comprehensive health insurance 1415 

package, as well as an Employee Assistance Program and Wellness related programs, which 

defray the costs of annual medical exams and follow-up treatment. 

 

Section  11 - Substance Abuse Testing Program    

 1420 

 The City of Auburn and Local 797 will reach agreement on all sections of the Substance 

Abuse Testing Policy for firefighters before it is submitted to the Department of Labor for 

approval.  If the Substance Abuse Testing Policy is found not to be in compliance with state 

statutes, the City and the Union agree to reopen the contract for purposes of renegotiating only 

those specific sections of the Substance Abuse Testing Policy found not to be in compliance.  1425 

These sections will be resubmitted to the Department of Labor for approval. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

40 

 

 

 No substance abuse test will be administered until the Substance Abuse Testing Policy 

for firefighters (attached as an addendum to this contract) has been approved by the Department 

of Labor and all regulations pertaining to implementation have been met. 1430 

 

Section  12 - General Safety  

 

 The Health and Safety Team will continue to consider and make recommendations on 

safety issues.   1435 

 

 

 

 ARTICLE XVII - Separation from Department 

 1440 

Section 1 - Retirement 

 

 The members of the Auburn Fire Department participate in the Maine Public Employees   

Retirement System Consolidation Plan -- Special Plan II.  Effective 7/1/14, the City will 

implement MePERS Special Plan 3C (two-thirds pension at 25 years with no minimum age) for 1445 

those firefighters who have less than 25 years of service with the Department. Firefighters with 

25 years of service or more at the time of implementation of Special Plan 3C will not be eligible 

for Special Plan 3C. 

 

 The City will implement a In Service Retirement  Program for Firefighters who reach 25 1450 

years of service in the MePERS on 7/1/14 or later.  Participants in the In-Service Retirement 

Program will retire in order to draw his/her pension  and will remain employed for up to five 

additional years or upon reaching thirty (30) years of service as defined by MePERS. 

 At the completion of the Firefighter’s twenty fourth (24
th

) year as determined by 

MePERS, the Firefighter will declare his/her intention to participate in the In-Service Retirement 1455 

Program when eligible and will state his/her intentions to the Fire Chief or his/her designee. The 

Firefighter may opt into the In-Service Retirement Program at any time after attaining 25 years 

of service, however may participate in the plan until he/she reaches 30 years of total service. 

 

 Firefighters who do not opt into the In-Service Retirement will pay a 25% cost share 1460 

toward their health insurance upon attaining 25 years of service.  Firefighters  who do not opt 

into the In-Service Retirement Program and who waive health insurance coverage with the City 

of Auburn will receive a health insurance waiver payment based upon 4 months of health 

insurance waiver payments. This paragraph specifically pertains to those firefighters who have 

20 years of service or less as of 7/1/14.  1465 

  



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

41 

 

 

Any firefighter who has thirty (30) years or more of service effective 7/1/14 is not 

eligible for the In-Service Retirement  Program.   

 

The firefighter in the In-Service Retirement  Program will cash out all accrued time as 1470 

per this article.  During the five years that the firefighter works under the In-Service Retirement  

Program, the firefighter will accrue vacation and sick time, but will be entitled to cash-out only 

accrued but unused vacation leave. Firefighters who retire and participate in the In-Service  

Program who have more than 1440 hours of accrued sick leave at retirement will put the excess 

hours over 1440 into a “lapsed sick leave” account.  The use of the lapsed sick leave account is 1475 

for the sole purpose of covering the firefighter’s extended absences of more than 5 weeks and for 

conditions that would be covered by the City’s Family and Medical Leave policy. The lapsed 

sick leave account is for the firefighter’s own personal absence as a result of illness or accident 

and is not intended to be transferred to a sick bank for any other firefighter or City employee.   

 1480 

The City will share the savings generated from not making employer contributions to 

MePERS with the Firefighter on the In-Service Retirement Program on a 50/50 basis, with the 

savings for the firefighter to be paid to a supplemental retirement fund or a Retirement Health 

Savings Account.  

 1485 

Section 2 - Vacation Cashout  

 

 If a firefighter separates from the department with accrued and unused vacation hours, 

he/she will entitled to “cash out” the unused vacation hours according to the following 

parameters:   1490 

 

1.  Up to 288 hours. 

 

2.  Up to 480 hours if on OJI or extended sick leave. 

 1495 

 Upon separation, if the firefighter’s vacation bank is in the negative, the hours will be 

deducted from the firefighter’s last paycheck.  

 

For purposes of “cashing out” unused vacation time, each period/week of vacation time 

shall be calculated as being equivalent to forty-two hours at the firefighters regular rate of pay.  1500 

A vacation hour is equivalent to .875 pay hours (48 times .875 equals 42 hours at regular rate of 

pay. 

 

Section 3 – Cash out of Accrued Sick Leave   

 1505 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

42 

 

 

 One-half (1/2) of the accumulated sick leave, subject to a maximum of 720 hours, shall 

be paid the firefighter upon involuntary separation or retirement, resignation with ten (10) years 

or more of service with the City of Auburn.  In the event of a non-work related death of a 

firefighter, 50% of the accrued sick leave up to a maximum of 720 hours will be paid to the 

firefighter’s beneficiaries. In the event that a firefighter dies in the line of duty, 100% of the 1510 

firefighter's accumulated sick leave will be paid to the firefighter's beneficiary. The City's 

obligations in this regard shall be satisfied by payment, in the discretion of the Manager, to the 

deceased's estate, his/her administrator or executor, or his/her widow/widower or children, or 

other person(s) designated in writing by the deceased. 

 1515 

Section 4 - Compensatory Time  

 

Any accrued but unused compensatory time will be paid to the firefighter upon separation 

from the department. 

 1520 

 

Section 5 - Uniform Reimbursement  

 

 The balance in the uniform reimbursement account will be paid in cash in the event of the 

firefighter’s separation from service (retirement, resignation etc.).  Any cash payment from this 1525 

account will be taxed. All firefighters retiring or entering the DROP Program during the term of 

this contract shall receive the accrued balance of the clothing allowance. All others will have two 

(2) years (until June 30, 2016) to spend down the balance to meet the two year maximum 

balance.  

 1530 

 Upon termination of employment, the department member, except those whose 

employment date was prior to April 1, 1971, or after October 1, 1979, shall reimburse the City 

for that portion of the clothing allowance paid but not earned.  The earned portion of clothing 

allowance shall consist of the number of months in the final year of employment that a person 

has been on duty.  In this instance, "on duty" refers to separation date from the department. 1535 

 

Section 6 - Lay-offs 

 

 Lay-off – In the event it becomes necessary for the City to lay-off firefighters for any 

reason(s), the firefighters shall be laid off in the inverse order of seniority by rank.  Any officer 1540 

selected to be laid off may elect to accept a reduction in rank in which case the least senior 

member of the Department in the next lowest rank shall be laid off or reduced in rank if a lower 

rank is available.  Any officer electing to accept a reduction in rank in lieu of a proposed lay-off 

must be qualified as determined by the Fire Chief to assume the duties of the new position.  If 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

43 

 

 

there is a conflict between seniority during a lay-off and assignment of paramedics in accordance 1545 

to Section 2-5 EMT Assignments, Section 2-5 of the contract shall have precedence. 

 

 In the event the Department must make deep personnel cuts which result in lay-off of 

50% of the firefighters, the Fire Chief will have complete discretion as to who will be laid off as 

long as he/she can demonstrate the reasons for his/her selections.  Continuous time in the 1550 

Department will be given the utmost consideration when these selections are made. 

 

If possible, the City will provide a two-week notice to the firefighters affected by the lay-

offs. 

 1555 

 Recall – The firefighters who are laid off shall be placed on a recall list for a period of 

two  years.  Firefighters who are reduced in rank will be placed on a reinstatement list. If there is 

a recall, firefighters who are on the recall list shall be recalled or reinstated to their original rank 

in the inverse order of their lay-off or reduction in rank provided that they are presently qualified 

to perform the duties as determined by the Chief.  The firefighters will be required maintain all 1560 

certifications for the position and to take a pre-employment medical exam,  substance abuse test 

and physical agility test to determine if he/she is physically fit to perform the essential job 

functions of the job.  It is the responsibility of the firefighter to provide the Fire Department and 

the Human Resources Department with a current address and telephone number.  Notice of recall 

will be sent to the firefighter by certified mail.  The firefighter has ten (10) working days to 1565 

respond to the recall notice. 

 

 No new firefighters will be hired within this one-year period unless all the laid-off 

firefighters have been afforded the recall. 

 1570 

ARTICLE XVIII - Miscellaneous Provisions 

 

Section 1 - Uniform Reimbursement Policy  

 

The City will establish a reimbursable uniform account similar to the Wellness Account.  1575 

An amount equal to the following amounts will be credited to the firefighter on July 1
st
 of each 

year: 

         

   Probationary and Permanent Firefighter – $485.   

   Captain -- $510.00 1580 

   Battalion Chief -- $510.00 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

44 

 

 

 In addition to the above, the City will purchase full dress uniforms for those members of 

the department required to wear such uniforms at any time. The City will reimburse the 

firefighter $100.00 toward the purchase of a new uniform jacket on a one time basis only. 1585 

 

a. Procedures for submitting bills: The firefighter will purchase the uniforms as per the 

attached list and then submit the receipts to the AFD administrative office personnel.  The 

administrative personnel will forward the receipts to the Finance Department for 

reimbursement to the firefighter.  1590 

 

b. Accrual:  The entire uniform credit does not have to be drawn down completely each year.  

Effective 6/30/16, the Firefighter may carryover the value of one year’s uniform allowance 

from one fiscal year to next in order to purchase more expensive uniform items, but in no 

case may the firefighter’s balance in the uniform reimbursement account exceed two years of 1595 

allowance, except as specifically provided in Article XVII Separation from Department 

Section 5 Uniform Reimbursement. In April, the City will notify the firefighters of the 

current balance in the account on order that they may draw down the balance below the 

maximum two year allowance.   In this way, the firefighter may use the accrual from more 

than one year to make large infrequent uniform purchases such as structural firefighting 1600 

boots. The Labor Management Committee will monitor the usage of the uniform 

reimbursement account.  If it appears that firefighters are not drawing down the balance in 

the accounts over a two to three year period, then the Labor Management Committee will 

consider the implementation of caps on the maximum amount that can be carried over from 

one year to the following year (uniform accrual). 1605 

 

c. List of approved uniform items: The firefighter may submit receipts for reimbursement for 

uniform clothing as specified in the uniform policy in the AFD Employee Handbook.  Items 

purchased through the uniform reimbursement account must meet IRS regulations in order to 

be tax exempt.  This list is subject to change if the Department uniform policy changes. 1610 

 

Section 2 – Laundry Service 

 

 Effective 7/1/14 the City will discontinue contracted laundry service and firefighter will 

launder department bed linens, towels and uniforms at the stations.  Firefighters will receive 1615 

$100 per firefighter per year to be used toward the purchase of personal bed linens and towels 

and laundry cleaning supplies. The City will continue to provide and maintain a washer and 

dryer at each station. The Fire Chief through Labor/Management will establish policy on items to 

be purchased with this account and the method of purchasing these items. 

  1620 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

45 

 

 

Section 3 - Use of Telephones 

 

 Firefighters shall be permitted to have the use of one (1) telephone line at the Central Fire 

Station (plus one (1) extension), Engine 2 and Engine 5 for outside calls, provided that such calls 

shall be limited to a reasonable time.  As of January 1, 1982, the Association will be responsible 1625 

for long distance charges incurred on the private phone line at the Central Fire Station, Engine 2 

and Engine 5. 

 

Section 4 - Association Meetings  

 1630 

 The Auburn Firefighters Association shall be permitted to hold regularly scheduled 

meetings at the Central Fire Station but substation firefighters shall not be called in by the 

Association.  The Association shall also be permitted to hold four (4) meetings per year at the 

Central Fire Station at which all units shall be allowed to attend.  In addition to the above, the 

Association shall be granted the right to hold additional meetings at Central Station where such 1635 

are required solely for the purpose of submitting a proposed collective bargaining agreement to 

the membership for ratification and to include all units at such meetings.  The Chief shall be 

notified of any such special meetings in advance. 

 

Section 5 - Written Reprimands  1640 

 

 A written reprimand which has not previously been the subject of a hearing shall not be 

placed in a member's personnel file unless the member is first given the opportunity to see a copy 

of the reprimand.  Within five (5) days thereafter, the member may file a written reply.  If the 

Chief thereafter places the written reprimand in the member's personnel file, he/she shall also 1645 

include the reply.  Two years after the incident, a firefighter may submit a request to the Chief 

that single incidents be purged from his/her file, such request to be determined by a three 

member committee composed of:  The City Manager or designee, the Chief of the Fire 

Department, and the Association President or designee (who shall serve on the committee only at 

the request of the individual). 1650 

 

Section 6 - Indemnity  

 

 The City agrees to protect, save harmless, and indemnify a firefighter from and against all 

fines, penalties, loss, damage, cost and expense suffered or sustained by him/her or for which 1655 

he/she may be held or become liable by reason or injury, including death, to persons or property, 

or other causes whatsoever, in the event an attempt should be made to hold him/her liable 

therefore in connection with the performance of his/her duties as a firefighter, including, without 

limitation on the foregoing, the operation of Fire Department vehicles and apparatus. 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

46 

 

 

 1660 

Section 7 - Residence of Firefighters  

 

 Firefighters may live in any location.  The lack of a residency requirement may be re-

evaluated in terms of impact on the department. 

 1665 

Section 8 - Jury Duty and Court Appearances  

 

 Requirements of jury duty for firefighters shall be as outlined in the Administrative 

Manual of the City of Auburn, however, if the firefighter is excused by the court for any reason, 

he/she shall be required to return promptly thereafter unless the time of release is less than one 1670 

hour of the time the firefighter tour of duty is scheduled to end. 

 

 Fire Department personnel covered by this Agreement required to make an off-duty 

attendance at court for purposes directly related to their work as Auburn Firefighters shall 

receive a minimum of three (3) hours pay at his/her regular base hourly rate for each such 1675 

attendance or time and one-half (1 1/2) his/her regular base hourly rate for all hours in 

attendance, whichever is greater.  Any compensation (from other than the City) received by 

firefighters for attendance at any court or official hearing while on duty or if called while off-

duty for a work related matter shall be paid to the City. 

 1680 

ARTICLE XIX - Fire Prevention Officer  

 

NFPA Standards and Rules as it applies to inspections, reference, enforcement, and 

review as it pertains to plans review, building, construction and code enforcement may be 

conducted by planning/code enforcement staff.  1685 

 

The Fire Prevention Officer will be paid according to the attached wage schedule.  The 

Fire Prevention Officer's evaluation will be conducted on his/her anniversary date of hire.  

 

The Fire Prevention Officer will be entitled to the same tuition and books reimbursement 1690 

as provided to other firefighters.  

  

The Fire Prevention Officer will work the administrative work schedule -- 8:00 a.m. to 

4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday.  

 1695 

Flextime –  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

47 

 

 

The purpose of flex time is to allow some flexibility in the FPO’s work schedule so that 

he/she can more effectively meet the demands of his/her job that occur outside normal business 

hours.  1700 

 

Flextime will not be awarded on a strict hour for hour basis; rather, the AC and the FPO 

will meet after the event to determine how much flextime is appropriate. 

 

The FPO will make every attempt to submit a verbal request for flextime off to the AC as 1705 

soon as possible so that administration can plan for the absence of the FPO. 

 

Overtime – 

 

Overtime will be paid to the FPO at the rate of 1 and ½ times his/her normal rate of pay.  1710 

A minimum of 3 hours of overtime will be paid when he/she is called before 7:00 am or after 

4:30 pm on a normal working day, or for fire investigations occurring anytime during normally 

scheduled off duty time.  The FPO will be compensated at the OT rate only for actual hours 

worked on all other call back situations.  

 1715 

Overtime will be paid in the event that the Police Department, Chief, Deputy Chief, or an 

Acting/Battalion Chief requests that the FPO attend an emergency event outside his normal work 

schedule. 

Upon receiving such a request, the FPO will make every attempt to contact the requestor and 

either resolve the issue over the phone or confirm that it is a situation that requires his 1720 

attendance. 

 

A brief written explanatory report will be submitted to the AC Deputy Chief along with a 

request for overtime payment.  Upon approval, this will be forwarded to the Office Manager for 

payroll processing. 1725 

 

Should the situation in fact turn out not to warrant the presence of the FPO, this will be 

included in a brief report specified in #4 and appropriate action will be taken to educate the 

person who made the errant request.  

 1730 

Overtime pay will not be withheld from the FPO in the event of an unnecessary request 

so long as the FPO complies with item 3. 

 

The Fire Prevention Officer will receive the following holidays off with no additional 

compensation:  1735 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

48 

 

 

 

  1. New Year's Day  7.   Columbus Day 

  2. Washington's Birthday 8.   Veteran's Day 

  3. Patriot's Day   9.   Thanksgiving Day and the day after  

  4. Memorial Day   10.  Christmas Day 1740 

  5. Independence Day  11.  Martin Luther King Day 

  6. Labor Day       12.  Any one time national holiday  

 mandated by the President and    

 observed by other Auburn City 

 Departments  1745 

 

He/she will receive one personal day per contract year. 

 

 Vacation accrual for the Fire Prevention Officer will be as follows:  One day per month; 

15 days per year after completion of the fifth year of employment; 20 days per year after 1750 

completion of the 12th year of employment. The Fire Prevention Officer may accumulate, up to 

a maximum of 30 days. 

 

 The Fire Prevention Officer will accumulate one sick day (7.5 hours) per month up to a 

maximum of 150 days.   The Fire Prevention Officer may cash out one half of accumulated sick 1755 

leave up to a maximum of 75 days conditional upon him/her having 10 or more years of 

employment with the City of Auburn.  

 

 The Fire Prevention Officer may also take Wellness Days, if earned through the City's 

Wellness Program.  He must schedule Wellness Days off through the Deputy Fire Chief. 1760 

 

 The Fire Prevention Officer will annually be credited with $385 in the uniform 

reimbursement account. 

  

ARTICLE XX - Duration of the Contract 1765 

 

 This agreement shall be effective upon execution and shall continue in force and in effect 

from July  1, 2013 until June 30, 2016.   The provisions hereof shall remain in effect after that 

termination date if the parties are engaged in collective bargaining, mediation, fact-finding, or 

interest arbitration pursuant to the Maine Public Employees Labor Relations Act, or legal action 1770 

relating thereto.  No interest arbitration decision shall be given retroactive effect unless it is 

determined by reference to the facts and circumstances surrounding the negotiation that 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

49 

 

 

retroactive application would be just.  In that case, the decision shall be made retroactive to the 

extent State law gives the arbitrator the power to make it so. 

 1775 

ARTICLE XXI - Inconsistent Rules, Regulations and Ordinances 

 

 The City may adopt such rules, regulations, ordinances, or charter provisions as it deems 

necessary for the operation of the Fire Department and the conduct of its employees, provided 

such rules do not conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement.  Any disagreements 1780 

between the City and the Association as to whether or not a particular rule, regulation, ordinance 

conflicts with this Agreement shall be resolved by the arbitration procedure as outlined in Article 

XII of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

 

 To the extent any rule, regulation, or ordinance is found to be inconsistent with this 1785 

Collective Bargaining Agreement, this Collective Bargaining Agreement shall prevail to the 

extent of the inconsistency. 

    

The President of the Association shall receive a copy of all departmental orders and 

notices and copies of proposed changes in the Administration Manual. 1790 

 

 

 

ARTICLE XXII - Active Agreement 

 1795 

The contract may be changed during the term of this agreement when (1) the members of 

the Labor Management Committee have reached consensus and agreed to discuss any particular 

change(s) in the contract; and (2) the Union and the City Council have voted to make the change 

that was discussed and is being proposed by the Labor Management Committee. 

 1800 

 

ARTICLE XXIII - Savings Clause 

 

If any provision of this agreement, or the application of such provision, should be 

rendered or declared invalid by any court action or by reason of any existing or subsequently 1805 

enacted legislation, the remaining parts or portions of this Agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect.  

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

50 

 

 

 1810 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Auburn   has caused its corporate seal to be affixed to 

this instrument, and has caused this instrument to be signed for it and in the name of its 

appropriate municipal authorities and by its duly authorized officials as set forth below, and 

Auburn Firefighters Association, Local No. 797, of the International Association of Firefighters, 

A.F.L.-C.I.O. has caused this instrument to be signed by its President, thereunto duly authorized, 1815 

on the date first above mentioned. 

 

 

Witnesses:     City of Auburn 

 1820 

 

_______________________________  By: _______________________________ 

           

       Clint Deschene    

       Its City Manager 1825 

 

       

Auburn Firefighters Association, Local  

797 of the International Association of  

      Firefighters A.F.L.-C.I.O. 1830 

 

 

______________________________  By: ______________________________ 

 

       Michael Scott 1835 

       Its President 

 

 

 

1840 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

51 

 

 

Appendix A - Health Promotion Program 

 

The program seeks voluntary participation in a health promotion and health care 

management system which focuses primarily on prevention activities.  The goals include: 

 1845 

 To improve the health of each employee, their spouse, and dependents through a 

personal risk assessment, continual education, and personal wellness plans;  

 By employees being actively involved in their overall healthcare and by focusing on 

prevention, the use of higher cost medical services may decline which will result in long 

term savings in health insurance premiums;  1850 

 To reward employees and their dependents for healthy behavior. 

 

Health Risk Analysis and Education 

 

The first major part of the program is an individual health risk analysis which will be 1855 

available for each employee who desires one.  This service may be provided by a health care 

provider that will be under contract with the City to provide these services or by the employee’s 

primary care physician. If the employee opts to use his/her primary care physician, the result of 

the health risk analysis will be provided to the City’s contracted health promotion provider.  The 

health risk analysis will include but not be limited to high blood pressure, elevated cholesterol, 1860 

diabetes screening, smoking, and proper body weight. The aggregate results of the analysis for 

all City employees will be available to the City.  However, consistent with federal law, the City 

will not have access to individual’s health risk analysis. 

 

A health care educator will be assigned and responsible to work with each and every 1865 

member that signs up for the program (dependents are not required, but are encouraged to 

participate in the program).  These educators will work to establish the base line for health risk 

factors for each member.  Once established, the educators will work with the member to provide 

wellness goals and benchmarks.  Educational material and motivation will be a core part of the 

program. 1870 

 

After the initial consultation, each member will receive at least one additional face-to-

face meeting annually.  Such meetings will be primarily designed to be on the job site for the 

employees and in a private setting.  Depending on the results of the health risk analysis and the 

goals of the member, additional meetings will be scheduled.  Should a face-to-face consultation 1875 

not be practical, phone and email may be acceptable alternatives. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

52 

 

 

The City, after consultation with the Health Care Provider and the City Wellness Team, 

will, at a minimum, provide monthly health related programs and topics that relate to the 

challenges that are facing the members.  The City will continue to seek creative and meaningful 1880 

ways to reward and recognize employees making progress in obtaining their individual health 

care goals. 

 

Health Care Advisory Team 

 1885 

The City’s Wellness Team will meet regularly to assist in recommending health related 

programs, adjustments to the percentage distribution and any wellness issues or concerns that 

may arise.  There will be at least one fire fighter on the team. Though the Team may recommend 

changes or adjustments to the program, the City will make the final determination to either 

accept or reject such recommendations.  Lastly, since communications is such an integral part of 1890 

any successful program, the Team will serve as an information conduit to City employees to 

assist in keeping them apprised of ongoing health care issues. 

 

Health Care Management Proposal 

 1895 

Except as stated in Article XVII Section 1 Separation From Department, the insurance 

proposal is as follows:  Employees’ portion of health insurance premium increases from 15% to 

25%, effective July 1, 2006.  Alternatively, an employee may participate in the Health Promotion 

Program and make his/her intentions known to participate by July 1, 2006.   The program’s 

implementation date is July 1, 2006.  During the first year of the program (7/1/06 to 6/30/07), 1900 

employees need only agree to participate in the program to obtain the 10% health insurance 

premium savings.  After July 1, 2007, employees are expected to meet the specific goals by 

utilizing their ‘best efforts’ as established by the Health Care Educators to obtain the full 10% 

savings. 

 1905 

The components of the 10% health insurance premium savings is as follows: 

 

 3% savings when the employee agrees to participate in a Health Risk Assessment, a 

physical examination by personal physician including the prescribed lab/x-rays; 

 3% savings when the employee agrees to participate in an exercise program agreed to by 1910 

the Health Care Educator in conjunction with the employee’s physician; 

 2% savings for nonsmokers and those who quit smoking; 

 2% savings for participation in a weight management program. 

The total adjustment to the employee’s health insurance cost share will not exceed 10%. 

 1915 

Health Promotion Program and Health Insurance Cost Share 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

53 

 

 

 

The employee cost share for firefighters who do not participate in the Health Promotion 

Program will be 25%.   Employees who are participating in the Health Promotion Program are 

expected to meet the specific goals by utilizing their ‘best efforts’.  The program has two goals:  1920 

First, to improve the health of each employee through risk assessment and education; second, to 

reduce the long-term cost of health insurance for each employee and the City.  The use of credits 

is not intended by the City to be a primary source of savings, but as an instrument to make the 

program important and meaningful.  As such, an employee who makes a ‘best effort’ but falls 

short of fully meeting their goals will not be penalized, providing, however, that the following 1925 

three criteria are met: 

 

a. the employee has participated in the Health Risk Assessment; 

b. has made reasonable progress and improvement since the last measurement; 

c. has been recommended by their health care provider/educator as having made their ‘best 1930 

effort’. 

 

The City will meet and discuss with the Union in all cases it deems an employee to not 

have met this standard.  Each case shall be decided on an individual basis and shall not be used 

as a reference in any way for any other employee. 1935 

 

 At all time, the employee Primary Care Physician (PCP) shall be responsible for 

establishing and /or modifying appropriate goals.  The Health Care Educator shall be 

responsible, in consultation with the employee’s PCP, to determine the appropriate activities to 

meet such goals and to determine whether or not the employee has made a ‘best effort’.  In the 1940 

event of a conflict between the PCP and the Health Care Educator, the employee’s PCP shall 

have final say in re-determining and/or modifying previously established goals. 

 

Medical Spending Account 

 1945 

The City will provide funding for a Medical Spending Account for each firefighter which can be 

used for office visit co-payments, lab work, diagnostic testing, and prescriptions, etc. Effective 

7/1/14, the City will contribute $650 to the Medical Spending Account.  In addition the 

employee may increase the funds in the Medical Spending account by making additional 

contributions through payroll deductions or may add 48 hours of accrued time (sick leave or 1950 

vacation) to the Medical Spending Account. 

 

 

 

 1955 



CITY OF AUBURN 
Auburn Firef ighters  Associat ion  

Local  No.  797  
 

AFD CBA 7/1/13 to 6/30/16  

54 

 

 

 

Wage Schedule 

 

 Please see the attached Fire Fighter and Fire Prevention Officer Wage Schedules dated 

July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2016.  1960 

 

























Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 10-01212014 

 
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City Manager to execute the Collective Bargaining 

Agreement with I.A.F.F. (International Association of Firefighters) Local 797 for January 1, 2013 through June 

30, 2013. 

 

BE IT FURTHER ORDERED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City Manager to execute the 

Collective Bargaining Agreement with I.A.F.F. (International Association of Firefighters) Local 797 for July 1, 

2013 through June 30, 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	0  Agenda 01-21-2014
	1  Workshop Info Sheet Passenger Rail 1-20-14
	1a  Memo Comp Plan Amendment
	1b  CCouncil Resolve 03-05202013
	1c  2010 CompPlan PassRail
	1d  Downeaster Article
	2  Workshop Info Sheet Land sale 325 Turner  143 Hampshire and 61 Webster Streets FINAL
	2a  Land Sale 61 Webster 325 Turner 143 Hampshire 2014 FINAL
	3  Workshop Info Sheet Solid Waste
	3a  Waste  Recycle Options Analysis Recommendation final
	3b  Recommendation final for Council
	4  Workshop Info Sheet Ordinance Repeal
	4a  Capital Program - Charter Sec. 8.9 and 8.10
	4b  Capital Program Ordinance Sec 2-514
	5  Minutes 1-13-2014
	5a  Mgr Report Revenue Sharing Impact
	5b  Resolve 03-05132013 Opposition to the Gov Budget
	6  Final December 2013 Finance Rpt
	BS
	rev
	exp
	inv summary
	Arena Monthly Report- December 2013.pdf
	Balance Sheet
	Income Statement


	7  Agenda Info Sheet Lotus Restaurant
	7a  Lotus Restaurant Food Service
	7b  Lotus Restaurant Liquor License
	7c  Liquor License - New - Public Hearing Notice Lotus Restaurant
	7d  Order Lotus Rest Liquor Lic
	8  agenda info sheet audit services extension
	8a  Audit extension letter
	8b  audit extension quote
	8c  Order audit services extension
	9  Agenda Info Sheet Joint Charter Commissioners
	9a  Joint Charter Commission info from 30-A
	9b  Timeline - Merger process Lewiston-Auburn
	9c  Order Election of Joint Charter Commission Members
	10  Agenda Info Sheet Establish CC
	10a  Charter Commission docs
	10b  Order Establishment of a Charter Commission
	11  Agenda Info Sheet CC Question
	11b  Order Charter Commission Referendum Setting the date
	12  Agenda Info Sheet CC Elect Members
	12b  Order Election of Charter Commission Members
	13  Agenda Info Sheet - IAFF Local 797 CBA's
	13a  Firefighter CBA 101012 - 1-1-13 to 6-31-13
	13b  Firefighter CBA  7-1-13 to 6-30-16 final formatted
	13c  Firefighter Wage Schedule
	13d  Order 10-01212014  I A F F  Local 797 1-1-13 to 6-30-13

